Public Document Pack

Cheshire E@,

Council%

Cabinet
Agenda

Date: Tuesday, 8th September, 2020
Time: 1.00 pm
Venue: Virtual Meeting

For anybody wishing to view the meeting please click on the link below:

Join live event

Or dial in via telephone: 141 020 3321 5200 and input Conference ID:
564 707 460# when prompted.

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. Part
2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons indicated on
the agenda and in the report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision-making meetings are
audio recorded and the recordings are uploaded to the Council’s website.

PART 1 - MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT
1. Apologies for Absence
2. Declarations of Interest

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

Please contact Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01270 686472

E-Mail: paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk



mailto:paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ODVkNjk3YzUtYjAzOS00Yzc2LWJjOWQtOWQzMmIxYzg2NWNj%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22cdb92d10-23cb-4ac1-a9b3-34f4faaa2851%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2249bf5573-de6d-454a-8998-9f1d9ab68cd6%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d
tel:+44%2020%203321%205200,,967614266#

Public Speaking Time/Open Session - Virtual Meetings

In accordance with paragraph 3.33 of the Cabinet Procedure Rules, a period of 10
minutes is allocated for members of the public to address the meeting on any matter
relevant to the work of the Cabinet. Individual members of the public may speak for
up to two minutes. The Chairman or person presiding will have discretion to vary this
requirement where he/she considers it appropriate.

Members of the public wishing to ask a question or make a statement at the meeting
should provide at least three clear working days’ notice in writing and should include
the question with that notice. This will enable an informed answer to be given.

Questions to Cabinet Members - Virtual Meetings

A period of 20 minutes is allocated for questions to be put to Cabinet Members by
members of the Council. A maximum period of two minutes will be allowed for each
member wishing to ask a question. The Leader will have discretion to vary this
requirement where he considers it appropriate. Members wishing to ask a question at
the meeting should register to do so in writing by not later than 4.00 pm on the Friday
in the week preceding the meeting. Members should include the general topic their
question will relate to and indicate if it relates to an item on the agenda. Questions
must relate to the powers, duties or responsibilities of the Cabinet. Questions put to
Cabinet Members must relate to their portfolio responsibilities.

Where a question relates to a matter which appears on the agenda, the Leader may
allow the question to be asked at the beginning of consideration of that item.

Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 16)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 7t July 2020.

Covid-19 - Update on Response and Recovery (Pages 17 - 50)

To consider a further update on the work that has been undertaken in response to the
pandemic and on the work being undertaken to support the recovery from the

pandemic.

Brooks Lane (Middlewich) Development Framework Supplementary Planning
Document (Pages 51 - 162)

To consider a report which seeks approval to adopt the Brooks Lane (Middlewich)
Development Framework as a Supplementary Planning Document.

Digital Cheshire (Pages 163 - 180)

To consider a report on a three-year programme of activity to enhance access to
digital technology in Cheshire.

Regional Adoption Agency - Adoption Counts (Pages 181 - 188)

To consider a report which seeks approval to enter into an arrangement with the
Regional Adoption Agency, Adoption Counts.



10.

11.

12.

13.

Proposed Expansion of Wilmslow High School - Authority to Enter into a
Construction Contract (Pages 189 - 198)

To consider a report which seeks approval to enter into a construction contract for
works at Wilmslow High School.

Microsoft Licence Agreements (Pages 199 - 210)
To consider a report which proposes that the Council’s agreements for Microsoft
Licences be aligned where appropriate and that a single contract be awarded to a

Microsoft Licence Reseller.

Capital, Investment and Treasury Management Strategies Annual Review
2019/20 (Pages 211 - 258)

To consider a review of the Capital, Investment and Treasury Management Strategies
for the 2019/20 financial year.

Schedule of Urgent Decisions taken on behalf of Cabinet and Council (Pages
259 - 262)

Details of urgent decisions taken, for information.

THERE ARE NO PART 2 ITEMS

Membership: Councillors C Browne (Vice-Chairman), S Corcoran (Chairman), L Crane,
K Flavell, T Fox, L Jeuda, N Mannion, J Rhodes, A Stott and M Warren



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 5 Agenda Item 5

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a virtual meeting of the Cabinet
held on Tuesday, 7th July, 2020

PRESENT

Councillor S Corcoran (Chairman)
Councillor C Browne (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors L Crane, K Flavell, T Fox, L Jeuda, N Mannion, J Rhodes and
A Stott

Councillors in attendance

Councillors S Akers Smith, R Bailey, M Beanland, M Benson, D Brown,

J Buckley, C Bulman, R Burkhill, J Clowes, T Dean, H Faddes,

J P Findlow, R Fletcher, L Gilbert, A Harewood, M Houston, D Marren,

A Moran, J Parry, B Puddicombe, J Saunders, M Simon, J Smith, D Stockton,
L Wardlaw, J Weatherill, P Williams and N Wylie

Officers in Attendance

Lorraine O’'Donnell, Chief Executive

Frank Jordan, Executive Director Place

Mark Palethorpe, Executive Director People

Jane Burns, Executive Director Corporate Services

Jan Bakewell, Director of Governance and Compliance
Alex Thompson, Director of Finance and Customer Services
Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer
Brian Reed, Head of Democratic Services and Governance

Apologies
Councillor M Warren

The Leader was proud to announce that Cheshire East Council had one of the
strongest records of maintaining its public meetings during the current public
health emergency. He was grateful to members for their willingness to adapt
to remote meetings and he placed on record his thanks to officers for the
extensive support and planning that had been involved.

The Leader announced that Jan Bakewell, Director of Governance and
Compliance and the Council’s Monitoring Officer, would be leaving the Council
at the end of July. He thanked Jan for her work at Cheshire East Council. Jan
in turn thanked members and officers for their support during her time at
Cheshire East.

The Leader announced the following appointments to ASDV directorships,
which he had made, in consultation with the Deputy Leader, in accordance
with the authority delegated to him by Cabinet on 11t June 2019:

= Councillor Q Abel had been appointed to the Board of Tatton Park



11

12

13

Page 6

Enterprises.

= Councillor Q Abel had been appointed a Director of Transport Service
Solutions.

= Councillor M Hunter had moved from Transport Service Solutions to
become a Director of Ansa.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION - VIRTUAL MEETINGS

Matthias Bunte of Cycling UK Sandbach referred to the Council’s decision
to review the downgrade of a proposed toucan crossing to a pedestrian
refuge on the Middlewich Road at School Lane/Vicarage Lane in
Sandbach and asked that the review consider the needs of pedestrians,
cyclists, users of mobility scooters and wheelchairs, as well as drivers.

The Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste thanked Mr Bunte for his
question, noting the considerable amount of background information that
had been provided to accompany the question. This had been shared with
officers, so that it could inform their approach to the issue. The review
would establish the details of crossing facilities to be implemented at the
location.

Sue Helliwell referred to an application for a housing development in
Alsager, ref. 11/4109, which provided that £93,050 of S106 money would
go towards footpath FP26, which stopped at the bridge and did not
continue down the steps towards Alsager Train Station. She asked if the
Council would confirm that it would be adopting the rest of the footpath,
which had been used by residents for a good number of years.

The Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste responded that the Council
was in discussion with Network Rail regarding the status of the footpath.
The Public Rights of Way team were aware of the S106 funds that

would become available when the trigger point for the development in
question was met and would be working up a scheme to improve the
footpaths in that area. The team would be pleased to discuss the
proposals with Mrs Helliwell.

QUESTIONS TO CABINET MEMBERS - VIRTUAL MEETINGS

Councillor R Bailey referred to the Council’s active travel scheme and
asked for confirmation that Audlem Parish Council, as one of the first to
respond to the consultation, was being considered for active travel
interventions. She also sought clarification on the timetable for the
measures to be introduced, having regard to the school holiday period.



Page 7

The Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste responded that numerous
town and parish councils had submitted recommendations in response to
the Council’s consultation and that the first tranche of measures would be
released by the end of the month. Further information would be available
shortly.

Councillor M Beanland asked for a detailed explanation of the figure of
£70M quoted as the additional expenditure incurred by the Council in
relation to the Covid pandemic.

The Portfolio Holder for Finance, IT and Communication responded that
overview and scrutiny committees, and the shadow cabinet, had received
regular briefings on the matter and that the Council was working well given
the uncertainty involved and a lack of clarity on government funding. The
Leader added that schools were to return from September and that the
need for social distancing would have a significant impact on the cost of
school transport. He also suggested that the returns submitted by local
councils to the government on Covid-related expenditure should be made
public.

Councillor J Buckley asked why 114 businesses had not been successful
in their applications for business rate support grant.

The Portfolio Holder for Environment and Regeneration replied that the
businesses in question fell outside the eligibility criteria under phase 1 of
the scheme. Those businesses would be carried forward to phase 2 for
review without their having to re-apply.

Councillor J Clowes referred to the recommendations of the Council’s
overview and scrutiny committees and the Audit and Governance
Committee that a sub-group of the Corporate Scrutiny and Audit
Committees be established to examine Council finances during the Covid-
19 crisis in order to provide a sound evidence-base for the effective
lobbying of Central Government. Councillor Clowes commented that the
Council had not acted on the recommendations. She asked that her
comments be minuted in full to place on record that Members had sought
to fulfil their audit and scrutiny functions in the matter but had been denied
the opportunity to do so.

The Leader responded that the meeting was being recorded and therefore
all questions were on the record. At the Leader’s invitation, the Chief
Executive referred to a request she had received from Councillor Clowes
for an additional body to be set up to review Covid-related expenditure.
The Chief Executive had reluctantly declined the request in view of the
significant pressures officers were already facing at this time. She had also
suggested alternative routes for providing information to help inform the
Covid-related reports coming to Cabinet.

Councillor L Gilbert asked why the police could not be provided with
copies of the traffic regulation orders for 129 locations across the Borough.



Page 8

He also referred to the Government’s proposal to relax some planning
controls and asked if the Council had considered the implications of this
and had made representations to the Government.

With regard to the question on traffic regulation orders, the Portfolio Holder
for Highways and Waste undertook to provide a written response. The
Deputy Leader added that many of the orders had been served under
predecessor authorities and were held in archives that were either
unknown to or unavailable to the Council.

With regard to the question on planning controls, the Portfolio Holder for
Planning replied that further details were awaited and the Council was
monitoring the situation closely.

Councillor J Saunders referred to an additional £10M of Covid-related
expenditure ostensibly to cover the cost of providing home to school
transport. She asked for details of the original budget for home to school
transport and an explanation for the increase in costs.

The Portfolio Holder for Children and Families responded that this was a
projection and that the Council was undertaking parental surveys to
establish the likely demand for the service. There was also work underway
to try to mitigate some of the costs. She undertook to provide a more
detailed response.

Councillor M Simon asked if the Council’s policy on not allowing mirrors to
be placed on the highway could be reviewed and for each request for a
mirror to be considered on its merits.

The Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste responded that the Council
was reviewing all of its highways policies and that she would give
Councillor Simon an update when a firm date had been established.

Councillor D Stockton commented that it appeared that the Handforth
Garden Village now had a larger footprint than was previously the case.
He asked if the Council was proposing a reduction in the public open
space to support the further provision of homes and, if so, what the effect
would be on local infrastructure and whether there were plans to put this in
place before development.

The Portfolio Holder for Environment and Regeneration responded that
there were no proposals to use open space in the Council’s or any other
ownership to provide social or affordable housing. In addition, any housing
proposals relating to Council-owned land would have to go through the
usual planning process and were subject to the Local Plan.

Councillor P Williams referred to an unadopted path in the vicinity of the

level crossing on Sandbach Road South/Audley Road, Alsager which had
been used by residents following the recent closure of the crossing due to
an accident. Councillor Williams asked if it would be possible for Cheshire



Page 9

East to adopt and maintain the path and other pathways in that area to
bring about improvements. He also referred to a number of recent
notifications of significant planning applications in the Alsager area which
had been either not been delivered or been misdirected. He asked if in
future such notifications could be given by email as well as by post.

The Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste advised that members could
progress the adoption of footpaths through the Members Enquiry Service.

The Portfolio Holder for Planning advised that a weekly list of planning
applications was produced and that members should inspect this to ensure
that they were being notified of planning applications in their area for which
they should have received separate notification as a matter of course.

Councillor N Wylie referred to the return to school of Year 6 primary school
children with effect from 29" June and asked what percentage of children
had actually attended school. She also asked if the Council was providing
assistance to those unable to attend.

The Portfolio Holder for Children and Families responded that 2,364 Year
6 children had returned to school and the Council was offering assistance
where social distancing requirements had made this difficult for schools.
She undertook to provide further details in writing. The Leader added that
the Government’s rules currently prevented nearby buildings such as
church halls from being used by schools to alleviate the problem and he
urged members to make representations to the Government.

Councillor D Brown expressed disappointment that the Nantwich Show
had lost its cheese stand to Staffordshire. He asked what action had been
taken to try to prevent this loss of tourism in Cheshire and what further
action was now being considered.

The Portfolio Holder for Environment and Regeneration agreed that this
was disappointing and he undertook to provide a written response.

Councillor T Dean referred to the chaotic situation with Cheshire East
Council car parks in Knutsford and elsewhere as a result of the re-
introduction of charges. Many of the pay machines were not working.
Where machines were working, massive queues were forming due to the
slowness of the card payment system. Councillor Dean asked that the
charges be removed for a further period to help local businesses and to
give officers time to bring all the pay machines back into operation, if
possible with a cash payment option to prevent queues. Councillor Dean
did not wish to receive an answer at the meeting as he felt it required
careful thought.

Councillor D Marren commented that shoppers and shop owners in
Nantwich were unhappy with the banning of cash in car parking machines.
Many people did not have contactless cards for payment and others did
not understand how the machines worked. Fewer people were therefore



14

15

Page 10

visiting the town and this was damaging business income. Councillor
Marren asked if the equality impact assessment that accompanied the
decision to go cashless could be published. He also asked if the Council
would consider re-introducing cash payments as he felt that the cashless
policy was discriminatory.

The Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste responded that the equality
impact assessment did not find that any particular group was discriminated
against. Cash handling by staff had also been a consideration. However,
the situation was under constant review. The Deputy Leader added that
this was a policy that had been forced upon the Council by Covid and the
safety of staff handling cash had to be considered. The Council would
seek to rescind the policy when it was able to do so.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 9" June 2020 be approved as a
correct record.

COVID-19 - UPDATE ON RESPONSE AND RECOVERY

Cabinet considered an update on the work undertaken in response to the
current national and international public health emergency on COVID-19.
The report also provided an update on the projected financial impact on
the Council, the work undertaken to support communities and businesses
in the Borough and the plans the Council was developing to support
longer-term recovery from the pandemic.

RESOLVED
That Cabinet

1. notes the issues outlined in the report;

2. notes the financial implications of COVID-19 to date and the ongoing
lobbying to press for the Government to fund the total financial impact
of the pandemic on Cheshire East Council;

3. notes that a detailed report on the financial impact on the agreed
budget for 2020/21 will be presented to a forthcoming Cabinet meeting;
and

4. notes the content of the Outbreak Plan for Cheshire East that was
published on 30t June on the Council's website.



16

17

Page 11

NOTICE OF MOTION - PAVEMENT PARKING

Cabinet considered a report in response to the following Notice of Motion
which had been moved by Councillor S Akers Smith and seconded by
Councillor S Brookfield at the Council meeting on 17th October 2019 and
referred to Cabinet for consideration:

“This Council requests that Cabinet give consideration to
developing a Borough wide policy on pavement parking and a
separate Borough wide policy on pavement obstruction, which
should be sufficiently flexible to recognise the varied needs and
demands within different areas of the Borough. Council further calls
on the Cabinet to bring a draft policy on pavement parking to a
future meeting of Full Council for debate.”

Councillor Akers Smith spoke on the motion.
RESOLVED
That Cabinet

1. agrees that any new approach to restricting pavement parking in the
Borough be informed by the Department for Transport’s review of
current practice and the procedures for making and enforcing Traffic
Regulation Orders; and

2. agrees that Cheshire East Council respond to the forthcoming DfT
consultation with evidence, including that provided as background to
the Notice of Motion to Council, the details of the response to be
delegated to the Director of Highways and Infrastructure in consultation
with the Portfolio Holder for Highways Waste.

WILMSLOW AND CREWE WALKING AND CYCLING SCHEMES

Cabinet considered a report on the delivery of walking and cycling
schemes in Wilmslow and Crewe, details of which were set out in the
report.

RESOLVED
That Cabinet

1. approves the delivery of the A530 scheme in Crewe and the Wilmslow
Strategic Walking and Cycling Scheme through the Highway Service
Contract, subject to £1.6m of Local Growth Funding being received
from Cheshire and Warrington Enterprise Partnership and that
Ringway Jacobs’ target costs for the schemes satisfy the Council’s
best value requirements;



2.

Page 12

authorises the Director of Highways and Infrastructure, in consultation
with the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Strategic Transport and
the Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste, to take all necessary
actions to implement the two schemes; and

approves the preparation of a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) in
respect of land and/or rights required to deliver the A530 Scheme,
where such land and/or rights cannot be acquired by agreement; and
that in the event that a CPO is required, Cabinet authority to make the
Order be sought at that stage.

18 MIDDLEWICH EASTERN BYPASS - APPROVAL TO PROCEED WITH
THE USE OF CPO POWERS

Cabinet considered a report which sought approval to proceed with the
use of compulsory purchase powers in connection with the Middlewich
Eastern Bypass.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet

1.

confirms that the acquisition of the land identified on the Order Map
attached to the report is necessary for highway purposes;

. approves the draft Statement of Reasons and the draft Order Map both

substantially in the form annexed to the report for the purposes of the
Compulsory Purchase Order but delegates to the Director —
Infrastructure and Highways, in consultation with the Director of
Governance and Compliance, authority to modify them as necessary;

approves the draft SRO Plans substantially in the form annexed to the
report for the purposes of the Side Roads Order and delegates to the
Director — Infrastructure and Highways, in consultation with the Director
of Governance and Compliance, authority to modify them as
necessary;

. authorises the Director — Infrastructure and Highways, in consultation

with the Director of Governance and Compliance, to determine the
form and contents of the Schedules (“the Schedules”) necessary as
part of the CPO to identify the land contained within the Order Map;

authorises the Director of Governance and Compliance to make The
Cheshire East Council (Middlewich Eastern Bypass) Compulsory
Purchase Order 2020 (“the CPQO”) pursuant to Section(s) 239, 240,
246, 250 and 260 of the Highways Act 1980, Schedule 3 to the
Acquisition of Land Act 1981 and all other powers as appropriate for
the purpose of acquiring the land and interests shown on the Order
Map and described in the Schedules (or such lesser area of land
should this in his opinion be appropriate) to facilitate the construction of



10.

11.

12.

Page 13

the Scheme, and that the Common Seal of the Council be affixed to the
CPO and to the Order Map;

authorises the Director of Governance and Compliance to make The
Cheshire East Borough Council and Cheshire West and Chester
Borough Council (Middlewich Eastern Bypass) (Classified Road) (Side
Roads) Order 2020 (“the SRO”) under Sections 8, 14 and 125 of the
Highways Act 1980 and all other necessary powers to improve, stop up
existing highways, stop up and/or amend private means of access and
provide replacement private means of access, and construct lengths of
new highway as required to deliver the Scheme;

authorises the Director — Infrastructure and Highways, in consultation
with the Director of Governance and Compliance, to make any
amendments necessary to the contemplated CPO and/or SRO (“the
Orders”) arising as a result of further design work or negotiations with
landowners or affected parties or for any connected reasons in order to
enable delivery of the Scheme;

authorises the Director of Governance and Compliance to advertise the
making of the CPO and the SRO (“the Orders”) to comply with all
associated requirements in respect of personal, press and site notices,
and to take all other relevant action thereon to promote the
confirmation of the Orders;

agrees that in the event that no objections are received to the CPO, or
if any objections made are subsequently withdrawn, or the Director of
Governance and Compliance certifies that they may be legally
disregarded, the Director of Governance and Compliance be
authorised to obtain the appropriate Certificate under Section 14A of
the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 enabling the Council to confirm the
CPO as made;

agrees that in the event that relevant objections are received to the
Orders (or any of them) and are not withdrawn, or that modifications
are made to the Orders, the Director of Governance and Compliance
be authorised to submit the Orders to the Secretary of State with a
request that they be confirmed in the required form;

agrees that in the event that any Public Inquiry is convened to consider
objections to the Orders (or any of them), the Director — Infrastructure
and Highways be authorised, in consultation with the Director of
Governance and Compliance, to prepare and submit such evidence as
is necessary in support of the Orders, including enlisting the assistance
of outside consultants and Counsel to assist in the preparation and
presentation of such evidence;

agrees that as soon as the Orders (or any of them) have been
confirmed and become operative, the Director of Governance and
Compliance be authorised to comply with all associated requirements



Page 14

in respect of personal and press notices and to make and give notice of
a General Vesting Declaration under the Compulsory Purchase
(Vesting Declarations) Act 1981 and/or Notices to Treat and Notices of
Entry in respect of those properties to be acquired compulsorily;

13.authorises the Head of Estates to negotiate terms and to acquire land
and rights required for the Scheme by agreement and to instruct the
Director of Governance and Compliance to negotiate and enter into the
legal agreements necessary to complete such acquisitions including,
but not limited to, licences, transfers, easements, deeds of release,
land management agreements, settlement agreements and
agreements entered into pursuant to Section 253 of the Highways Act
1980 for the purpose of mitigating any adverse effect which the
construction, improvement, existence or use of the highway has or will
have on the surrounding of the highway;

14.authorises the Head of Estates to negotiate and approve the payment
of any compensation and any relevant and reasonable professional
fees incurred by landowners and others with compensateable interests
in taking professional advice in connection with the acquisition of their
interests required for the Scheme and to negotiate, approve and
document by way of settlement or other legal agreement payment of all
related compensation claims in advancing the development or
implementation of the Scheme, including the settlement of any claims
made pursuant to Part 1 of the Land Compensation Act 1973;

15.agrees that in the event that any question of compensation in respect
of such interests or rights is referred to the Upper Tribunal (Lands
Chamber) for determination, the Director of Governance and
Compliance be authorised to take all necessary steps in relation
thereto including settlement of such proceedings if appropriate,
advising on the appropriate uses and compensation payable and
issuing the appropriate certificates and appointing Counsel (where
required) to represent the Council in respect of any such reference;
and

16.authorises the Council to enter into an agreement with Cheshire West
and Chester Council pursuant to section 8 of the Highways Act 1980
facilitating the transfer of functions of Cheshire West and Chester
Council’s highway powers and duties in relation to that land which falls
within the administrative boundary of Cheshire West and Chester
Council and as is required for delivery of the Scheme.

19 APPROPRIATION FOR PLANNING PURPOSES OF LAND AT THE
GARDEN VILLAGE, HANDFORTH

Cabinet considered a report on the appropriation for planning purposes of
land at the Garden Village, Handforth.



20

Page 15

RESOLVED

That Cabinet

1.

authorises the advertising of the Council’s intention to appropriate for
planning purposes any part of the Open Space Land in accordance
with the requirements of section 122(2A) of the Local Government Act
1972;

authorises the Director of Growth and Enterprise to consider any
objections which may be received and to make a recommendation as
to whether or not appropriation of any part of the Open Space Land
should proceed;

subject to the proper consideration by the Director of Growth and
Enterprise of any objections received in response to the advertising of
the Open Space Land in 2 above, authorises the Council to proceed
with the appropriation of the Council Land pursuant to section 122(1) of
the Local Government Act 1972;

delegates authority to the Director of Growth and Enterprise, in
consultation with the Director of Governance and Compliance and the
Section 151 Officer, to negotiate and enter into agreements with third
parties in order to secure the modification or release of the Rights (and
the grant of new rights) which may otherwise be an impediment to the
development of the Garden Village; and

failing such agreements being reached, delegates authority to the
Director of Growth and Enterprise, in consultation with the Director of
Governance and Compliance and the Section 151 Officer, to deal with
the settlement of any claims for compensation made pursuant to
section 204 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 that may arise by
virtue of the operation of the overriding power contained in section 203
of that Act.

LEVEL ACCESS SHOWERS FRAMEWORK

Cabinet considered a report on the procurement of level access showers
on behalf of residents with disabilities.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet

1.

2.

approves the procurement and establishment of a Framework to
commission level access shower works on behalf of residents with
disabilities; and

delegates authority to the Executive Director Place, in consultation with
the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Regeneration, to award and



Page 16

enter into a Framework Agreement with a single supplier who meets
the procurement criteria and requirements of the Framework.

The meeting commenced at 1.00 pm and concluded at 3.39 pm

Councillor S Corcoran (Chairman)



Page 17 Agenda Item 6

<%
o)

.-z-.:;,\
Cheshire East )\
Council?

Working for a brighter futuret together

Key Decision: Y

Date First
Published: 31/07/20

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 8 September 2020
Report Title: Covid-19 — Update on Response and Recovery
Portfolio Holder: Clir Sam Corcoran - Leader of the Council

CliIr Craig Browne - Deputy Leader of the Council

Senior Officer: Lorraine O’'Donnell - Chief Executive

1. Report Summary

1.1. Cabinet have received reports in June and July on how the Council, working
with its partners, continues to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic.

1.2. This report provides a further update of the work that has been undertaken in
response to this national and international public health emergency.

1.3. In addition, this report provides a further update on the work being undertaken
to support the recovery from this pandemic.

1.4. Furthermore, the report provides a more detailed update on the financial impact
the pandemic has had on the council to date. The financial impact is significant
and represents additional expenditure and losses in income compared the
2020/21 Budget, which was balanced when set in February 2020.

1.5.  The report includes the government funding received to date in response to the
financial pressures faced by local authorities. This comprises both un-
ringfenced funding and funding provided for specific purposes.

1.6. The financial implications of COVID-19 are likely to affect the Council’s
Medium-Term Financial Strategy for several years. This report identifies
financial allocations of funding to date but also identifies possible mitigating
actions required to manage the future financial strategy.

OFFICIAL



2.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

Page 18

Recommendations

That Cabinet:
2.1.1. Notes the issues outlined in the report;

2.1.2. Notes the significant financial implications relating to COVID-19 as
detailed in Section 7 and Appendix 1; and

2.1.3. Continues to lobby to press the Government to fund the total financial
impact of the pandemic on Cheshire East Council.

Other Options Considered

Not applicable.

Background

As at 11 August 2020, over 200 countries/territories have been affected; there
were 20,075,600 confirmed cases globally; and 736,372 confirmed deaths.
(Source WHO)

In the UK, as at 11t August, there were 311,641 confirmed cases and 46,526
confirmed deaths. In Cheshire East there were 2284 confirmed cases and 430
registered deaths . (Source GOV.UK)

In terms of the daily confirmed case rate, this has increased. The contingency
plans that have been put in place across all public services including health and
social care have enabled essential services to be able to continue throughout
the period of this pandemic to date.

The latest international, national and local statistics are available from the
following data dashboards:

4.41. https://covid19.who.int/

4.4 2. hitps://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/

4.4 3. https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view/lga-research/covid-19-case
tracker

OFFICIAL


https://covid19.who.int/
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view/lga-research/covid-19-case%20tracker
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view/lga-research/covid-19-case%20tracker

5.

5.1.

5.2.

Page 19

Response

Sub-regional

5.1.1. The sub-regional response continues to be led by the Cheshire Local

Resilience Forum (LRF), which includes Cheshire East, Cheshire West
and Chester, Halton and Warrington Councils, Cheshire Constabulary,
Cheshire Fire and Rescue, Public Health England and the NHS.

5.1.2. The Council is a major LRF partner and has played a significant role at

all levels of response — participating in the strategic coordinating groups
(SCG) and tactical coordinating groups (TCG) and resourcing all the
multi-agency support cells established to manage the sub-regional
response to the pandemic.

Council Actions

5.2.1.

522

5.2.3

524

Cheshire East Council continues to respond to the Coronavirus
pandemic. Atthe same time the Council has continued to strive to:

e deliver essential local services
e protect our most vulnerable people
e support our communities and local businesses.

The response phase is still likely to continue for some time to come. In
addition, the Council is planning for potential second waves of the
pandemic and/or localised outbreaks. A summary of the actions that
have continued to be delivered by the Council is provided below.

Test and Trace and Outbreak Management — Cheshire East Council is
supporting the national approach to Test, Trace, Contain and Enable
through the creation of a Test and Trace hub within the council and
supporting a Cheshire and Merseyside hub with staff who have been
trained as call handlers. The Cheshire and Merseyside Test and Trace
hub and the Cheshire East Test and Trace Hubs are both working in a
shadow form as staff are recruited and trained. These hubs will be
responsible for the local elements of the Test and Trace programme
where cases and contacts are more complicated and local knowledge
is needed.

Locally the programme is supported by several boards. A Local Health

Protection Board provides technical advice. A Local Engagement
Board focusses on the role of our elected members and

OFFICIAL



5.2.5

5.2.6

5.2.7

5.2.8

5.2.9

5.2.10

5.2.11

Page 20

communications. This is overseen by the Cheshire East Health and
Wellbeing Board.

The Director of Public Health attends regular meetings with the other
Directors across the North West. This allows the lessons learned from
areas with higher levels of Covid-19 to be added into our planning and
response.

Rates of infection in Cheshire East Council have risen to 8.9 per
100,000 population for the last 7 days. These rates are still lower than
the England average and much lower than the areas in the North West
where enhanced lockdown measures have been put in place.

Recent small outbreaks are situated in care homes. These are being
identified as a result of the whole home tracing programme. These
cases have been symptom free and this means that we have been able
to identify them early and put in infection control measures to prevent a
larger outbreak. (An outbreak in a care home is where there are at least
2 cases who test positive regardless of whether or not they have
symptoms).

Contact tracing for known cases is robust; The local contact tracing
work being carried out by Public Health England and the Cheshire and
Merseyside contact tracing hub has successfully followed up 100% of
the cases that have been referred to it. For Cheshire East residents
followed up by the national NHS Test and Trace system 67% are
completed.

Our Public Health Intelligence team review information on cases and
contacts daily including mapping the cases and looking to identify any
patterns or trends that would allow us to take prompt and targetted
action. At least once a week the Intelligence team review the data with
specialists from Public Health England.

We continue to work with local authorites and PHE across Cheshire,
Merseyside and Staffordshire to share intelligence and good practice.

Communities - People Helping People is a service created by Cheshire
East Council which works collaboratively with new and existing
Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise (VCFSE) sector
partners and local volunteers to channel community-based support to
meet the needs of our residents. The service is delivered for the local
community, by the local community. To date the service has provided

OFFICIAL



5.2.12

5.2.13

5.2.14

5.2.15

Page 21

support to over 3600 residents with 1400 active cases still receiving
support. This service has been instrumental in reducing immediate
demands on public services so will continue during August and
September.

The government shielding service was paused on 31st July 2020.
Previously, residents of the borough identified as clinically vulnerable
were invited to register with the NHS central system and their support
needs were assessed then met by local (PHP) and central Government
(food parcel) resources. In line with Cheshire East’'s Outbreak
Prevention, Management and Support Plan, a contingency plan has
been developed to detail how the shielding response will be reinstated
in the event of a local, regional or national lockdown.

The reintroduction of shielding in a local area is a decision that must be
taken by ministers on advice of the Chief Medical Officer (CMO).
Similarly, the decision to end shielding also rests with minister’s advice
of the CMO. The shielding contingency plan outlines the preparations
underway for any future shielding periods, and how the response will
be reinstated if required. The Cheshire East Shielding Cell remains in
place and emergency food supplies are held at Macclesfield
Community Centre, with commitment from all logistical partners
ongoing.

The Communities Team are leading on the ‘high risk places, location
and communities’ and ‘vulnerable people’ workstreams of the Test,
Trace, Contain and Enable plan. Extensive mapping has taken place to
identify the locations/settings where communities gather, in addition to
categorising vulnerable residents into target groups, including clinically
vulnerable (shielded) and non-shielded vulnerable people (NSVP). The
information gathered informs the wider outbreak plan in addition to
identifying channels for proactive and reactive communications.

Cheshire East Council has worked alongside the Social Action
Partnership to mobilise various voluntary and statutory organisations to
become Volunteer Coordination Points (VCPs). The VCPs locally co-
ordinate residents who have volunteered their help and match them
with vulnerable people in their community. VCPs have formed local
networks to share best practice, volunteers and a range of resources.
Social Action Partnership are working with VCPs to develop their
infrastructure and provide support to sustain delivery of this mutual aid
approach.

OFFICIAL



5.2.16

5.2.17

5.2.18

5.2.19

Page 22

The Covid-19 Community Response and Recovery Fund was launched
at the end of June 2020 and has since provided funding to 21
successful applicants, totalling just over £68,000. The fund supports
VCFSE organisations to adapt to new ways of offering support to
communities, both during and following the coronavirus pandemic. In
addition, a further grant of nearly £330,000 nationally has been made
available from the MHCLG to support VCFSE sector groups who are
addressing Covid-related food poverty in their community. This
additional funding will build on the success of our community response
and recovery fund and will be available in the coming weeks.

Adult Social Care - The Commissioning Team have provided significant
support for the Adults Social Care Market during the Covid-19
pandemic to ensure market stability and the safe provision of care for
the residents of Cheshire East. This includes Care Homes, Care at
Home (Domiciliary Care), Complex Needs and Supported Living.
Continued actions are set out below.

Infection Prevention Control training, including the safe use and
removal of PPE, continues to be delivered to our Care Providers.
Commissioners have increased communications and support for our
Care Providers which includes the provision of regular briefings and
updates on the national guidance and developments with the national
PPE Portal; the facilitation of virtual mutual aid calls; regular support
calls from Contract Managers and Quality Assurance Officers; and
ongoing support from our Infection Prevention Control Team.

There has been a strong focus on support for Care Homes, and our
Care Home recovery planning includes the development of an
Outbreak Plan for each Care Home; supported by an Outbreak
Management Toolkit; Care Home visiting guidance; ongoing PPE
support in emergencies or when Providers experience difficulties with
their PPE supply chain; and Infection Prevention Control (IPC) recovery
visits to provide advice and support. Commissioners are also
undertaking scenario planning including localised outbreaks and also
the possibility of second wave in conjunction with winter planning such
as flu vaccinations. Commissioners have also a commissioned an
‘Emotional & Psychological Support’ service specifically for Care Home
Staff (Project 5) which is now underway. The aim of the service is to
support the mental health and wellbeing of the care workforce who have
worked on the frontline of Covid-19 for the past 6 months. Healthwatch
are also assisting the Council to look at emotional and physical impact
on residents and how we can improve outcomes.

OFFICIAL



5.2.20

5.2.21

5.2.22

Page 23

“Care Homes” is one of the seven mandated workstream areas for the
Test and Trace Programme within our Local Outbreak Plan. This
includes the Whole Home Testing Programme, which ensures the
testing of Care Home staff weekly and residents monthly, underpinned
by a Test and Trace standard operating procedure linked to Test and
Trace alerts within Care Homes.

PPE support has been key to our Covid-19 response and recovery. The
position changes rapidly but the current position at the time of writing is
as follows:

o The Local Authority have been supplied with PPE via the Local
Resilience Forum (LRF) and the Department for Health and Social
Care (DHSC) since the 24th March 2020. The Council have
distributed PPE to eligible organisations across Cheshire East.
We have been notified that this will now close at the end of August.

o All registered adult social care providers, opticians, pharmacists
and urgent dental care have now been requested to register on to
the government PPE Portal to continue to access free supplies.
Orders are subiject to limits according to capacity. Providers are
asked to continue to develop their own supply chain. However, it
is widely recognised that PPE market has not recovered from the
impact of Covid-19.

o To ensure all agencies are supported and services are able to
deliver safe care to local residents, as well as protecting the care
workforce, we are currently reviewing various options and
opportunities to support external Care Providers to access PPE in
emergencies or when they have issues with their PPE supply
chain.

o A stock has been locally purchased as part of the Council’s
recovery and outbreak planning, and we continue to replenish
stock to meet the needs internally to resume services for example
the re-opening of Day Services.

. A survey will be distributed to Care Providers to fully understand
the impact of COVID-19 re PPE, current needs and issues.

Adults and Children’s Commissioning - Commissioners have worked
closely with our ‘Early Intervention and Prevention’ ‘Community
Wellbeing’ and ‘Public Health’ contracted providers which have
adapted but continued to deliver effective services during the Covid-19
Pandemic. Contingency Plans were implemented straight away with
our Providers during the response phase of the Pandemic, and now
Commissioners are working with Providers to implement their recovery

OFFICIAL



Page 24

Plans. Examples of recovery plans include: Substance Misuse
Services, Healthy Child Programme, Social Action Partnership and
Carers Hub:

Substance Misuse Service: The Community Hubs delivered by
our Provider CGL in Crewe and Macclesfield have remained open
during Covid for the purpose of needle exchange, blood clinics
and drug screening. The service runs a 24-hour help and advice
line which has been well utilised during the pandemic allowing
service users 24-hour access to advice and support. CGL have
implemented new fingerprint drug testing technology during the
pandemic. This has helped support local people and to keep them
safe. Fingerprint drug testing is a new way to carry out standard
drug testing in a safe way. This has worked effectively for
completing drug screening during this time. The pandemic offered
a clear opportunity to use this technology in line with social
distancing and shielding. At the beginning of the pandemic 100%
of Opioid Service users have received a risk assessment, and as
a result, service users received safety deposit boxes for drug
treatments and also naloxone (an overdose intervention). CGL
continue to provide several ways to access the service for all
service users via online, telephone, face to face and home visits
for the most vulnerable, abiding by Covid-19 risk assessments.
Healthy Child Programme: Wirral Community Health and Care
NHS Foundation Trust were awarded the new contract for the
Healthy Child Programme that goes live in October 2020.
Mobilisation for the new service is going well despite the Covid-
19 pandemic, and the service are working closely with
Commissioners to implement the new service model that has
been co designed with partners, children and young people.
During the pandemic the service has worked innovatively to reach
and support families, children and young people in Cheshire East,
delivering a large number of virtual and telephone consultations.
The service has been able to deliver aspects of the healthy child
programme including antennal contacts, new birth contacts, 4-8
week, 9-12 months and 2-year reviews, and 353 packages of care
have been delivered to families like behaviour management.

The service has continued to contribute to support some of our
most vulnerable children attending 1312 safeguarding meetings
during the pandemic. Home visits have been available for those
most in need of support. Staff members have attended
multiagency meetings to support families during the pandemic.
The service has continued to support families with breastfeeding

OFFICIAL



Page 25

via the Cherubs offer. The Cherubs Facebook page has facilitated
2059 engagements in videos and 572 parent-to-parent support
conversations. 6115 people are members of the Cherubs support
group. There has also been 241 face to face breastfeeding
support appointments delivered.

Social Action Partnership: The Social Action Partnership Service
launched at 1st April 2020. As this was during the Covid-19 crisis,
the focus of delivery was diverted from ‘business as usual
functions to supporting the Council’s Communities Team Covid-
19 People Helping People response. Working with People
Helping People they have set up a Virtual Volunteer Network
consisting of 15 Volunteer Co-ordination Points (VCPs). The
VCPs cover all 8 Care Community areas using a ‘hub and spoke’
model with the VCP being the key hub in their local area. Whilst
many were mobilised using existing community support groups
some were established from the ground up by SAP (e.g.
Haslington Support Group). VCPs are being supported with
Recovery workshops to consider the impact of Coronavirus on
their local area and identify where support is needed. Going
forward the Social Action Partnership will be working with the
Communities team to see how the VCPs can fit with the
Neighbourhood and Town Partnerships and avoid duplication of
work.

The 974 volunteers that signed up to support People Helping
People were signposted to the VCPs. VCPs supported volunteers
with guidance packs developed by the Social Action Partnership.
The next focus is to keep the level interest in volunteering and
build on the response both for recovery phase and for future social
action. The Social Action Partnership are working with our
Community Development Officers on a volunteer skills audit.

The Social Action Partnership is also starting to move to business
as usual and their core service provision, including the Social
Value Charter, Social Value Award, the Social Action Charter, and
further raising the profile of the service through relationship
building and links into other partnerships including building the
connections between the public sector, business and industry and
the Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise Sector.
Carers Hub: n-Compass are the Provider of the Carers Hub and
have made a number of changes to the delivery of the service
during the Covid-19 Pandemic including virtual appointments
reduced face-to face, they are moving forward with their recovery
plan and are planning a part time return to their offices from
September. They have enhanced risk assessments and PPE in

OFFICIAL



Page 26

place for face to face assessments of Carers. These are only to
be carried out if necessary and have to be approved by managers
before going ahead. They plan to continue to offer digital
assessments and support first, over face to face visits. Face to
face groups are still on hold; as Carers are supporting vulnerable
people, and they are aware that many may not want to risk
attending a group session.

o Following the success of online activities held during Carers
Week, the Carers Hub have set up a further rolling programme of
online zoom activities. These include craft sessions, cooking,
bingo and a choir. They are also holding weekly coffee and chat
groups over zoom, including an evening session. For Young
Carers the Hub are continuing to hold a weekly Facebook Live
session for young carers and their families. They have also
recently completed a time capsule project. They have recently
sent out an email briefing and are planning to return to a postal
newsletter in October.

. Wishing Well were awarded a grant through the Carers Choice
Awards for a Carers café, but due to Covid-19 have been unable
to run it. They have changed the project slightly and have worked
with the Carers Hub to deliver afternoon teas directly to Carers
identified as needing a break. Seeing the positive impact this
project has had on Carers, the Hub have worked with Poynton
Tea Room so Carers in the north of the borough are able to benefit
as well.

. As referral numbers have dipped following lockdown the Carers
Hub are delivering online briefings for local partners in order to
raise the profile of the service and let referrers know how the
Carers Hub has adjusted to be able to support people.

5.2.23 Children’s Social Care- All children open to Children’s Social Care are
receiving face to face visits unless it is not safe to do so, e.g. due to the
risk of this to them as a result of their complex health needs or where
children are living in an area with additional lockdown restrictions. A risk
assessment is in place for the small number of children not receiving
face to face visits. We have now been able to transition children to live
with their adoptive families following the delay during lockdown. Staff
are working with the courts to progress effective court hearings. Despite
the revised arrangements for courts, children and young people within
the court process will experience significant delays, which will also
impact on demand and costs to services. The number of cared for
children is likely to increase over the next few months.

OFFICIAL



5.2.24

5.2.25

5.2.26

5.2.27

Page 27

We are supporting more of our care leavers to remain in their current
accommodation as they turn 18 so that they are not isolated, and we
have the opportunity to complete the independence work that has been
delayed during the lockdown period. We continue to be worried about
the impact of Covid-19 and the economic recession as it will
disproportionately impact on our care leavers, particularly their ability
to secure employment, apprenticeships and training. We are working
to ensure their needs are prioritised in recovery groups.

We have continued to hold weekly Safeguarding Children Partnership
meetings throughout this period to ensure the needs of children who
are at risk of harm are prioritised. All services will be supporting
children, young people and families with the return to education in
September, as we recognise that this will be a real challenge for some
families after being out of their routines for so long.

Services have seen an increase in the level of need from families, with
needs escalating very rapidly for some families. We expect to continue
to see an increase in the demand for services both in the coming
months as children return to school, and also in the longer term as we
start to see the economic impact of Covid-19 on families which will
increase the number of children living in poverty and will exacerbate
current inequalities.

Prevention and Early Help - The same picture of increasing need and
complexity is also being found within Prevention and Early Help; cases
open to the Cheshire East Family Service are increasingly becoming
more complex. Lockdown has had an impact on the mental health of
our children, young people and parents/carers so our intervention and
existing plans and priorities within them are changing as a result. Face
to face visits are now being carried out with families within their homes
which is supporting effective safeguarding and support. We are
providing a targeted face to face Summer Activity Programme for
families and young people who need additional support, and this is
working well.

5..2.28 The number of open early years settings has reduced following school

closure from over 200 in July to 127 at 7 August. Settings that have
closed are predominantly on school sites, or where the demand for
childcare is low due to the summer holiday period. We expect to see
the number of open settings increase again in September. There have
been some instances of confirmed Covid-19 cases within settings, and
these have been managed well.

OFFICIAL



5.2.29

5.2.30

5.2.31

5.2.32

5.2.33

5.2.34

Page 28

Education and Home to School Transport - Over 11,200 pupils attended
schools following the phased opening in June. The Department for
Education (DfE) thanked us for our high attendance. Schools believe
this is a result of the phased approach we agreed in Cheshire East,
which allowed them to engage with parents and reassure them on all
the measures that were being taken to make schools safe, and that our
high attendance reflected parental confidence in the safety of our
arrangements. Over 1,500 vulnerable children were attending school
before the end of term, which was very positive, with the main area of
increase being children with an Education, Health and Care plan
(EHCP).

The majority of pupils continued to receive remote education during the
summer term. We asked schools to ensure that children who were due
to transition between schools in September were supported, and
developed a minimum offer for our expectations on transition. We also
asked schools to review their home learning arrangements and support
for pupils’ wellbeing, and ensure that they had regular contact with all
children who were not invited back into school to encourage and
support learning and wellbeing.

We have established a referral process for schools that have concerns
about possible attendance in September, or for families that are
anxious and need support to facilitate the return to school, so we can
support these families over the summer to encourage attendance. We
have developed a communications strategy around the return to school
and key messages will be shared each day from mid August until
September. We would appreciate support from members and services
in promoting and sharing these messages widely.

We have developed a set of principles around expectations on
attendance for all our schools. We are aware that some parents and
children may be anxious about the return in September, and our focus
will be on working with families and schools to support children back
into education.

The Education Recovery Group has continued to meet over the
summer to plan for the full opening of schools from September. As with
the phased opening, we have discussed and agreed arrangements for
September with all key stakeholders; teaching unions, the diocese,
school heads and the Cheshire East Parent Carer Forum.

We are continuing to provide intensive support to schools around how
to implement the DfE guidance to ensure we have a consistent and safe
approach across all schools. We have provided all schools with a new

OFFICIAL



5.2.35

5.2.36

5.2.37

5.2.38

Page 29

risk assessment checklist on their arrangements for pupils from
September. Our 68 maintained schools were required to submit the risk
assessment checklist before they finished for the summer to provide us
with assurance that their risk assessment covers all the appropriate
controls. We have reviewed these for all 68 schools to ensure they
comply with the guidance as we did for the phased opening from June.
We are establishing a process for schools to report positive cases of
Covid-19 so we can manage potential outbreaks.

We are working with maintained schools to identify where curriculum
support may be needed in September. A continual professional
development programme will be put in place with a focus on remote
learning, emotional wellbeing support for pupils, and catch up
strategies.

The government has announced a £1 billion ‘catch up’ fund. This
recognises that all young people have lost time in education as a result
of the pandemic, regardless of their income or background. £650 million
will be shared across all state primary and secondary schools over the
academic year 2020-21. Schools’ allocations will be calculated on a per
pupil basis, providing each mainstream school with a total of £80 for
each pupil in years reception through to 11. Special, Alternative
Provision and hospital schools will be provided with £240 for each place
for the 2020 to 2021 academic year.

£350 million will fund a National Tutoring Programme which will
increase access to high-quality tuition for the most disadvantaged
young people. This will help accelerate their academic progress and
prevent the gap between them and their more affluent peers widening.
The programme will comprise of at least 2 parts in the 2020 to 2021
academic year, including a 5 to 16 programme that will make high-
quality tuition available to 5 to 16 year olds in state-funded primary and
secondary schools from the second half of autumn term 2020 and a 16
to 19 fund for school sixth forms, colleges and all other 16 to 19
providers to provide small group tutoring activity for disadvantaged 16
to 19 students whose studies have been disrupted as a result of
coronavirus (COVID-19).

We recognise the impact that Covid-19 has had on mental health and
wellbeing. We will be developing an emotional wellbeing package for
use in schools from September. This will include a suite of resources
for schools to use with pupils and will provide clarity on the support that
is available for schools and families. The pack will include resources for

OFFICIAL



5.2.39

5.2.40

5.2.41

5.2.42

5.2.43

Page 30

carrying out debriefings with pupils and parents on the impact of
lockdown. Training will be available to support teachers.

We have worked with schools to develop a set of principles for travel to
school from September. These principles set out what the local
authority and schools will do, along with expectations from parents and
pupils. Based on these principles, we have been working to establish
the travel to school arrangements required from September 2020. Two
surveys have been conducted with families; one for those who are
eligible to receive home to school transport from the local authority; the
other is aimed at secondary school pupils, in particular to identify those
who use public transport.

On 8 August, the government announced funding for transport to
enable local authorities to provide additional transport capacity for
journeys to schools and college for the first term. The government
guidance on transport to school and other places of education was
published on 11 August. This guidance sets out a number of
requirements for local authorities and schools to ensure that
arrangements for children’s travel to school in September are as safe
as possible. Whilst this is broadly in line with what we expected, there
are some additional considerations, including the need to work with
colleges, and the recommendation that the LA advises people aged 11
and over to wear a face covering when travelling on dedicated school
transport to secondary school or college from the start of the autumn
term.

Capacity on public transport could be limited to take into account social
distancing; this will be particularly challenging for children and young
people who travel to school or college by bus. We have been working
with Transport colleagues and Transport Service Solutions on a
number of solutions, including additional dedicated school transport for
children who currently travel to school by public transport, supported by
government funding that was allocated this week.

Promoting active travel to schools remains a key priority. We have
launched a campaign #backtoschool and #activetravel in Cheshire
East leading up to the full opening of schools.

Transport for pupils with special educational needs and/or disabilities
(SEND) is being prioritised to ensure ‘meet and greets’ can take place
between families and drivers to help children and young people feel
settled and supported and arrive at school prepared to learn.

OFFICIAL



5.2.44

5.2.45

5.2.46

5.2.47

5.2.48

Page 31

Once all pupils return to school, this will increase the visibility of
children and the impact of Covid-19 on all our children and young
people will become clearer. There is growing evidence of a gap in
knowledge between pupils who have completed home learning and
those who haven'’t, and a need for an intensive review of the
curriculum. We are yet to understand the impact of the lack of
examinations for young people who would have taken their GCSEs
and A Levels this year. As a result, we expect to see an increased
demand on services within Education, and wider Children’s Services.

Environmental Services — all kerbside household waste and recycling
collections are operating as normal. All household waste and
recycling centres are open. Access is restricted at Crewe only, based
on vehicle licence plates due to nearby roadworks causing queues.

Neighbourhood Services — All Cheshire East libraries have now re-
opened, including the Mobile Library Service, although there are
restrictions to opening hours, services and activities to ensure the
safety of staff and customers. The Council’s leisure centres, operated
by Everybody Sport & Recreation, re-opened on a phased basis
during July, August and September, again with new protocols in place
to ensure a safe environment for staff and customers. Play areas and
outdoor gyms were also able to re-open from 6 July. Daily cleaning is
being undertaken at the 15 largest play areas, with social distancing
and hand hygiene promoted at all 150 sites.

Homelessness and Rough Sleepers - Cheshire East’s Housing
Options Team continue to work to prevent residents from becoming
homeless and provide assistance to those who present as homeless.
During June and July 96 households presented as homeless of which
74 were provided with accommodation. The number of rough
sleepers varies between 3 — 10 some of which are transient and do
not wish to stay in Cheshire East. The Rough Sleepers Team
continue to work proactively with them where they wish to engage
with services.

The service have worked with MHCLG to repurpose the funding
allocated through the Rough Sleepers Initiative to enable us to
commission emergency accommodation and support to those who
present with complex issues. We are also working with MHCLG and
Housing Providers to co-produce a bid to the Next Steps fund, which
was recently announced by Government. If successful this will enable
us to provide additional accommodation and support for those leaving

OFFICIAL



5.2.49

5.2.50

5.2.51

5.2.52

Page 32

emergency accommodation and enabling better access to the private
rented sector.

Town Centres - Traffic Management measures have been introduced
to facilitate social distancing thereby supporting businesses to open
and operate safely. A new streamlined, low cost process for obtaining
Pavement Licences has been developed to facilitate bars, cafes and
restaurants looking to expand onto pedestrian areas to improve
viability. Working collaboratively with Town Councils a ‘Welcome
back - We’ve missed you campaign’ was launched with posters,
banners and bunting to encourage people to support local town centre
businesses, supplemented by media releases asking residents to
support their local centre and utilise the Government’s ‘Eat out to Help
out’ scheme. A grant application has been submitted seeking ERDF
Reopening High Street Safely Funding proposing further town centre
focused communications and public realm measures subject to
funding being available.

Highways, Transport & Parking - All highway maintenance operations
and improvement projects continue to be delivered and are following
Government COVID guidelines. Other activity has also increased on
the network, with traffic flows at around 80% of pre COVID levels and
utility companies dealing with a backlog of works. Parking Service
operations have been fully remobilised as of the 17 August. Usage
has recovered to approximately 60% of 2019 levels, whilst income sits
at around 55% reflecting shorter stays in our car parks. A two phase
programme of active travel measures are progressing across the
borough following considerable engagement from community groups,
local ward councillors and town and parish councils. The local bus
network continues to grow with service levels back to around 85% pre
COVID and the Council’s FlexiLink back into operation, with overall
patronage levels at around 30%.

Workforce and Workplace - Those staff who can work from home
were encouraged to do so when the lockdown was introduced. That
has continued to be the case. We have made a significant investment
in mobile IT to allow staff to operate as effectively remotely.

We are continuing to monitor COVID-19 related absences on a
regular basis, including the numbers of staff self-isolating and/or off
sick. There are currently 23 staff self-isolating, 94 off sick,1995 staff
working from home and 795 on leave. We have recently carried out a
Pulse Survey of staff to get their feedback on how we have responded

OFFICIAL



6.2

Page 33

to COVID-19. Appendix 2 presents the headline results. It is pleasing
to note that 4 out of 5 staff agree that communications from the
organisation has been effective and the 3 out of 4 staff agree that the
council has provided effective wellbeing support during COVID-19.

5.2.53 As part of our recovery planning, a cell has been established which is
developing arrangements for COVID-secure workplaces, designed to
keep staff safe. An important element of the cell’s work is risk
assessment. We have adopted a 3-level model: Level 1 in the
Workplace; Level 2 as a Workforce, Level 3 as an individual. This has
been done in consultation with and good co-operation from the Trade
Unions. Another important element is culture, building on the work the
Council has done to embed a positive culture. We are also looking at
what our estate could be in the light of the changing demands and to
maximise the return on the IT investment we have made.

5.2.54 Governance and Decision Making - The Council moved quickly to
facilitate remote meetings. All Members were provided with laptops
and support to operate effectively. Since May, 32 formal remote
meetings have been held. All categories of meeting have taken place
— Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Audit and Governance
Committee, Staffing Committee and Planning Committees. The July
meeting of Council was cancelled as there was no urgent business. In
addition,13 Working Groups meetings/forum have been held and 29
school appeals. The Council has participated in an LGA Webinar to
share our learning with other councils.

Recovery

Cheshire East Council continues to lead and support the Local Resilience
Forum in developing its future planning for the recovery from this pandemic.
The Strategic Co-ordinating Group of the LRF has established a Strategic
Recovery Co-ordinating Group leading on this Recovery. This is chaired by the
Chief Executive of Cheshire East Council and includes senior colleagues from
local authorities, the NHS, Public Health, Police and Fire.

This group is focused on longer-term recovery with the strategic aims: to
enable the sub-region to deliver its ambitions around delivering continued
economic growth in a sustainable and inclusive way, to instil confidence and
provide clarity to our communities and business in relation to recovery and to
take advantage of the opportunities that the response to the pandemic has
created.

OFFICIAL



6.3

6.4

Page 34

The initial focus of the group has been to co-ordinate the easing of restrictions
and supporting the reopening of high streets and town centres across the sub-
region including the management of the reopening of the night-time economy.
The group is now co-ordinating the sub-regional approach relating to:

Anticipating and managing future demands on public services such as
additional safeguarding referrals, increases in domestic abuse,
increases demand on health services and social care

Planning for winter in relation to the management of Covid-19 related
pressures on top of the winter pressures such as seasonal flu, and
adverse weather events.

Reviewing and managing any issues that arise in relation to community
safety, crime and community cohesion.

Developing a sub-regional strategy for economic recovery.

Providing future support packages relating to mental health, skills
development and employment support

Developing appropriate plans to support the effective day to day
running of the sub-region e.g. support for transport and traffic
management.

Reviewing the sub-regional risk assessments and management of risks
associated with EU Exit.

Within the Borough the Council is anticipating and preparing for the longer-term
impacts of the Pandemic

6.4.1

6.4.2

Community - the Council and its partners anticipate that there will
significant long-term impacts on communities in Cheshire East. For
example, there is expected to be a significant increase in
unemployment and reduction in household income. It is expected that
services will see an increase in demand as referrals increase in relation
to safeguarding, domestic abuse and social care support. The council,
working with its partners will be ensuring that it continues to support
vulnerable people as well providing appropriate support in relation
skills, employability, mental health and personal resilience.

Economy - Cheshire East Council continues to work with local
businesses and business organisations (including Chambers of
Commerce, Cheshire and Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership,
Federation of Small Businesses and National Farmers Union) to
channel business-based support to meet local need and to enable
businesses to support each other.

OFFICIAL



Page 35

6.4.3 Inresponse to these issues the council and its partners have started to
put measures in place to support people as they face unemployment.
This includes a job mathcing service which sign post available jobs that
are available, the running of jobs fairs and the the provision of skills
training, work experience and apprenticeships.

6.4.4 The Council has also delivered three phases of funding through its
Discretionary Business Grant Scheme. 327 Businesses have been
provided with support through this scheme and total of £2.7m has been
awarded to date. Phase Three of the scheme was launched on Friday
7 August and closed on Monday 17 August. It is anticipated that the full
grant amount will be allocated to businesses by end of September.

6.4.5 Furthermore, the Council and its partners have developed plans for
the longer term economic recovery of the Borough. This approach
includes:

o Understanding how the pandemic has impacted on the economy
and development in the Borough inlcuding the opportunities this
presents for the Borough for future inward investment.

. Understanding the implication of these impacts on income for the
council and on key strategic services such as Planning, Economic
Development and Strategic Transport.

. Support to businesses in the Borough including a focus on the
sectors most likley to be impacted by the pandemic such as the
hospitality sector. In addition support will continue to be provided
to the key businesses and key sectors in the local economy.

o Contininuing to support our town centres and businesses that
operate from them.

o Developing a future pipeline of development and regeneration
projects that can stimulate the local economy

o Ensuring that the Borough has an effective place marketing

approach so that it is able to promote itself for inward investment
in the future.

7 Implications of the Recommendations
7.1 Legal Implications

7.1.1 The Coronavirus Act 2020 received Royal Assent on 25 March 2020.
The Act has extensive schedules setting out a wide framework to life
under lockdown. The Act has been followed with copious and frequent
guidance notes, frequently with implementation dates ahead of what is

OFFICIAL



Page 36

practically possible, e.g. Household Waste and Recycling Centres,
administration of School Admission Appeals, restrictions on and
subsequent opening of certain business premises, Test and Trace.

The Coronavirus Act also set out a framework by which Local Authorities
could reduce their statutory duties in relation to the Care Act 2014, for
Adult Social Care. These Care Act Easements could be implemented
should the capacity of Adult Social Care staff become so reduced that it
could not continue to meet its duties. To date Cheshire East Council
has not initiated any Care Act Easements.

Any necessary urgent decisions have followed the process set out in the
Constitution. To date 12 urgent decisions have been made. This are
reported elsewhere on the agenda.

Local authority meetings - on Friday 31 July 2020, the Local Authorities
and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority
and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales)
(Amendment) Regulations 2020 came into force and will expire on 7 May
2021 unless extended. It removes the requirements to hold annual
meetings; allows councils to hold all necessary meetings virtually, to alter
the frequency and occurrence of meetings, without the requirement for
further notice and to enable members, officers and the public to attend
and access meetings and associated documents remotely. However, the
amended regulations do not specifically mention ‘hybrid’ meetings.

The Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) (No 3)
Regulations 2020 came into force on 18 July 2020 and will expire at the
end of 17 January 2021. They give local authorities (LA) power to give
directions which impose prohibitions, requirements or restrictions
relating to premises, events and public outdoor spaces, more commonly
known as local lockdowns in order to tackle local coronavirus outbreaks.
The LA must ensure the conditions set out in the Regulations are met
before it can give such a Direction. It must also have regard to advice
from its Director of Public Health when deciding whether or not to make
a Direction. If a Direction is made, the Secretary of State (SoS) must be
notified as soon as reasonably practicable, and the Direction must be
reviewed at least once every seven days to ensure the conditions for
making it are still met. Similarly, the SoS has the power to direct a LA to
make a Direction under the Regulations, if the SoS considers the
conditions for making a Direction are met.

OFFICIAL



7.2

Page 37

Directions relating to premises may require closure of premises,
restriction of entry or restrictions relating to the location of persons in the
premises. A LA may not make a Direction relating to premises which
form part of essential infrastructure.

Directions may be given in relation to specified events or events of a
specified description.

If the LA gives a direction which imposes a prohibition, requirement or
restriction on a person specified by name, the LA must give notice in
writing to that person and also publish the notice to bring to the attention
of persons who may be affected by it. Persons who are given a direction
under the Regulations have a right of appeal against the direction to a
magistrate’s court and also to make representations to the SoS.

LA designated officers and constables have enforcement powers.
Persons who contravene directions under the Regulations or obstruct
persons carrying out functions under the Regulations commit offences.

Finance Implications

7.2.1

7.2.2

An update on the COVID-19 response was reported to Cabinet on 7
July 2020 and the Audit & Governance Committee on 30 July 2020.
This report presents the latest financial position and identifies
Government funding supplied to date. The extraordinary impact of the
pandemic creates significant uncertainty for the Council that must
continue to be managed throughout the 2020/21 financial year. All
councils are currently analysing the impacts of the latest financial
allocations and their projections.

The financial issues facing Cheshire East Council are just part of a
significant national issue for public services, and the UK economy as a
whole. Public Sector deficits and reductions in GDP are at levels not
seen before, and Central Government continues to react with funding
support packages both for general and specific purposes. The Council
has continued to support MHCLG in gathering evidence, on a monthly
basis, of the potential costs and income losses for 2020/21 based on
information and guidance available at the date of the government
return. The information from the Council contributes to the ongoing
negotiations between the LGA, MHCLG, HM Treasury and other
government departments and sector led organisations such as the
County Councils Network.

OFFICIAL



7.2.3

7.2.4

7.2.5

7.2.6

Page 38

The nature of financial issues, and the approach to funding costs and
income losses associated with the pandemic, has inevitably changed
over time as lockdown measures have eased. This creates issues with
producing an accurate forecast of financial consequences compared to
the Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy which had been
approved by Council on 20 February 2020. This is not just a Cheshire
East issue. Recent estimates from the Institute for Fiscal Studies
suggests that councils, for example, only have access to useable
reserves equal to half of the required costs of the COVID-19 Pandemic
response and recovery. This observation is further complicated by the
mix of Revenue, Capital and Collection Fund budgeting required by a
Local Authority. The IFS report is available here:
https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14977

Cheshire East Council’s MTFS is under unprecedented pressure due
the response required to protect both the health and economic
wellbeing of local people and businesses during the COVID-19
Pandemic. When responding to the MHCLG data requests in June, of
gross the cost financial impact of COVID-19 in 2020/21, the local costs
were estimated at £70m. The high-level detail behind this estimate was
considered by the Audit & Governance Committee on 30" July. The
Committee was advised that estimates were due to significant change
due to ongoing relaxation of the lockdown (allowing some facilities to
re-open), changing guidelines (particularly in relation to home to school
transport) and the emerging approach by Central Government to fund
some elements via direct funding (such as the PPE requirements of
local care providers).

This report considers the latest estimates of the financial impact of
COVID-19 on the Council. A further MHCLG return is due on 4t
September, which will be submitted by the S.151 Officer based on the
forecasts avaiable on that day. Due to the emerging nature of the
financial position and the overlapping timing of reporting to Scrutiny
and Cabinet, the MHCLG figures may at any point in time be out of
date and subject to change. Every effort is made to ensure members
are suitably informed, and where changes to the Council’s budget are
required this will be reported in accordance with the Council’s
consitution.

The returns to Central Government identify three main types of
financial pressure:

OFFICIAL


https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14977

Table 1: The

Announced

Page 39

(i) Un-ringfenced Expenditure and Income Losses

Appendix 1 provides an indication of the latest forecasts of the financial
pressures from COVID-19 on the Council’s 2020/21 budget. This level
of detail provides further information, at Director level, as requested by
the Audit & Governance Committee and supported by members of the
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The information in the
appendix also reiterates the most significant areas of financial
pressure, both revenue and capital.

Grant funding to support un-fingfenced expenditure and income losses
is detailed in Table 1 below, in a format consistent with previous
Cabinet and Audit & Governance Committee reports.

(ii) Collection Fund

Collection Fund potential losses relate to Council Tax and Business
Rates income. At the time of writing, the Council expects to have to bear
these losses, but to be permitted to spread the impact over the next three
years. There is ongoing consideration from MHCLG and the LGA on this
issue and further information will be provided when it is available.

(iii) Ringfenced Expenditure

Table 2 below provides information about the activities the Council has
been undertaking which have received specific government funding.

approach to un-ringfenced funding has changed over time
Funding for CEC Notes

(England

total)

19th March
18t April
Sub-Total

2 July

Total

2nd July

£9.150m (£1.6bn) Adult Social Care based payment
£10.539m (£1.6bn) Payment per capita to help reflect lost income
£19.689m (£3.2bn)
£2.712m (£0.5bn) = Adult Social Care / deprivation based payment
for Expenditure
£22.401m (of £3.7bn)

£n/k (En/k) for Income  Paid at 75p in £1 above 5% losses.

OFFICIAL



Page 40

(Note: Guidance has been issued and a claims
process is being established for the 2020/21
Financial Year. No recompense to dat).

2 July £nil for Collection Fund Defer Collection Fund Deficit over 3yrs

7.2.7 Based on the latest guidance and changes to direct funding via specific
grants the value of un-ringfenced Revenue, Capital and Collection
Fund financial impacts are currently estimated to be in the region of
£50m. Taking in account the government funding received to date, as
detailed in Table 1 (above) is currently £22.401m the estimated
shortfall currently stands at ¢.£28m.

To understand the potential shortfall between un-ringfenced financial
impacts and the funding provided by Government, the Council is
engaged in several activities:

1. Continuing to manage and review the financial forecasts in

response to emerging guidance and the local response to the

emergency and how this affects the Council’s revenue budget.
2. Analysing the Government proposals to compensate losses from

Sales, Fees and Charges.
3. Analysing the level of Collection Fund losses across the three

financial years 2021/22 to 2023/24.

4. Reviewing the consequences of funding shortfalls on the Council’s
capital programme and how this impacts on the Council’s long term
funding of capital expenditure.

Table 2: Specific Grants are valued at ¢.£185m

Activity (National Total)

Spending
forecast

Variance

Test & Trace (£300m)

Rough Sleeping (£32m)*

Active Travel (£225m)
Opening High Streets (£500m)
Infection Control (£600m)**

Business Grants (£12.3bn)

£1,533,331

£229,530

£774,000
£339,533
£5,320,292

£86,500,000

OFFICIAL

£1,533,331

£6,000

£774,000
£339,533
£5,320,292

£95,514,000

£0

(£223,530)

£0
£0
£0

€.£9,000,000



Page 41

Disc. Business Grants (£617m) £4,200,000 £4,287,250 £87,250
Business Rate Holiday (£9.7bn) £61,371,000 £58,785,655 (£2,585,345)
CT Hardship (£500m) £2,500,000 £2,062,635 ¢.£500,000
Local Bus Network (£167m) £229,632 £229,632 £0
Emergency Assistance (£63m) £326,292 £326,292 £0
Towns Fund Capital (£5bn) £750,000 £750,000 £0
Additional Dedicated Home to School £294,536 £294,536 £0

and College Transport (£400m)

Wellbeing for Education Return(£8m) £55,403 £55,403 £0
Food and basic necessities £326,393 £326,393 £0
(essential supplies)

Bus Service Support Grant (CBSSG) £122,769 £156,600 £33,831

Restart scheme

7.2.8

7.2.9

The Business Grants and Discretionary Business Grants schemes
close to new applicants on 28t August. The Council has run three

phases of the discretionary scheme and will ensure the full allocation of

this scheme is provided to local businesses.

In relation to other Business Grants, linked to the Business Rates
database, staff and members have been using all forms of media and
even visiting premises to ensure elibigble businesses received their
funding allocations. BEIS have confirmed that unspent funding
provided for these schemes should be returned to government. The
amount of funding allocated to Cheshire East Council, which could
potentially be returned to government, is estimated at £9m. The
Council will continue to lobby and support the LGA, the FSB and other
bodies in requesting that this funding is retained locally to provide
further support to the local economy.

7.2.10 The LGA and CCN collate returns from all member councils, though

the types of financial pressure vary from council to council depending
on their circumstances. For example, whether they provide social care,
have a strong tourist economy or the extent of deprivation. The overall
impacts are similar across councils and Cheshire East Council is not
an outlier. The Council will continue to support lobbying by the LGA
and CCN in their aim to ensure fair settlement of the financial
pressures facing local authorities.

OFFICIAL



7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

7.7

7.8

7.9

Page 42

Policy Implications

7.3.1 COVID-19 is having a wide-ranging impact on many policies. Any
significant implications for the council’s policies are outlined in this
report.

Equality Implications

7.4.1 Implications of the changes will continue to be reviewed. We are
carrying out individual risk assessments for staff with protected
characteristics, particularly in relation to BAME colleagues and staff
with a disability.

Human Resources Implications

7.5.1 Paragraphs 5.2.51 to 5.5.53 provide information in relation to the
Council’s workforce and workplace. Throughout the pandemic, there
has been regular communication with staff and good co-operation with
the Trade Unions.

Risk Management Implications

7.6.1 Risk registers have been maintained as part of the Council’s response
to date and the plans for recovery. Business Continuity Plans are
being kept under review and plans have been tested against
concurrent risks.

Rural Communities Implications

7.7.1 COVID-19 is having an impact across all communities, including rural
communities. The support for small businesses will support rural
business.

Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children

7.8.1 There are implications for children and young people. There are
implications for schools, early help and prevention and children’s social
care which are summarised in the report.

Public Health Implications

7.9.1 COVID-19 is a global pandemic and public health emergency. There
are implications for Cheshire East which are summarised in the report.

OFFICIAL



710

8.1

9.1

10
10.1

11
11.1

Page 43

Climate Change Implications

7.10.1 They have been positive benefits of fewer cars on the road. This
includes most staff who have been working from home. There has also
been lower demand for heating/lighting offices. This is outlined in
paragraph 6.5.14.

Ward Members Affected
All Members.
Consultation & Engagement

Formal consultation activities have been paused due to the lockdown
restrictions. The Council is considering how and when they can be restarted.

Access to Information

Comprehensive reports on COVID-19 can be found on the Council’s and the
Government’s websites.

Contact Information

Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following
officers:

Frank Jordan, Executive Director Place and Deputy Chief Executive
Mark Palethorpe, Executive Director People

Jane Burns, Executive Director Corporate Services

OFFICIAL



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 45

Appendix 1
Covid19 Financial Update by Directorate

People Directorate

2020/21 2020/21 Covid Financial Pressures Forecast Over /
Outturn Review Budget (Underspend)
Expenditure Income
(GROSS Revenue Budget £647.2m) (NET)
£000 £000 £000

Directorate 881 " - 883
Children's Social Care 40,190 1,176 r 1,176 36,995
Education & 14-19 Skills - Revenue 15,068 215 944 7 1,159 14,471
Education & 14-19 Skills - Capital - 2,000 r 2,000

Prevention & Early Help 8,351 69 35" 104 8,221
Adult Social Care - Operations 28,077 r - 24,743
Commissioning 88,778 6,674 1,146 r 7,820 85,121
Public Health - 78 " 78 -
Public Sector Transformation - T - -
People 181,345 10,212 2,125 12,337 170,434

The most significant element of expenditure incurred by the Council involves financial
support to the social care market, and some funding has already been provided to support
care providers in dealing with increasing costs linked to demand, staffing shortages and
PPE. Current forecasts indicate that total costs in this area could be up to £4m, although
this does reflect the risk of potential future outbreaks and further increases in demand.

The other significant area of expenditure is the provision of Personal Protective Equipment
(PPE), both to external care providers and for the Council’s employees. This is estimated
to be in the region of c£2m.

The cost of the shielding hub, as shown under Public Health, is estimated to be £78k, in
addition to this there are additional staffing resources from across the Council services
involved in shielding.

The loss of fees and charges and increased debt from Adult Social Care is expected to be
in the region of £1m.

The increased cost of children’s social care is £1.176m mainly due to the rise in agency
placements. Loss of income from school catering services is estimated to be £0.9m.

Delays in the schools building programme are expected to lead to additional costs in the
second part of the year.

Place Directorate

OFFICIAL
1



Page 46

Appendix 1
2020/21 2020/21 Covid Financial Pressures Forecast Over / 2019/20

Outturn Review Budget (Underspend)
Expenditure Income
(GROSS Revenue Budget £647.2m) (NET)
£000 (0[0[0) £000

Directorate 977 " - 654
Environment & Neighbourhood Services 40,744 3,640 1,569 r 5,209 39,607
Environment & Neighbourhood - Capital - 255 255

Growth & Enterprise 20,434 809 3,351 7 4,160 20,547
Highways & Infrastructure - Revenue 11,909 1,133 4,375 " 5,508

Highways & Infrastructure - Capital 4,300 4,300 12,312
Place 74,064 10,137 9,295 19,432 73,120

The Council’s wholly owned company ANSA has experienced significant challenges in
delivering waste and environmental services throughout this pandemic. The cost of
employing additional agency staff, purchasing PPE and the increased tonnage from
kerbside collections is estimated to be over £2m.

The bereavement service has incurred additional costs including a contribution to a body
storage facility.

The loss of income from fees and charges is significant for the Place directorate, car parking
income losses alone is estimated to be over £3m, income from cultural activities such as
Tatton Park is expected to be down by £2.4m and income from planning fees is expected
to have a shortfall £0.9m.

Additional costs relating to the running of the leisure centres and the loss of income is
estimated to be in the region of £1m.

Delays in major highway construction schemes are expected to lead to additional costs in
the second part of the year although these may be able to be absorbed within existing
contingency budgets for these capital projects.

Corporate Directorate

2020/21 2020/21 Covid Financial Pressures Forecast Over /
Outturn Review Budget (Underspend)
Expenditure Income
(GROSS Revenue Budget £647.2m) (NET)
a(0[0]0] $(0[0]0] a(0[0]0]

Directorate 693 r - 778
Finance & Customer Services 8,678 1,322 740 7 2,062 7,550
Governance & Compliance Services 9,984 57 931 7 988 9,994
Transformation - Revenue - 558 558

Transformation - Capital 14,728 2,780 r 2,780 12,047
Corporate 34,083 4,717 1,671 6,388 30,369

To enable council employees to work from home since the start of the pandemic has
required the ICT service to accelerate and extend of deployment of Windows 10 mobile

OFFICIAL
2



Page 47

Appendix 1
devices. Anincreased number of devices have been purchased and the resources required

to deliver this redeployment in a short space of time has placed significant pressure on the
service.

ICT has also delivered a number of specific projects specifically to facilitiate the remote
working environment, these include e-signatures, virtual council meetings, virtual child
protection conferences, virtual hearings for both internal and external participants, remote
door solution etc.

The registration service is expecting a loss of income from marriage services in the region
of £859k.

The loss of Housing Benefit overpayment recoveries and the loss of court cost income for
Council Tax and Business Rates is also expected to be in the region of £740k.

OFFICIAL
3



This page is intentionally left blank



PULSE SURVEY HEADLINES - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY - APPENDIX 2

Cokcarid! what are anployaas most concamed about in relation o working at their wual place of work?

OFFICIAL

Waorking pattaris: how have worlloads changaed during Cowvid-107

.
m\ ' ' Response rate: 55 dJ S
. = - — " employas
Che.ih‘ﬂ"e Eﬂs t_}n.l.r KEY fl n d I n gs‘ Ho of responses: 1977 of 3601 research
Council #
B3% 83% 759 730, 500
Happy with level Agree communication Agree the council has Have had access to Have heen
of line manager from the organisation provided effective necessary systems migrated to
communication has been effective wellbaing support and equipment Teams
during Covid=-19
Tap areas of Corecern i fedation To working ot isual workeng |locatsea(s) 1:1b||1:f‘.url'llﬂd
| —— Regulsri o
The use of "hot-desks' [/ shared-desks k- L Since . @ than Lmual
lockdown in
. ) . . March 2020, /
The use of shared kitchens ta meke drinks, prepare and eat food T a9 have you... I...,I...:I..l__;.l ,,L
That people will fiellow public health guidelines relating to social 230,
distancing when we all start returning to the *new normal’ i zuslty worked tf
F L our mual
The vertilation of warking spaces 73%
- ,. Worked § har
The use of shared equipment [e.g. printers) 72%0

61 abed



PULSE SURVEY HEADLINES - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY - APPENDIX 2

d'
JEI‘I"I'FIIE}"EE
research

ni of the response .

|’ | pava the SySIETE 'uw | Communicatien
squipraent 10 wark 1ram from the council

offect oy has basn
@ m effective
e 83%

Views of the managemé

The councd has provided
ellac e 1..'-'II-'|| |
suppom duning Covid-1
;

505 have m igrate d o
Microaott Teams

y e

I M Manps Thes e ) _U
LY WA I =l Coumncil B PSP QJ
Smm Mealon ) i " Amoyn af IMplamandng sacia) - L s fo «Q
=1t ) had g Firginne me 1al fistanci g andg o

Mema; 0 myy TR T H--Fls [ — oMot
. o1
o

Change in wWar kload

during Covid-19

= al work lecation
ns when returning o ursual o @ Faguisrty weeksd mars

than wsual

Top safety concer -

The usa qof sharag
BQLApmang (&g
Frirdars

Dccazmonaly worked
more than psas

. Leualy workad e
Gama anoant as
usiial

Worked less than
umasl

Th wenEdan o

That peopke will folow soceal
dhEtamcing qusdelines

- 1: o o -
% concamad - '
Daile coléctian n June 2030
Rasgonsd mia: 55% Moo of mciporcics: 1377 of 3607 I

OFFICIAL



Page 51 Agenda Item 7

£
Cheshire :ﬁ%

Council?

Working for a brighter futures together

Key Decision: Y

Date First
Published: 3/6/20
Cabinet
Date of Meeting: 8 September 2020
Report Title: Brooks Lane (Middlewich) Development Framework

Supplementary Planning Document
Portfolio Holder: Clir Toni Fox - Portfolio Holder for Planning

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan - Executive Director - Place

1. Report Summary

1.1. This report seeks approval to adopt the Brooks Lane (located in
Middlewich) Development Framework (“Framework”) as a Supplementary
Planning Document (“SPD”). As a SPD, it would be a material
consideration in the determination of relevant planning applications. The
Framework has been subject to two separate six-week consultation stages,
the most recent of which took place in January / March 2020.

1.2. The Framework provides detailed planning guidance to illustrate how high
quality, mixed use development can be realised across the area in line with
its status as an allocated Strategic Location in the Council’s Local Plan
Strategy (“LPS”) adopted in July 2017 (reference LPS 43; Brooks Lane,
Middlewich).

1.3. The report outlines the consultation process that has been undertaken, the
representations received and how they have informed the final draft of the
Framework.

2. Recommendations

2.1. That Cabinet



Page 52

2.1.1 Consider the views of Strategic Planning Board on the Brooks Lane

(Middlewich) Development Framework Supplementary Planning
Document.

2.1.2 Consider the key issues raised in the responses received to the public

consultation that took place between January and March 2020 and the
corresponding modifications to the Brooks Lane (Middlewich)
Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document as set
out in the Report of Consultation (Appendix 1).

2.1.3 Having considered the consultation results and the views of the

Strategic Planning Board, determine whether to approve the Brooks
Lane (Middlewich) Development Framework (Masterplan) as a
Supplementary Planning Document.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1.

The preparation of the Framework fulfils the requirement of the Local Plan
Strategy that development on this designated Strategic Location (LPS 43,
Brooks Lane, Middlewich) will be achieved through a masterplan-led
approach. lIts preparation has been informed by engagement with
landowners, businesses and residents across the area and the feedback
received during two rounds of six-week public consultation.

4. Other Options Considered

41.

There are no other appropriate options available. The preparation of a
masterplan is a requirement of policy LPS 43 (Brooks Lane, Middlewich) in
the Local Plan Strategy and the preparation of a SPD is the only way that is
recognised in national planning policy of putting in place local planning
guidance to supplement policies in an adopted local plan.

5. Background

5.1.

The LPS identifies the Brooks Lane area (site reference LPS 43) as an
area of potential future regeneration. The site area is shown in figure 1
(below). The LPS requires a masterplan led approach to the Strategic
Location in line with a number of key principles, including:-

e the delivery of around 200 homes;

e the delivery of leisure and community facilities to the north of the
site;

e the provision of appropriate retail facilities to meet local needs;

e the incorporation of green infrastructure;

e the provision of new and improved pedestrian and cycle links to
connect development to existing employment, residential areas,



Page 53

shops, schools health facilities, recreation and leisure opportunities
and the town centre;

e the potential development of a marina at the Trent and Mersey
Canal; and

e the provision of land for a new railway station including lineside
infrastructure, access and forecourt parking.

\ Y i

A\ k - / "] Brooks Lane site
= f [ Land reserved for future Railway Station

[~ Employment

[ Town Centre Boundary

== = Middlewich Eastern Bypass.

[ Sommon ows |

Figure 1: LPS 43 Brooks Lane Site

5.2. The Framework provides detailed planning guidance to illustrate how high
quality, mixed-use development can be realised across the site in line with
the Local Plan Strategy. The Framework can be used to inform the
preparation of development proposals (largely private sector led) for the
site, setting out key matters that proposals should address in order to
achieve high quality new development that will significantly enhance the
area and benefit the town as a whole.



5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

5.8.

Page 54

The Framework recognises the opportunities for regeneration, particularly
of the canal-side area of the site, the ability to provide new and enhanced
green infrastructure, open spaces and pedestrian and cycle links.
Specifically, it illustrates how around 200 homes could be achieved
adjacent to the Canal as a shorter-term opportunity. The Framework has
been developed through a careful analysis of the site and its context. It also
illustrates how a new railway station could be created, supporting the long-
standing aspiration to see the Sandbach-Middlewich-Northwich rail line re-
opened for passenger services.

The Council’s Economic Development Team will explore opportunities
identified within the SPD to bring forward delivery to support the growth of
Middlewich and its town centre.

The production of the Framework has been informed by engagement and
consultation stages including:-

Workshops with residents, businesses and landowners across the site in
April and August 2018. Individual meetings have also been held with
Middlewich Town Council and the Canal & River Trust.

Public consultation on the initial draft of the SPD in January / February
2019.

Public consultation on the final draft of the SPD in January / March 2020,
alongside a report of consultation detailing the comments received on
this initial draft of the SPD.

The final draft of the SPD and Report of Consultation (regarding the initial
draft) were the subject of six weeks public consultation concluding on the 4
March 2020. The documents were published on the Council’s website and
hard copies were placed in the customer service centres at Crewe and
Macclesfield, the Council offices at Westfields and Middlewich Library.

In total 24 representations were received from 23 parties (including three
comments received after the closing date). A summary of the issues raised
and the proposed response to these is set out in the Report of
Consultation, prepared for the final draft of the Framework, in Appendix 1 of
this report.

The representations received covered a wide range of matters, however
the key issues raised by businesses and residents related to:

e the provision of infrastructure on the site;

e improvements to highways, particularly access into the area;



Page 55

the provision of a train station; and

the relationship of new housing with existing retained employment
uses on the site.

5.9. The responses have been carefully considered and a number of
modifications are proposed to the document in the light of this feedback.
This is set out in the Report of Consultation (Appendix 1) and are
incorporated into the final draft of the Framework (Appendix 2). These final
changes to the framework are quite limited, as might be expected at this
late stage of its development, and include:

Additional reference to cycle parking added to section 5.1.2 (use,
amount and density parameter) under the Train Station heading;

Additional text added to section 5.1.3 (access parameter) to make
reference to ‘active design’ principles advocated by Sport England;

Additional text added to section 5.1.3 (access parameter) to refer to
development proposals having appropriate regard to any material
impact on railway crossings.

Additional guidance about sustainable drainage considerations
associated with new development proposals added to section 5.2
(development parameters and delivery considerations (point 5));

Additional text added to section 5.3.1 (point 4) to ensure
appropriate regard is given to connectivity with the canal.

5.10. Strategic Planning Board will consider the proposed adoption of the
Framework as a SPD at its meeting on 26 August 2020. As this post-dates
the publication of this Cabinet report, the Strategic Planning Board’s views
will be reported at the Cabinet meeting.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1.Legal Implications

6.1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and
the Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England)
Regulations 2012 provide the statutory Framework governing the
preparation and adoption of SPDs. These include the requirements in
Section 19 of the 2004 Act and various requirements in the 2012
Regulations including in Regulations 11 to 16 that apply exclusively to
producing SPDs.



6.1.2

6.1.3

6.1.4

6.1.5

6.1.6

6.1.7

Page 56

Amongst other things, these require a SPD to contain a reasoned
justification of the policies within it and for it not to conflict with adopted
development plan policies.

The National Planning Policy Framework and the associated Planning
Practice Guidance also set out national policy about the circumstances
in which SPDs should be prepared.

Supplementary Planning Document(s) provide more detailed guidance
on how adopted local plan policies should be applied. They can be
used to provide further guidance for development on specific sites, or
on particular issues, such as design. Supplementary Planning
Document(s) are capable of being a material consideration in planning
decisions but are not part of the development plan.

The process for preparing a SPD is similar in many respects to that of a
Local Plan document. However, they are not subject to independent
examination by the Planning Inspectorate. There are a number of
stages in their production:

e Publish the initial draft SPD for six weeks public consultation.
o Consider feedback received and make any changes necessary.

e Publish the final SPD along with a consultation statement setting
out who has been consulted in its preparation, the main issues
raised in feedback and how those issues been addressed in the
final draft SPD.

Having considered representations, the SPD may then be adopted.
Following adoption it must be published and made available along with
an adoption statement in line with the 2012 Regulations. There is no
legal requirement for SPDs to be accompanied by Sustainability
Appraisal, and this is reinforced in national planning guidance.
However, “in exceptional circumstances” there may be a requirement
for SPDs to be subject to Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)
where it is considered likely that they may have a significant effect on
the environment that has not already been assessed within the SEA of
the Local Plan. A screening assessment has been undertaken and
consulted upon in the development of the SPD which has determined
that a SEA (or an appropriate assessment under the Habitats
Regulations) is not required.

The final proposed changes to the framework are limited in their extent
and do not give rise to the need to revisit the SEA (or Habitats
Regulations Assessment) screening.



Page 57

6.2 Finance Implications

6.2.1

There are no significant direct financial costs arising from the approval
to adopt the SPD. The costs of printing and the staff time in developing
the SPD are covered from existing budgets of the planning service.

6.3 Policy Implications

6.3.1

The SPD will expand and amplify existing development plan policy.

6.4 Equality Implications

6.4.1

6.4.2

6.4.3

6.4.4

The Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equalities Act to have
due regard to the need to: eliminate discrimination; advance equality of
opportunity between persons who share a “relevant protected
characteristic’ and persons who do not share it; foster good relations
between persons who share a “relevant protected characteristic’ and
persons who do not share it.

The SPD provides guidance on the regeneration of an existing site and
is intended to provide a range of homes. The SPD is consistent with
the Local Plan Strategy which was itself subject to an Equalities Impact
Assessment (EqlA) as part of an integrated Sustainability Appraisal.

An EqlA screening assessment has been carried out and this has not
identified any actual or potential negative impact on people with
protected characteristics that would warrant a full assessment being
carried out. It is available to read at:
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_infor
mation/equality-and-diversity/equality analysis.aspx

The final proposed changes to the framework are limited in their extent
and do not give rise to the need to revisit the EqlA.

6.5 Human Resources Implications

6.5.1

There are no implications for human resources.

6.6 Risk Management Implications

6.6.1

6.6.2

The subject matter of the report does not give rise to the need for any
particular risk management measures because the process for the
preparation of an SPD is governed by legislative provisions (as set out
in the legal section of the report).

Adoption of the SPD is subject to a three month period during which
legal challenges can be made.


https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/equality-and-diversity/equality_analysis.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/equality-and-diversity/equality_analysis.aspx

Page 58

6.7 Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1 There are no implications for rural communities. The SPD addresses a

brownfield site in the settlement of Middlewich.

6.8 Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children

6.8.1 The Framework includes the provision of family housing, community

facilities and enhanced connections from the site into the town centre.
The future development of the site should be supported by active
design principles (advocated by Sport England) to support physical
activity and healthy and sustainable communities.

6.9 Public Health Implications

6.9.1 To ensure that any new residents on the site achieve acceptable living

conditions, the SPD highlights the need for development proposals to
carefully address the relationship between any new homes and existing
employment uses. The regeneration of the area brought about by the
proposals within the SPD and the enhancement of the local
environment, coupled with improved opportunities for walking and
cycling could have a beneficial effect on public health.

6.10 Climate Change Implications

6.10.1 The construction of new buildings generally gives rise to additional

carbon emissions. However, the site is located within the built up area
of Middlewich and future residents would generally have less reliance
on the car, having opportunities to walk and cycle to a range of local
services and facilities and be close to bus services. The provision of a
new rail station and passenger service, if this is achieved in the future,
will provide some people with a more sustainable transport choice.
Other policies in the Local Plan regarding climate change mitigation
and adaptation will be relevant to any planning application proposals.

7 Ward Members Affected

7.1

The site is located within the Middlewich Ward. Councillor Carol
Bulman, Councillor Mike Hunter and Councillor Jonathan Parry are the
Ward Councillors.

8 Consultation & Engagement

8.1

This is set out earlier in this report and has most recently involved six
weeks consultation during January / March 2020. Following this, all
comments have been considered and modifications proposed to the
SPD, so that it is ready for adoption.



Page 59

8.2  The consultation period for the Brooks Lane Masterplan was between
Wednesday 22 January and Wednesday 4 March 2020. At the close of
the consultation, the public was not in formal ‘lockdown’ in relation to
COVID 19 and libraries / council buildings remained open throughout
the consultation period.

9 Access to Information
9.1  Key Documents:

Cheshire East Local Plan Strateqy (July 2017)

Appendix 1: Report of Consultation including summary of representations and
responses

Appendix 2: Brooks Lane (Middlewich) Development Framework (Masterplan)

Brooks Lane Masterplan Equalities Impact Assessment -
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council and democracy/council information/equ
ality-and-diversity/equality analysis.aspx

10 Contact Information

10.1 Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following
officers:

Name: Allan Clarke
Job Title: Principal Planning Officer, Strategic Planning

Email: allan.clarke@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Name: Jeremy Owens
Job Title: Development Planning Manager, Strategic Planning

Email: jeremy.owens@cheshireeast.gov.uk



https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/equality-and-diversity/equality_analysis.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/equality-and-diversity/equality_analysis.aspx
mailto:allan.clarke@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:jeremy.owens@cheshireeast.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 61

Appendix 1: Report of Consultation

m“

:.‘u};)\
Working for a brighter future: together Cheshire Easf@,,
Council?



Page 62

N 11 (0o [ 8 [ox 1o o IR 2
2. CoNSUltation AOCUMENTS ....ceveiiiiiiiiie e et e e e et e e e e e e e e eeaeaaaaeeaeeeeeeeeees 2
3. Document availability .............cooiieiiiiiii e 2
4. Publicity and enNgagement .........coooiiii oo 3
Consultation NOLIFICALIONS..........uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii b 3
OtNET PUDBIICITY . ...ttt 3
5. SUubMIttiNg COMMENTS ....coiiiiiiiii e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 4
6. Representations rECEIVEM ..........uuuuuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiib bbb 4
Appendix 1: Notification letter and emalil .............ooovviiiiiiii i 5
Appendix 2: Screen shot from the council WeDSIte .............covvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee, 8
APPENTIX 3: PreSS FElIEASES. ... ..t i i i e et 9
Appendix 4: Consultation portal / consultation response form and extract from
strategic planning update NEWSIELEr .............ciiiii i 10

Appendix 5: Summary of key iSsues and reSPONSES...........ccvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeieeeeeeeee 14



11

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

2.1

3.1

3.2

Page 63

The Brooks Lane site is identified as a strategic location in the Council’s Local
Plan Strategy (adopted July 2017) as site reference ‘LPS 43’. The Local Plan
Strategy (‘LPS’) requires that future re-development of the site will be
supported by a masterplan led approach that will help determine the nature
and quantum of development that is appropriate for the site.

Consultants Barton Willmore, on behalf of the Council, prepared a
development framework to support the future development of the site. The
development framework was prepared as a Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD) and intended to provide over-arching guidance for the future
development of the site.

The Brooks Lane (Middlewich) initial draft Development Framework
(masterplan) SPD was published for consultation between 14 January and 25
February 2019 and a report of consultation prepared summarising the
feedback that was received and how this influenced the final draft of the SPD.

The final draft of the Brooks Lane Development Framework, alongside a
report of consultation prepared for the initial draft SPD, was consulted on from
the 22 January until the 04 March 2020.

This final report of consultation sets out how this consultation was carried out
and addresses the feedback received, including the final changes to the SPD
made in response to the feedback received.

Consultation was carried out in line with the requirements of the council’s
Statement of Community Involvement (December 2018).

Comments were invited on the final draft Brooks Lane (Middlewich)
Development Framework (masterplan) SPD and accompanying report of
consultation. A Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment
Screening Assessment were also included as an appendix.

Electronic copies of the consultation documents were available on the
council’s consultation portal which could be accessed via the council’s
website.

A printed copy of the consultation documents were available for inspection at
the council’s principal offices at Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach
CW11 1HZ.

2
OFFICIAL



3.3

Page 64

Printed copies of the consultation documents were also available for
inspection at:

e Crewe Customer Service Centre, Delamere House, Delamere Street,
Crewe CW1 2JZ;

e Macclesfield Customer Service Centre, Town Hall, Macclesfield SK10
1EA;

e Middlewich Library, Lewin Street, Middlewich, CW10 9AS.

Consultation notifications

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

Notification of the consultation was sent to all active stakeholders on the
council’s local plan consultation database. This consisted of 280 printed letters
and 2,382 emails sent on 22 January 2020. The stakeholders on the
consultation database include residents of Cheshire East, landowners and
developers, as well as planning consultants, businesses and organisations.

Copies of the notification email and letter are included in Appendix 1.

Separate email letters were also sent to Natural England, Historic England,
the Environment Agency and Natural Resources Wales as statutory
consultees.

Town and parish councils adjoining Cheshire East in neighbouring authorities
are included in the local plan consultation database and received the
notification letter / email as detailed in paragraph 4.1.

A notice of the consultation also appeared on the consultation page of the
council’s web site (see Appendix 2).

Other publicity

4.6

4.7

4.8

A number of pages on the Cheshire East Council website provided information
and links to the consultation. These pages included:

e The homepage (in the ‘have your say’ section): www.cheshireeast.gov.uk
e The Cheshire East Local Plan page: www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/localplan

A press release was issued; informing people of the consultation (Last chance
to comment on marina and homes plan). A copy of the press release is
included in Appendix 3.

An item relating to the consultation on the Brooks Lane Development
Framework SPD was also included in the Strategic Planning Update (February
2020 edition). The Strategic Planning Update is sent to all town and parish
councils and Council Members in Cheshire East. A copy is also published on
the Council’'s website and included in Appendix 4.

3
OFFICIAL


http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/localplan

4.9

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.1

6.2

6.3

Page 65

News articles relating to the consultation were published, including:

e Marina Masterplan Comes Under Fire (Winsford and Middlewich
Guardian, 21 January 2020);

e Have your say on homes and marina vision for Brooks Lane (Winsford and
Middlewich Guardian, 29 January 2020).

Comments could be submitted in a number of ways:

e Using the online consultation portal, linked from the council’s website;

e By email to locaplan@cheshireeast.gov.uk; or

e By post to Strategic Planning (Westfields), C/O Municipal Buildings, Earle
Street, Crewe CW1 2BJ.

Printed copies of consultation response forms were available for people to
take away from the council’s offices at Westfields, Sandbach and the locations
listed in paragraph 3.3. The response form is shown in Appendix 4.

Information on how to submit comments was included on the consultation
portal; the public notice; in the foreword of the printed and PDF versions of the
draft SPD; and on the printed comments form.

In total, 21 comments from 21 parties were received during the consultation
period. A further three comments from two consultees were late submissions
received after the closing date of the consultation. These comments can be
viewed on the consultation portal at https://cheshireeast-
consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/spd/brookslanedevelopmentframework

The comments received covered a wide range of topics and issues. However
the key matters raised in the feedback related to:

e Provision of infrastructure on the site
e Improvements to highways, particularly access into the site
e Provision of a train station

e The relationship of new housing with existing retained employment uses
on the site

A full summary of the key issues raised alongside the council’s response and
how the SPD has been amended as a result is set out in Appendix 5.

4
OFFICIAL


mailto:locaplan@cheshireeast.gov.uk
https://cheshireeast-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/spd/brookslanedevelopmentframework
https://cheshireeast-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/spd/brookslanedevelopmentframework

Page 66

address Environment and Neighbourhood
Services

1st Floor, Westfields

c/o Municipal Buildings

Earle Street

CREWE

CW1 2B

01270 685893

localplan@cheshireeast gov.uk

www cheshireeast gov.uk

DATE: 22/01/2020 OUR REF: BLDF

Cheshire East Local Plan - update on planning policy preparation

“ou have received this letter because, accordingto our records, you have previously
responded toa Local Plan consultation or you have been asked to be kept informed about
the development of planning policies in Cheshire East.

| am writing to update you on two matters, firstly, progresswith the Council's Site
Allocations and Development Policies Document (SADPD') and, secondly, to notify you
that the Council has published a final draft masterplan forthe Brooks Lane site in
Middlewich for public consultation.

SADPD

The SADPD is the second part to the Council's Local Plan. It will set out detailed, non-
strategic planning policies to support the delivery ofthe Local Plan Strateqy adopted in
2017

As you may know, sixweeks of consultation took place on the Publication version of the
SADPD between 19 August and 30 September last year. The Council received over 2,700
representations and because of this significant level of feedback, it is now expectedthat a
decision will be made duringthe summer aboutthe next step towards the Plan’s
examination.

Careful consideration is being given to all ofthe comments received about the Plan
including the need for any further changes to its proposed policies and allocations.

Brooks Lane. Middlewich - Draft Development Framework (masterplan)

In line with the council's adopted Local Plan Strategy, a development framewaork
(masterplan) supplementary planning document ('SPD') has been prepared to support the
delivery of the strategic development location at Brooks Lane, Middlewich (reference LPS
43).

5
OFFICIAL



Page 67

Aninitial draft of the development framework SPD was consulted on in January / February
2019, A final draft version ofthe SPD has now been prepared, alongside a report of
consultation which summarises the comments receivedtothe initial draft SPD and how
the final version of the document has been amended in the light of this feedback.

The council is now seeking views on the final draft SPD priorto it being considered for
adoption as a SPD and the report of consultation. As a SPD, its guidance would need to
betakeninto account as a material consideration in deciding relevant planning
applications affectingthe site.

The consultation period begins on the 22 January and ends at 5pm on the 04 March 2020.
The document will be available to view on line at www.cheshireeast gov.ukfocalplan , at

Middlewich Library (Lewin Street, Middlewich, CW10 9AS) and at the following Council
Offices duringtheir normal opening hours:

e Delamere House, Delamere Street, Crewe, Cheshire, CW1 2J7;
¢« Macclesfield Town Hall, Macclesfield, Cheshire, SK10 1EA; and
« Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach, CW11 1HZ

Comments forms are available at the above locations. We would encourage you to
respond using the consultation portal on our website. Altemnatively you can e-mail your
views to localplan@cheshireeast.gov.uk or send comments by post to Strategic Planning
(Westfields) C/O Municipal Buildings, Earle Street, Crewe, CW1 2BJ.

Please note that the deadline for the receipt of comments is 5pm on the 04 March
2020.

Your personal data will be processed in line with our privacy notice and your name and
comments will be published and made available to view on the consultation portal.

Further information can be obtained from the Council's website or by contacting the
Strategic Planning team on 01270 685893 or by e-mailing localplan@cheshireeast gov.uk

Yours sincerely

Jeremy Owens
Development Planning Manager

6
OFFICIAL



@ Follow up. Completed on 22-Jan-2020.

Fram: LOCAL PLAN Sent: Wed 22/01/2020 11:26
To: LOCAL PLAN
Co
Subject: [OFFICIAL] Cheshire East Local Plan - Update on planning policy preparation
You have received this e-mail because, according to our records, you have previously responded to a Local Plan consultation or you have been asked to be kept informed about the development of planning policies in Cheshire East &
-

| am writing to update you on two matters, firstly, progress with the Council’s Site Allocations and Development Policies Document (SADPD) and, secondly, to notify you that the Council has published a final draft masterplan for the Brooks
Lane site in Middlewich for public consultation.

SADPD
The SADPD is the second part to the Council's Local Plan. It will 5t out detailed, non-strategic planning policies to support the delivery of the Local Plan Strategy adopted in 2017.

As you may know, six weeks of consultation took place on the Publication version of the SADPD between 19 August and 30 September last year. The Council received over 2,700 representations and because of this significant level of
feedback, it is now expected that a decision will be made during the summer about the next step towards the Plan’s examination.

Careful consideration is being given to all of the comments received about the Plan including the need for any further changes to its proposed policies and allocations.

Brooks Lane, Mi ich - Draft Dy P! 1t F k (masterplan)

In line with the council's adopted Local Plan Strategy, a development framework (masterplan) supplementary planning document (‘SPD’) has been prepared to support the delivery of the strategic development location at Brooks Lane,
Middlewich (reference LPS 43}

An initial draft of the development framework SPD was consulted on in January / February 2019. A final draft version ofthe SPD has now been prepared, alongside a report of consultation which summarises the comments received to the
initial draft SPD and how the final version of the document has been amended in the light of this feedback.

The council is now seeking views on the final draft SPD prior to it being considered for adoption as a SPD and the report of consultation. As a SPD, its guidance would need to be taken into account as a material consideration in deciding
relevant planning applications affecting the site.

The consultation period begins on the 22 January and ends at 5pm on the 04 March 2020. The document will be available to view on line at www.cheshireeast. gov.ukflocalplan, at Middlewich Library {Lewin Street, Middlewich, CW10 9AS)
and at the following Council Offices during their normal cpening hours:

. Delamere House, Delamere Street, Crewe, Cheshire, CW1 2JZ;

Macclesfield Town Hall, Macclesfield, Cheshire, SK10 1EA; and

' Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach, CW11 1HZ

Comments forms are available at the above locations. We would encourage you to respond using the consultation portal on our website. Alternatively you can e-mail your views to localplan@cheshireeast.gov.uk or send comments by post
to Strategic Planning (Wesffields) C/O Municipal Buildings, Earle Street, Crewe, CW1 2BJ

Please note that the deadline for the receipt of comments is 5pm on the 04 March 2020.

Your personal data will be processed in line with our privacy notice and your name and comments will be published and made available to view on the consultation portal.
Further information can be obtained from the Council's website or by contacting the Strategic Planning team on 01270 888893 or by e-mailing localplan@cheshireeast. gov.uk
Jeremy Owens

Development Planning Manager

Strategic Planning team
Wesffields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach, CW11 1HZ

7
OFFICIAL

g9 abed



Page 69

Ato Z site index

Enter Keywords O, searcn

I want to find...

Jobs at the Counclt b3 Library books to renew or reserve b3 Care and support for children and adults >
Payments to the Councll > Councll Tax > Housing >
Bins and recyding > Benefits entitlements > Leisure and culture >
Planning and planning applications > Business and Business Rates > Births, marriages and deatns >
schools and education > Roadworks and hignway services > Rangers and outdoor recreation >
Counxil and democracy b2 Car parks and parking > Environment >
Bus timetables and trave! information >
28/01/2020 - Stay active during the colder months >
28/01/2020 - Last cnance to comment on marina and homes plan b4

24/01/2020-Cheshire East Council unvells new deputy cabinet member

22/01/2020 - Council recognises and celebrates foster carers' iong >
service
20/01/2020 - Year 8 HPV vaccinations to take place >

[ Public Notices | Media Hub >>
Food waste collections

Find out more about our food caddy deliveries.

Have your say THEVOiCE

Consultations

+ Community Governance Review Part one - coses at 5pm 31 january 2020

The new Cheshire East Coundll resident magazine

= SE[\ID Survey to Dafent"ca[ers - closes S5pm on 31 january 2020

g
P
- Brooks Lane, Middlewich Draft Development Framework - closes 5pm on the 4 March 2020 i (-,(
|
| V

/ —

- Join tne digital Influence panel

Planning applications

Live Well Chesnire East offers a range of services

« Comment on a current planning application e :
e - 50 you can find support, care and social

More consultations activities for yourself or a loved one.

Contact Social media ( Cheshire East )
: Family
- Contact the council - .. Information
R——— (w] fl@]ee]in] (N1 Service
Otner social media channels Cheshire East Famll information Service
8

OFFICIAL



Page 70

Appendix 3: Press releases

Home / Councll and Democracy / Councll Information / Media Hub / Medla releases / 28/01/2020 - Last chance to comment on marina and homes plan

Still time to comment on potential homes, rail and marina
developments
28 January 2020

Afinal round of public consultation Is taking place to help shape a proposed housing, open space and marina project - which also
Includes hopes for a renewed passenger rail service In the borough.

The Brooks Lane area of Middlewich is earmarked for a range of new development opportunities, with aspirations for
reintroducing passenger rall services to the town. Both Cheshire East Councll and Cheshire West and Chester Councll have
expressed support for the re-opening of the Sandbach-Middlewich-Nortnwich line for passenger services.

While this Is not within the gift of local councils, the autnorities will continue to work 4 X,
with Network Rall, Transport for the North and the Cheshire and Warrington Local '
Enterprise Partnersnip to progress this.

Identified as a potentlal development site within the Cheshire East Local Plan
Strategy, the Brooks Lane supplementary planning document details a vision to see
an additional 200 homes, @ marina, pudlic open space and cyding and walking routes.

Residents and all Interested parties have until 4 March 2020 to express thelr views on
the decument, which shows how these development proposals progress.This Is the
last round of consultation before a final blueprint is agreed and put before the
council. Once adopted, the masterplan will become an important consideration
whenever the councll has to determine relevant planning applications.

The final draft masterplan and Its assoclated statement of consultation is available to
view on the Cheshire East Councll consultation portal

Itis also avallable for viewing at:

- Westfields, Middlewicnh Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ;
+ Delamere House, Delamere Street, Crewe CW1 2JZ;
- Macclesfleld Town Hall, Macclesfield SK10 1EA.

You can also comment by ematling: localplan@cheshireeast.gov.uk or In writing to the Spatial Planning Team, Cheshire East
Councll, Municipal Bulldings, Earle Street, Crewe CW1 28).

9
OFFICIAL



Page 71

Appendix 4: Consultation portal / consultation
response form and extract from strategic
planning update newsletter

Consultation Portal Accessibility | Privacy | Home | Contact

Cheshire E@_
Council?

| Y| /};‘5 Loﬂinlﬁeg'sm} &; WlmSaidWM?i oltelp = Pri

Consuttation Home >Planning Planning Do ts >Brooks Lane (Mi i SPD
Brooks Lane (Mi ich) L F SPD
Brooks L i i Planning Document (' SPD)
In line with the Council's adopted Local Plan Strategy, 3 planning document ('SPD’) has jvery of the at Brooks Lane. Middiewich (reference LPS 43).
Views are now being invited on the SPDandits report of consultation.

An initi lted on in January ! February 2019. A final version of the SPD has now been prepared, longside 3 rgon of consultation which recaived to the initial draft SPD and how the final
wersion of the document has been amended in the light of this feadback.

The period for making comments wil run between Wednesday 22 January and Spm on Wednesday 04 March 2020.
Consultation Documents
The Brooks Lane k P regort of consultation and Strategic Screening As available to dovload using the fink below.

+ Brooks Lane Development Framework SPD, report of consultation and Strategic Environmental Screening Assessment
- Brooks Lane Development Framework SPD Public Notice

Submitting your views
i ion portal s our pr for submitting responses. but you can also respond:-

By e-mail: to localplan@cheshireeast gov.uk
By post: Strategic Planning (Westfields), C/C Municipal Buidings, Earle Strest, Crewe CW1 28
Please make sure that your comments reach us by Wednasday 04 March 2020. We are not able o accept comments; you ide us with your name 2

Your in Bne with our o g Privacy Notice, which is available on the councif's website. Your name and comments will be published and made available to view on the consultation portal

"N "VEWEnd Comment a
/

‘LEventlnfﬂmib'un || Supporting Documents || All Comments

Access: (i Login required
Status: % open (From 22101/20 06:00 to 04/0320 17.00)
Privacy: If you take part: your name may be displayed. your isplayed, your town/city will not be shown
iption: Brooks Lar Framework ng Document (SPD) has been produced to guide development of the strategic location (LPS 43) in the adopted Local Plan Strategy
Organisation: Cheshire East Council
Contact Name: Spatial Planning Team
Contact Email: localpian@cheshireeast gov.uk
Contact Telephone: 01270 835383
Other Contact Westfieids Middlewich Road Sandbach Cheshire CW11 1HZ

Subject: Locsl development plans, Piznning (town and country), L Local

‘Sharing Toole What do thes do?

53 Facebook [ Twmer 8 Defcious 7 Dlgg € redat @ StumokeUpon

10
OFFICIAL



Page 72

Cheshire Ea%.

Council =

Cheshire East Local Plan
Brooks Lane Development Framework (Masterplan)
Supplementary Planning Document - Comments Form

Please return to: | Strategic Planning (Westfields)
CfO Municipal Buildings, Earle Street, Crewe CW1 2BJ or by email to
localplan@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Please return by: | Wednesday 04 March 2020

This comment form has two paris:
» Part A — Personal details.
» Part B — Your representation(s).

Comments Form Part A: Personal Details

Personal Details™ Agent's Details (if applicable)
* If an agent is appointed, please complete only the Title, Name and Organisation
in column 1 but complate the full contact details of the agent in column 2.

Title

First Mame

Last Name
Joh Title
(where relevant)

Organisation
[where relevant)

Address Line 1

Address Line 2

Address Line 3

Address Line 4

Postcode

Telephone Number

| | | |
| | | |
Email Address [ | | ‘
| | | |

[where relevant)

Your Reference No.
(if knowm)

Please complete a separate Part B form for each comment that you would like to make. This response
form provides enough space for two comments but please copy and attach further part B forms if required.

For further assistance in making commenis please contact the Strategic Planning Team at
localplan@cheshireeast.gov.uk or by telephone on 01270 685853.

11
OFFICIAL



Page 73

Comment Form Part B: Brooks Lane SPD Comment Form

Mame and Office Lise Only
Organisation: P

Q1. Which section of the document are you commenting on?

Page / Chapter / Paragraph / Figure
(please delete as appropriate and state which):

Q2. What is your overall view on this section? (please tick one box)

O Support O Object O Comment only

Q3. Please set out your comments or views on this section:

12
OFFICIAL



Page 74

Strategic planning update

This page provides regular updates on planning policy matters affecting Cheshire East, including Brownfield Register >

- progress on the council's Local Plan Local Plan Public Notices >
- other research, guidance and projects carried out by the council's Strategic Planning Team, and . .

Spatial planning update
+ neighbourhood planning activity taking place across the borough.

Airport Planning >
February 2020 bulletin - edition 17 Local Development Orders >

LDOs;
Keeping you informed about planning palicy matters in the borough { )

Cheshire East Local Plan »
Keyboard navigation: use the spacebar to display further information. Planning Policy Documents >

Index and Price List

Site Allocations and Development Policies Document view v Research and Evidence >
N Strategic Plannin; bd
Crewe Hub Area Action Plan view v g &
Saved and Other Palicies >
Brooks Lane Development Framework, Middlewich close ¥

In line with the council's adopted Local Plan Strategy (LPS), a development framework (masterplan) Rate this age

supplementary planning decument (SPD) has been prepared to support the delivery of the
strategic development location at Brooks Lane, Middlewich (reference LPS 43). We value your feedback. How do

) you rate this information?
An initial draft of the development framework was consulted on in January and February 2019. A

final draft version of the SPD has now been prepared which also incorporates a report of
consultation summarising the comments received to the initial draft SPD and amendments to itin J °
Good OK

the light of this feedback. Poor

The council is now seeking views on the final draft SPD prior to it being considered for adoption
and the report of consultation. As a SPD , its guidance would need to be taken into account as a
material consideration in deciding relevant planning applications affecting the site

The consultation runs between 22 January and 4 March 2020. Further information can be found on
the Local Plan Consultation Portal.

13
OFFICIAL



Consultee
Ref

Summary of key issues including where the
comment relates

Response to issues raised

Modification(s)
required

BLDF 3 —
Private
Individual

1. Missed opportunity to have a road linking
Brooks Lane site to the new Middlewich
Eastern bypass. If Brooks Lane Bridge cannot
be altered then make it 2 ways, then a second
exist point added along the A533.

2. Plan needs to consider supporting
infrastructure including schools etc.

3. A bus route should be included along Brooks
Lane.

1. The development framework identifies the
potential for highway improvements to the
Brooks Lane Canal Bridge and the Junction of
Brooks Lane and Kinderton Street. Point E of
the site specific principles of development for
the strategic location (LPS 43) makes reference
to contributions towards highways
improvements.

2. The Local Plan Strategy (LPS) when it
established the Brooks Lane site as a strategic
location (LPS 43) considered matters in relation
to infrastructure through the preparation of an
Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Policy wording
contained in the site principles for LPS 43
(which the Brooks Lane Development
Framework seeks to supplement), includes
requests for contributions towards, education,
health and highways infrastructure. This will be
considered on a case by case basis for planning
application(s) submitted on the site.

3. There are existing bus routes in close proximity
to the site along Lewin Street (services 37 / 42)
Service 42 runs along Kinderton Street also. As
noted in section 5.1.3 of the draft SPD — all
‘major’ development proposals on the site
should be accompanied by a transport
assessment and consider the need for a travel
plan.

1. No modification(s)
required

2. No madification(s)
required

3. No madification(s)
required

14
OFFICIAL

G) abed



BLDF 4 —
Private
Individual

. Support for the development.

1. Noted

. No madification(s)

required

BLDF 5 —
Private
Individual

. Small developments have been taking place

for decades with no thought to improving the
infrastructure of the town. Infrastructure needs
to be built before any future developments
take place.

. Brooks Lane is difficult to exit due to the

weight of traffic. There should be multiple exits
from the site.

. Train station is a great idea but will need to

include a large car park and cycle storage.

. Cycle paths should be included in the Plan.
. Alongside HS2 facility at Wimboldsley —

impact on both sides of the town.

1. The Local Plan Strategy (LPS) when it
established the Brooks Lane site as a strategic
location (LPS 43) considered matters in relation
to infrastructure through the preparation of an
Infrastructure Delivery Plan. The intention of the
masterplan is to assist in the co-ordination of
development and having appropriate regard to
place making requirements across the site. The
construction of the Middlewich Eastern Bypass
is a major piece of planned infrastructure that
will benefit the town.

2. The development framework identifies the

potential for highway improvements to the
Brooks Lane Canal Bridge and the Junction of
Brooks Lane and Kinderton Street. Point E of
the site specific principles of development for
the strategic location (LPS 43) makes reference
to contributions towards highways
improvements.

3. Noted.

4. The BLDF makes appropriate references

throughout the document to cycle links to
connect existing and proposed development in
the BLDF area.

5. The BLDF has been developed in response to
the requirement of a policy in an adopted Local
Plan (policy LPS 43).

. No maodification(s)

required

. No maodification(s)

required

. Reference to

‘cycle’ parking
added to section
5.1.2 when making
reference to the
train station
requirements

. No madification(s)

required

. No maodification(s)

required

15

OFFICIAL

9/ abed



BLDF 6 —
Private
Individual

. Support for regeneration but note that the town

is at capacity for schools and general
infrastructure.

. Too many houses going everywhere.
. Leisure facilities are necessary
. People have to travel to industrial estates for

work, most people not able to cycle to work
due to poor cycle routes and over congested
roads.

. The Local Plan Strategy (LPS) when it

established the Brooks Lane site as a strategic
location (LPS 43) considered matters in relation
to infrastructure through the preparation of an
Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Site specific
principles of development for the strategic
location (LPS 43) make reference to the need
for contributions towards highways, education
and health infrastructure contributions.

. The BLDF has been developed in response to

the requirement of policy LPS 43 in the Local
Plan Strategy. LPS 43 notes that the Brooks
Lane site, as a strategic location, is anticipated
to deliver around 200 homes.

. Section 5.1.2 of the masterplan supports the

provision of small scale leisure facilities

. This is a general point. The BLDF seeks

improvements to pedestrian and cycling
connections.

. No madification(s)

required

. No modification(s)

required.

. No modifications

required

. No modifications

required

16

OFFICIAL

) ) abed



BLDF 7 —
Private
Individual

1. Concern over more traffic with proposal for
new homes.

2. There is a need to build the Middlewich
Eastern Bypass first.

1. As noted in section 5.1.3 of the draft SPD — all
‘major’ development proposals on the site
should be accompanied by a transport
assessment. Point E of the site specific
principles of development for the strategic
location (LPS 43) makes reference to

contributions towards highways improvements.
The detailed traffic impacts of any development

proposals and necessary mitigation measures
will need to be addressed at a planning
application stage.

2. Planning Committee resolved to approve the

Middlewich Eastern Bypass (planning reference

18/5833c). The current programme (subject to
planning and final funding approvals) is for the

main construction works to start in 2021 with an
estimated 30 month construction period. A new
planning application has been registered for the

proposed additional areas associated with the
new road scheme but not yet determined (ref
20/2164C)

. No madification(s)

required.

. No maodification(s)

required.

BLDF 8 —
Environment
Agency

1. We support the proposals in the document and
are pleased to note that the comments in our
previous letter have been included in the final
draft. We have no additional comments to
make.

1. Noted

. No madification(s)

required

BLDF 9 —
Coal
Authority

1. No specific comments to make on the final
draft of the document.

1. Noted

. No maodification(s)

required.

17

OFFICIAL

g/ abed



BLDF 10 —
United
Utilities

. United Utilities (“UU”) wishes to highlight that

we will seek to work closely with the Council to
develop a coordinated approach for the
delivery of the Brooks Lane allocation.

. UU highlight the free pre-application service

for drainage strategies and water supply
requirements.

. Previous response should be read in

conjunction with this one. UU have noted the
changes made to the SPD following on from
our previous response and we are pleased
with the approach to sustainable drainage
within the document and the inclusion of
linkage between green infrastructure and
surface water management.

. This representation will look to focus on how

phasing will interact with drainage, ensuring
the canal is fully utilised to discharge the
developments surface water. Approach to
phasing - the experience of UU is that where
sites are in multiple ownership, the
achievement of sustainable development can
be compromised by developers/applicants
working independently. It is integral that any
proposed phasing and infrastructure schedule
ensures each development phase has
unfettered access to available infrastructure.
The SPD could be used to control the
approach to phasing to ensure sustainable
drainage is ensured.

PN

Noted

Noted

Noted

Noted, see proposed maodification to the SPD.
Given that they would not have control over the
whole Brooks Lane site area, it would be
impossible for any individual applicant
promoting a scheme on part of the area to
identify with any certainty how other
development schemes would come forward
across other parts of the area by way of a
phasing plan. However the underlying objective
of UU, to best achieve sustainable drainage
solutions across the site, is addressed in the
additional wording proposed in BLDF.

. No madification(s)

required.

. No modification(s)

required.

. No madification(s)

required.

. Additional

paragraph added
to section 5.2 as
point 5 — “In line
with policy SE 13
Flood Risk ‘Flood
Risk and Water
Management’ all
development
should manage
surface water
effectively, follow
the hierarchy of
drainage options
for surface water,
where possible,
and not
unnecessarily
prejudice access
to sustainable
drainage
infrastructure
across the site”.

18

OFFICIAL

6/ abed



BLDF 10 —
United
Utilities
cont...

4. Cont.. looking at the Phasing Strategy in Part 6

of the SPD, there is still concern that access to
the canal will be restricted and block the
discharge of surface water, which is a more
sustainable option than the public sewer.
Development proposals within the allocation
should follow the hierarchy of drainage options
for surface water with the expectation that no
surface water will discharge to public sewer.
Such requirements are supported by Policy
SE13 in the adopted ‘Local Plan Strategy’ and
ENV15 of the draft ‘Site Allocations and
Development Policies Document’. Opportunities
for more sustainable options in the surface water
hierarchy may be compromised if an overarching
Phasing Plan is not produced to provide a
degree of certainty as proposals are brought
forward. We suggest the following text to be
added to ‘6.1 Summary and Phasing’, which can
be amended to reflect any local
circumstances/preferences:

"A comprehensive Phasing Plan shall be as part
of any planning application that is submitted
within the SPD boundary. The Phasing Plan
shall outline how it interacts with adjoining
phases and must be updated to reflect any
change in circumstances as the allocation are
brought forward. The development shall only be
carried out in accordance with the approved
Phasing Plan after approval from the Local
Planning Authority. To align with the Phasing
Plan, updated strategies, like the surface water
drainage strategy, must be submitted as part of
any planning application”.

19
OFFICIAL

08 abed



BLDF 10 — . Moving forward, we respectfully request that 5. Noted . No modification(s)
United the Council and associated developers required.
Utilities continue to consult with United Utilities
cont... regarding development as part of the Brooks

Lane SPD. We are keen to continue to ensure

that all new growth can be delivered

sustainably.
BLDF 11 — . Support the development as preferto liveina | 1. Noted . No madification(s)
Private residential rather than an industrial area 2. Noted required.
individual . Feel that Middlewich does need development | 3. The development framework identifies the . No madification(s)

and welcome any changes to improve the
area.

. Concerns over traffic congestion and the only

exit being at the ‘Boars Head’ end of Brooks
Lane. There must be a solution of reducing
the traffic by creating alternative exits to the
site.

potential for highway improvements to the
Brooks Lane Canal Bridge and the Junction of
Brooks Lane and Kinderton Street. Point E of
the site specific principles of development for
the strategic location (LPS 43) makes reference
to contributions towards highways
improvements.

required.

. No madification(s)

required.

20

OFFICIAL

T8 abed



BLDF 12 —
Thomas
Hardie
Commercials
Limited

. Previously made representations as to why the

document was unsound and unsustainable

. Even with minor changes made, the final

document is unsound and unsustainable and the
document should be adopted by the Council.

. Thomas Hardie Commercials Limited site ought

to be allocated for development alongside the
rest of the strategic development area.

. Draw attention to para 180 & 182 of the National

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) — proposed
residential use is not appropriate and cannot be
integrated effectively with existing uses, Despite
the addition of a new section on development
parameters and delivery considerations there is
inadequate protection for the existing
employment / industrial uses retained adj to the
residential development. THCL operates 24
hours a day, 365 days a year and so trips could
pass by proposed residential development
impacting on health safety and noise levels

. THCL support removal of extra care housing

which was previously considered around the
proposed train station location.

. With the location of the train station, residents

will pass by Road Beta directly adjacent to the
employment area.

. Representations made to the initial draft BLDF were

considered in the development of the final draft
BLDF.

. The Council considers the final version of the BLDF

capable of adoption and prepared in line with
relevant regulations and the Council’'s Statement of
Community Involvement.

. The BLDF has been developed to support policy

LPS 43 — Brooks Lane, Middlewich. The strategic
location requires the production of a masterplan to
support the future development of the site and the
masterplan is considered to appropriately reflect the
policy context set by the Local Plan Strategy. The
identification of residential development on the
Thomas Hardy site is not currently considered
appropriate because it falls within an area of
industrial uses to the east of Road Beta which are
expected to remain in situ for the foreseeable future.
However, the BLDF does not represent a hard and
fast blueprint for the area in the long term.
Circumstances may change and the intentions of
individual landowners may alter over time providing
opportunities to explore further development
schemes in the future.

. The development framework appropriately considers

a number of broad parameters for the site whereas
future planning application(s) will provide additional
and detailed justification. This detailed information
will be considered on their own merits against the
policies contained within the Development Plan. The
framework includes a section on development
parameters which sets out the need for additional
assessments in support of future planning
applications on the site.

Noted

. The location of the train station appropriately reflects

the outcomes of initial appraisal work by the Local
Enterprise Partnership called the Mid Cheshire and
Middlewich Rail Feasibility Study.

. No madification(s)

required

. No madification (s)

required

. No madification (s)

required

. No madification (s)

required.

. No madification (s)

required.

. No modification (s)

required.

21

OFFICIAL

28 obed



BLDF 12 — 7. Increase traffic (including pedestrians and 7. There are references in section 5.1.3 (access 7. No maodification(s)
Thomas cyclists raise safety concerns when coupled parameter) in the development framework to required.
Hardie with high intensity industrial and employment development supporting appropriate pedestrian | 8. No modification(s)
Commercials traffic on Brooks Lane. and cycle access to try and secure user safety. required.
Limited cont.. | 8. Consider buffer planting will be insufficient to . Section 5.1.4 of the development framework
mitigate the effects of disturbance from refers to buffer planting and landforming used to
employment / industrial uses, particularly at secure the future amenity of residents whilst
sensitive times. supporting the continued operation of existing
businesses on the site. The adequacy or
otherwise of specific noise mitigation measures
will need to be judged at a planning application
stage.
BLDF 13 — 1. The importance of promoting healthy 1. Noted 1. No modification(s)
Sport communities is a key focus of the NPPF in required.
England achieving sustainable development. Sport
England’s current strategy ‘Towards an Active
Nation’ builds on the Government’s sports
strategy ‘Sporting Future: A New Strategy for
an Active Nation which, alongside
participation, focusses on how sport changes
lives and is a force for social good.
http://www.sportengland.org/planningforsport
22

OFFICIAL

cg abed



BLDF 13 — 2. Active Design - Sport England advocates the 2. Noted and change proposed. Section 5.1.3 has
Sport concept of “active design” to promote the role 3.  See response to point 2 (above). been amended to
England of sport and physical activity in creating add ‘Active
cont... healthy and sustainable communities Design — “The
https://www.sportengland.org/facilities-and- future
planning/active-design/ development of
the site should be
. Sport England generally welcomes the supported by
opportunities presented as part of the active design
masterplan, however suggest that the vision principles
and the opportunities for the area are (advocated by
developed further to encompass and ensure Sport England) to
that a key element of the SPD is the creation support physical
of healthy and sustainable communities. Sport activity in
England would request that embedding the creating health
principles of Active Design and using the 10 and sustainable
principles to guide further detailed communities”.
development proposals would be beneficial See modification
and recommend liaising with Sport England as (2) noted above.
the design proposals are progressed.
23

OFFICIAL

78 obed


https://www.sportengland.org/facilities-and-planning/active-design/
https://www.sportengland.org/facilities-and-planning/active-design/

BLDF 13 -
Sport
England
cont...

4. Additional Demand for Sport. - The occupiers

of new development, especially residential, will
generate demand for sporting provision. The
existing provision within an area may not be
able to accommodate this increased demand
without exacerbating existing and/or predicted
future deficiencies. Therefore, Sport England
considers that new developments should
contribute towards meeting the demand that
they generate through the provision of on-site
facilities and/or providing additional capacity
off-site. The level and nature of any provision
should be informed by a robust evidence base
such as an up to date Sports Facilities
Strategy, Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) or other
relevant needs assessment. This is supported
by the Governments National Planning Policy
Framework (paragraph 96).

(

4. Noted, the need for contributions for sports
facilities would be considered on a case by case
basis in line with policy SC2 ‘indoor and outdoor
sports facilities’ of the Local Plan Strategy. Any
development proposals would still need to be
assessed against all relevant development plan
policies.

24
DFFICIAL

4. No modification(s)
required

Gg abed



BLDF 13 -
Sport
England
cont...

5. The masterplan suggests the site will

accommodate initially 200 new homes in the
short term and a further 250 homes in the long
term. This will therefore give rise to demand
for sport facilities. It is not clear whether
existing facilities are adequate enough
(facilities, in the right location and of the right
guality) and have enough capacity to absorb
this additional demand. Potential costs
provided by the representation. The applicant,
in consultation with the Council should assess
whether:

a. Existing facilities within the
Analysis Area can accommodate
the additional demand; or

b. Improvements to existing facilities
are required to build in the
additional demand; or

C. A contribution towards planned
new provision is required

d. More information on the Sports
England website.

5. Noted, the need for contributions for sports
facilities would be considered on a case by
case basis in line with policy SC2 ‘indoor and
outdoor sports facilities’ of the Local Plan
Strategy and other relevant policies in the
Local Plan.

5. No modification(s)
required.

BLDF 14 —
Historic
England

1. No comments to make on the document

content.

1. Noted

1. No modification(s)
required

25
OFFICIAL

9g abed



BLDF 15 —
Canal &
Rivers Trust

1. Paragraph 5.1.1 —relates to the core elements

of the Masterplan Framework. The canal
corridor is well represented in the contextual
appraisal/evaluation section of the document;
however, the canal is not really referenced in
paragraph 5.1.1 (apart from the potential
marina). We would welcome the core
overarching masterplan elements being
expanded to include enhanced
pedestrian/cycle routes though the site to the
canal corridor & providing an active frontage,
connectivity and engagement with the canal
corridor (not just to the Marina). Figure 18
should also be expanded to reflect these
changes.

. Figures 20 and 21 Access Plan and Green

Infrastructure Plan — the legend for both
figures contain an error with ‘along’ duplicated
in the ‘pedestrian access along along (sic)
Canal Lock'. It is noted that Figure 21 does not
appear to include any ‘new/enhanced
pedestrian & cycle route’, despite this being
included in the legend.

. Paragraph 5.3.1 —specific reference should be

made to ‘Providing an active frontage,
connectivity and engagement with the canal
corridor’. Figure 22 should also reflect this.
The canal should not be a backdrop to
development, but be fully integrated. We
would not support a rear/side boundary
fencing to the canal. If canal frontages cannot
be provided, then creating a broader green
corridor along the water and preventing the
need for the multiple layers of boundary
treatment would be preferable.

1. Noted and change proposed
2. Noted and change proposed
3. Noted and change proposed

1. Additional text

added to 5.1.1
(point 6) to read
“alongside
enhanced routes,
connectivity and
engagement with
the canal”.

. The duplicated text

in figure 20 & 21
has been
removed.

. Additional text

added to 5.3.1
(point 4) to read
“alongside
enhanced routes,
connectivity and
engagement with
the canal”. &
additional text
added to section
5.3.2 ‘urban form
principles to read -
“providing an
active frontage,
connectivity and
engagement with
the canal corridor,
where possible”

26
OFFICIAL

/8 abed



BLDF 15 — 4. Paragraph 5.3.2 - relates to Urban Form 4. Noted and change proposed 4. Additional text -
Canal & Principles and includes a section on ‘Canal 5. Noted and change proposed “providing an
Rivers Trust frontage’, however this only relates to the 6. Noted and change proposed active frontage,
cont.... scale of development. This ought to be connectivity and

expanded to clearly state: “New housing engagement with

adjacent to the canal should be laid out to the canal corridor,

provide an active frontage and positive where possible”

engagement with the waterway. A range of added to section

housing types and building heights from 2-3 5.3.2 ‘urban form

storey should be provided”. principles’

. Paragraph 6.1 The summary and phasing

section provides a summary of what is to be 5. The word

provided on the site and mentions ‘provision of ‘potential’ has

a .20 boat marina’ elsewhere this is referred been added to

to as ‘potential provision’. We consider that section 6.1 with

‘potential’ should also be added here to avoid reference to the

ambiguity. provision of a

. Within our previous comments, we mentioned marina.

the reference to the Trust and the incorrect

use of our registered name. It is noted that 6. The document has

Appendix 5 which provides a summary of key been amended to

issues and references states that these have refer to the Canal

been corrected, however we note that the & River Trust

wrong name has been added here and that

there are still numerous references within the

revised document which include ‘s’ to River

and use ‘and’ instead of the ampersand (&).

Please can all references to us be changed to

‘Canal & River Trust’ (i.e with no ‘s’ added or

‘and’ instead of the ampersand (&)). It is

hoped that the above comments and

suggested additions/amendments can be

incorporated into the SPD.

27

OFFICIAL

g abed



BLDF 16 — . Background to National Grid provided. 1. Noted . No madification(s)
National Grid . No comment to make in response to the 2. Noted required
consultation 3. Noted . No modification
. Further guidance provided on development required (s)
considerations concerning the national grid . No madification
network (electricity and gas assets). required (S)
BLDF 17 — . Background to Homes England 1. Noted . No modification (s)
Homes . Homes England does not have any land 2. Noted required
England holdings affected by the consultation and . No modification (s)
therefore we do not propose to make at required
representations at this point.
BLDF 18 — . Support for the document 1. Noted . No modification (s)
Private required
individual
28

OFFICIAL

68 abed



BLDF 19 — 1. Tritax Symmetry is a landowner of sites in the | 1. Noted No modification
Avison Mas6nitude strategic employment allocation 2. The SPD makes clear that the location of (s) required
Young on (LPS 44) and generally supports the final draft the train station car park east of the railway Change point 8
behalf of SPD but provides detailed comments / line would be subject to further investigation of section 5.1.1
Tritax recommendations below as it is the subject of an approved planning to read “potential
Symmetry . New Train Station and Lineside Infrastructure application for employment development. provision of a

— supports the railway station delivery in However, to emphasise this point further it train station car

principle but does not support the proposed is proposed to add to work ‘potential’ to park...” & the

train station car park, outside of the references to a car park east of the train word ‘potential’

masterplan boundary and on land controlled station in section 5.1.1. & 5.3.1. The added to point 5

by Tritax Symmetry. The land also has development of land for employment uses is in section 5.3.1

consent for B1,B2 and B8 (ref 07/1442/REM). important however the provision of a new illustrative

The SPD states that the train station car park rail station with associated facilities is a key masterplan

will extend to approximately 0.6ha. Tritax strategic ambition for the town as set out in

Symmetry acknowledges that LPS 44 states the Local Plan Strategy. As such it is vital

that lineside infrastructure, parking and access that the BLDF, as far as it can, looks to

should be accommodated within the support the return of rail passenger services

Ma6nitude site. However, Ma6nitude is a to the town.

valuable strategic employment allocation and

the delivery of lineside infrastructure in this

location would prevent important employment

floorspace from coming forward, particularly as

the proposed site is already consented for

employment development. Therefore, Tritax

Symmetry strongly requests that the location

of the proposed lineside infrastructure is

revised and is instead accommodated within

the Brooks Lane Masterplan area and on the

same side of the railway line as the entrance

to the train station, so as to not prejudice the

delivery of consented, and prospective,

employment floorspace at Ma6nitude.

29

OFFICIAL

06 abed



BLDF 19 — 3. Financial contributions to the Middlewich 3. Policy LPS 43 (Brooks Lane Middlewich) in the 3. No moadification(s)
Avison Eastern Bypass — Brooks Lane is the only site Local Plan Strategy does not make any specific required.
Young on in Middlewich that does not require reference to the Middlewich Eastern Bypass.
behalf of contributions towards the Middlewich Eastern Therefore, the SPD, as providing supplementary
Tritax Bypass. Tritax Symmetry requests that guidance on policy wording, cannot in itself
Symmetry development within the masterplan area require contributions to the Middlewich Eastern
continued should provide contributions to the bypass. Bypass. However, as noted in section 5.2 of the

SPD, LPS 43 does include reference to

contributions towards highways, education and

health infrastructure. As such, schemes as they

come forward, where it is evident that a

contribution to the bypass is required in line with

the relevant regulations, may be asked to make

a contribution.
BLDF 20 — 1. Natural England do not have any additional 1. Noted 1. No modification
Natural comments to make on the Brooks Lane required
England Masterplan.

30

OFFICIAL

T6 abed



BLDF 21 —
Middlewich
Town
Council

. Middlewich is a town in transition. Industrial

heritage such as the canal does not serve the
community well and is an income stream which
we have not taken advantage of.

. Heritage officer at the town council is working on

the Brine Pump project.

. Heritage is a key part of the Middlewich Vision.

This encompasses a number of projects. The
Middlewich Canalside Masterplan could play a
defining role in the future of Middlewich and
Cheshire East

. In response to each element of the policy:-

a. Delivery of around 200 homes — 10% of
units should be bungalows and the
maximum percentage of social housing
obtained

b. Leisure / community facilities — welcome
contribution to upgrade to Middlewich
Victoria buildings and hall as a connected
community centre

c. Retail facilities to meet local needs — seek a
contribution towards producing a study and
project into the regeneration of Wheelock
Street.

d. Green infrastructure — should be more than
a patch of grass and used to bring the
development into the town. Public Rights of
way should be incorporated into the design
of the masterplan area.

e. Open space — each phase should provide a
Children’s play area and the play areas
should be overlooked.

Noted, the SPD considers the industrial heritage
of the town in its introduction and assessment of
the context for the town.

Noted, the SPD considers the Murgatroyd Brine
Works asking that it is sympathetically restored
with enhanced public access.

Noted.

Noted, in response to the points raised

a) The SPD makes clear in section 5.1.2 that

affordable homes will be required in line with
policy SC5 (Affordable Homes) of the Local
Plan Strategy. Policy SC 4 (Residential Mix)
of the Local Plan Strategy requires a mix of
housing tenures, types and sizes including
meeting the needs of older people.

b) As noted in section 5.2 in the SPD and in line

with policy IN2 of the Local Plan Strategy,
section 106 agreements will only be used,
where appropriate and justified, on a case by
case basis

c) See response to point b (above). Any request

for a contribution will be considered on a case
by case basis in line with the requirements of
policy IN2 of the Local Plan Strategy and the
CIL Regulation 122 tests, namely necessary
to make the development acceptable in
planning terms, directly related to the
development and fairly and reasonably related
in scale and kind to the development.

d) The SPD requires a network of green

infrastructure across the site.

e) Point 4 of policy LPS 43 notes that

development should include the incorporation
of open space, including an equipped
children’s play space.

. No madification(s)

required.

. No madification (s)

required.

. No madification(s)

required.

. No modification (s)

required.

31

OFFICIAL

26 obed



BLDF 21 — Pedestrian and cycle links — concerned that f) Section 5.1.4 Green and Blue Infrastructure
Middlewich residential and industrial traffic will be — includes a section on the provision of
Town sharing Brooks Lane. Cycle routes should pedestrian and cycle connections across
Council offer alternative exits and cycle paths should the Site and connect with the surrounding

also avoid Brooks Lane. Public rights of way pedestrian and cycle network.

should be upgraded. Brooks Lane bridge g) Support for the provision of a marina is

Shg“"j be modified so it can be used as a noted. The references to circa 20 berth

pedestrian route. marina are considered appropriate,

- Marina — M'ddletW'Ch is probably _the most following engagement in the development of

important Junction on the Cheshire ring from the masterplan with an indicative location

Middlewich. A marina is long overdue. identified and tested at a hiah level th h

Provision of a 20 bay marina is inadequate. identiried and tested at a high level throug

The town council would support a 50 bay the SPD.

marina and would consider this an essential .h) Noted. . :

part of the redevelopment of this area. i) References to potential roman roads is

. Land for a new railway station — support for considered to b_e _approprlately termed in the

the position marked on page 46 of the SPD, althoug_h itis acknow[ed_ged that there

masterplan area. are other heritage assets within and

Archaeological potential — should remove adjacent to the site which are also

references to ‘potentially’ when talking about referenced in the document.

roman remains and should refer to industrial j) Reference to highways enhancements is

heritage. The document should considered to be appropriately framed in the

appropriately refer to heritage assets on the document.

site and the design of canal facing houses

need to reflect some of the town’s heritage.

Vehicle access — the masterplan should say,

on page 36, that significant highways

enhancements to the junctions

Wording should be changed to - ‘The future

redevelopment of the Site should be

supported by highways enhancements

which keep in character and heritage of this

Listed bridge and the potential signalisation

of the Brooks Lane Canal Bridge and the

installation of a footbridge for the safety of

Pedestrians’

32

OFFICIAL

cp obed



BLDF 21 —
Middlewich
Town
Council

k. Masterplan should ensure that vehicle
traffic, cyclists and pedestrians are
separated.

I. Footbridge across the canal to allow east
access to Lewin Street.

m. All development should conform to the
Design Guide.

Section 5.1.3 refers to pedestrian
connection points that should be enhanced
to improve user safety.

Noted. The BLDF seeks improvements to
pedestrian and cycle facilities within the site
and also between the site and the
surrounding area. The ability and
justification for a development scheme to
provide for a new footbridge to Lewin Street
would need to be considered at a planning
application stage in the light of the type,
location and scale of the scheme.

The introduction to section 5.3.1 illustrative
masterplan refers to the design framework
being aligned with the requirements of the
Design Guide. The Design Guide will also
be a relevant to the formulation of
development schemes and a material
consideration in the determination of
planning applications.

33

OFFICIAL

v6 abed



BLDF 22 — Represents client who owns land off Sea 1. Noted 1. No modification (s)
Visualise Bank Middlewich 2. Following a detailed assessment and having required
Support residential development on the site been tested through a number of consultation 2. No modification (s)
but the masterplan should recognise the stages - the identification of a short term phase required
development to be available in the short term to meet the Local Plan requirement is 3. No modification (s)
given previous planning application status. considered appropriate in the SPD. required.
In a general response the master plan 3. See response at point (2) above. However, the
represents a very bold concept and changing BLDF describes and acknowledges the
this long-term employment area in the characteristics of the current road network and
manner proscribed will present a significant highlights the need for any development
challenge perhaps especially the reliance proposal to demonstrate an acceptable form of
upon essentially the single transport artery of access. It recognises that access will be a key
Brooks Lane, satisfactory improvements to consideration in determining any planning
the junction with Kinderton Street and the applications promoting significant land use
Sea Bank access appear to us vital and need change in the area.
to synchronise as it were, with the rail
passenger facility.
BLDF 23 — No specific comment to make on the 1. Noted 1. No modification(s)
Coal masterplan. required
Authority

N.B - the following responses were received after the formal consultation closing date.

34

OFFICIAL

G6 abed



BLDF 24 —
Network Rail

1.Network Rail is a statutory consultee for any
planning applications within 10 metres of relevant
railway land (as the Rail Infrastructure Managers
for the railway, set out in Article 16 of the
Development Management Procedure Order) and
for any development likely to result in a material
increase in the volume or a material change in the
character of traffic using a level crossing over a
railway of the Development Management
Procedure Order).Network Rail is also a statutory
undertaker responsible for maintaining and
operating the railway infrastructure. Network Rail
aims to protect and enhance the railway
infrastructure, therefore any proposed
development which is in close proximity to the
railway line or could potentially affect Network
Rail’s specific land interests. Network Rail's
concern with the current text (on Page 36 of the
SPD) is the ambiguity it leaves around whether or
not a development proposal impacts on Network
Rail level crossings. Network Rail would request
that the comments are strengthened to reflect the
Rail Network Operators, Schedule 4 (J) of the
Development Management Procedure Order that
you quote in your letter to the
Council(14/02/19).Suggested amendment:
“Development proposals that could result in a
material increase in the volume, or a material
change in the character of traffic using a level
crossing over the railway, should be supported by
an assessment on the impact in consultation with
Network Rail.” All developers are requested to
engage with Network Rail to understand the impact
of their plans at an early stage of the development
process.

1. Noted and modification proposed

1. Section 5.1.3
(access parameter)
has been amended
with reference to
railway crossings as
follows-
“Development
proposals that could
result in a material
increase in the
volume, or a material
change in the
character of traffic
using a level crossing
over the railway,
should be supported
by an assessment of
the impact on railway
level crossings in
consultation with
Network Rail”.

35

OFFICIAL

96 obed



BLDF 26 —
Network Rail

2. Network Rail has the following additional
comments associated with works proposed on
each side of the rail corridor: Construction activities
having the potential to affect the stability of NR
land &/ or assets and requiring NR Asset
Protection’s prior acceptance: « Excavation works
Construction of piled foundations « Activities
causing vibration « Dewatering « Any intent to direct
the flow water towards NR land ¢ Installing any
soak-away within 30m of NR land ¢ Increasing the
volume of water flowing through the existing culvert
passing beneath operational railway. Other
construction activities requiring NR Asset
Protection’s prior acceptance:* The operation of
any plant & or equipment within a collapse radii of
NR land (not just the railway tracks) Protective
measures required: « To mitigate increased
trespass risk consequent to the local population
increase, the Developer shall finance the upgrade
of the NR boundary fence to a specification agreed
by NR « Vehicle incursion risk to be fully assessed
and mitigation measures constructed to NR’s
satisfaction « Should an acoustic boundary fence
be proposed to shield residents from railway noise,
its maintenance in perpetuity must be financed by
the Local Authority & or Property Management
company, not by individual residents.

2. Noted

2. No madification(s)
required

36

OFFICIAL

/6 abed



BLDF 26 —
Network Rail
cont..

3. + Restrictive covenants to be included
within property deeds preventing residential
owners/ users sited immediately adjacent to
the rail corridor from: - Installing high
intensity security type lighting directed
towards the operational railway that could
potentially compromising railway safety by
affecting the ability of train drivers to safely
sight railway signals - Planting specific
species of trees/ shrubs that have the
potential to affect operational railway use,
and the maintenance of its land -
Constructing new building or structures in
the vicinity of operational railway land
without NR’s prior agreement - Changing
ground levels or drainage that in NR'’s
opinion may lead to additional flows
entering NR land

Queries:

1. Page 35 of report references a ‘Flood Zone’
adjacent to NR land. Is this proposal or existing?
Please supply full details.

2. Page 36 of the report refers to a railway
underpass. Is this a railway underbridge? (Please
note that if construction of a railway underpass -
rather than railway footbridge — is proposed,
given that it would be subject to rail loading, the
structure would have to be designed and
constructed in accordance with Network Rail’s
requirements and be maintained in perpetuity at
the Local Authorities expense. Network Rail is
unlikely to agree to any underpass proposal.)

3. Noted. The content of property deeds are
beyond the control of the Council. Design
measures have already been taken in the SPD
to protect the railway infrastructure. Network
Rail are also able to request planning
conditions are added to planning permissions,
as appropriate, when consulted on planning
applications.

In response to the detailed queries raised

1. Figure 15 (landscape analysis plan) of the
development framework highlights Flood
Zone Areas 2&3 in the area of the
development framework (Sanderson’s
Brook).

2. There is an existing pedestrian subway
running underneath the railway line -
footpath (FP19). The development
framework supports its enhancement but
for continued use as a pedestrian subway.

3. No madification(s)
required

37

OFFICIAL

g6 obed



BLDF 25
Sandbach
Town
Council

1. Issues and opportunities that need to be
addressed e Restricted traffic access over
Brooks Lane canal bridge - this is an old narrow
bridge with one way traffic @ Provision of a site
for a replacement passenger station for
Middlewich e Enhance and respect the Roman
history of Middlewich e Opportunity to enhance
the site of the historic Murgatroyds brine pump
e Visual improvement of the canalside areas as
people enter Middlewich e Need to ensure that
provision of small scale, mixed industrial and
commercial employment provision is retained
within Middlewich.

2. The development framework considers a

phased approach to redevelopment. The first
phase, furthest from the town centre, would
involve the former HQ for Pochins and the
upper level of the Trent and Mersey Canal. This
could involve the creation of a 20 berth canal
marina and approx 200 houses. A critical aspect
of this residential development will be the need
for an effective buffer between the new
residential area and the retained and enhanced
employment area running through to the railway
line. Not sure of the wisdom of linking the new
residential access through to the employment
areas located on Road Beta, it would not be
wise to permit commercial road traffic to access
the residential areas.

1. Noted, the BLDF already addresses the
matters raised in this representation.

2. Noted, the development framework requires
development (particularly residential)
proposals to consider amenity impacts of
surrounding employment areas. Section 5.1.3
(access parameter) notes that the longer term
intention is for Road Beta to accommodate
employment traffic only.

. No madification(s)

required.

. No modification (s)

required.

38

OFFICIAL

66 obed



BLDF 25
Sandbach
Town
Council

3. An area adjacent to the Murgatroyds pump

house is reserved as a possible site of a new
Middlewich railway station - plans are
progressing to upgrade the goods line to
reintroduce passenger trains on the line that
links Sandbach through Middlewich to
Northwich. Parking facilities for the station
would need to be on the other side of the
railway line from the redevelopment with an
enhanced subway linking to both the parking
and existing employment areas.

. Sandbach Town Council strongly supports the

upgrading of the railway line and provision of a
station in Middlewich.

. Later phases of development whilst providing

opportunities for new retail and community
facilities close to the town centre and the canal,
must not be provided at the cost of lost small
employment sites.

Effective visual and noise buffer is required

between the retained employment area and

proposed new housing.

. Support for the provision of a passenger station

in Middlewich

. Need to ensure the later redevelopment of

existing employment areas closer to the town
centre are matched with the provision of new
mixed employment areas elsewhere in
Middlewich.

. Need to ensure that the Roman history of

Middlewich is not damaged during
redevelopment.

0 ~

Noted
Noted

. Noted, the intention of the development

framework is to support the delivery of housing
on the site whilst supporting an acceptable
relationship between housing and existing
employment uses on the site.

. The development framework supports a

suitable landscape buffer and acoustic
mitigation along Road Beta

. Noted
. Noted, Midpoint 18 (or Ma6nitude), a large

strategic employment site, is allocated in the
Local Plan Strategy. The Local Plan Strategy
envisages 70 hectares of land being
developed for employment purposes at this
site by 2030.

. Noted. This is addressed in the BLDF and also

in the Local Plan Strategy under policy LPS
43. Site specific principles of development c, h
and j of the policy refer to how development
proposals should account for the presence of
heritage assets within or adjacent to the site.

. No madification(s)

required

. No modification (s)

required

. No modification (s)

required

. No modification (s)

required

. No modification (s)

required

. No modification (s)

required

. No modification (s)

required

39

OFFICIAL

00T 9abed



Cheshire East Local Plan

Brooks Lane (Middlewich)
Development
Framework -
Supplementary Planning
Document

September 2020

Cheshire E@

CouncilZ




BARTON
WILLMORE

All plans are reproduced from the Ordnance
Survey Map with the permission of the
Controller of HMSO. Crown copyright Reserved.
Licence No. AR152684.

Barton Willmore
Tower 12

18/22 Bridge Street
Spinningfields
Manchester

M3 3BZ

T: 0161 817 4900
E: info@bartonwillmore.co.uk

Desk Top Publishing and Graphic Design by
Barton Willmore

This artwork was printed on paper using fibre
sourced from sustainable plantation wood
from suppliers who practice sustainable
management of forests in line with strict
international standards. Pulp used in its
manufacture is also Elemental Chlorine Free
(ECF).

Barton Willmore Copyright

The contents of this document must not
be copied or reproduced in whole or in
part without the written consent of Barton
Willmore.

Page 102



Page 103

1T INTRODUCTION 4
1.1. THE PURPOSE 4
1.2. THE STUDY 4
1.3 VISION 6
1.4. LOCAL PLANNING CONTEXT 8
2 ASSESSING THE CONTEXT 10
2. HISTORICAL CONTEXT 10
2.2. MIDDLEWICH STRUCTURE 12
2.3. CHANGING CONTEXT 18
2.4. SITE APPRAISAL 20
3 ENGAGEMENT-LED APPROACH 28
31 INVOLVEMENT 28
4 EVALUATION 30
4.1 OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSIDERATIONS 30

5 DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT PARAMETERS 32

51 MASTERPLAN FRAMEWORK 32

5.2 DEVELOPMENT PARAMETERS AND DELIVERY 40
CONSIDERATIONS

5.3 LAYOUT AND APPEARANCE 42

6 CONCLUSION 60

6.1. SUMMARY AND PHASING 60



Page 104

4 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

1

INTRODUCTION

This development framework is the result of a study undertaken by Barton Willmore on behalf of Cheshire East

Council, to provide a strategy for the redevelopment of land at Brooks Lane, Middlewich (the Site). The strategy

proposed has been underpinned by a detailed site and contextual assessment, alongside engagement with a range of

groups, including people who own property and work on the Site, the Council and other relevant stakeholders.

11 PURPOSE

The purpose of the framework is to
unlock the Site’s regeneration benefits,
whilst recognising that there are
existing businesses that may wish to
remain operating on the Site.

The development of this framework is
linked to the adopted Cheshire East
Council Local Plan Strategy

(2017), which has identified the Site as
‘Strategic Location LPS 43: Brooks
Lane, Middlewich’ and addresses the
expectation that its development will
be achieved through a masterplan-led
approach.

It provides guidance to inform the
preparation of development proposals
for the Site, setting out key matters
that proposals should address in order
to achieve high quality new
development that will significantly
enhance the area and benefit the
Town as a whole.

The development framework should
be read alongside the policy
provisions set out in the Local Plan
Strategy, particularly policy LPS 43
(Brooks Lane) Strategic Location.

1.2 THE STUDY

The study has been underpinned by
an analysis of the Site and an
assessment of Middlewich and its
history. At an early stage,
workshop(s) were held with people
who own property and work on the
Site, to understand their views on
redevelopment. Their feedback, and
the feedback of other stakeholders,
helped to inform the preparation of a
preferred masterplan option.

A draft version of the development
framework, which set out the
preferred masterplan option
(consulted on

as a draft Supplementary Planning
Document), was the subject of public
consultation from the 14 January
2019 until the 25 February 2019.

A final draft of the Supplementary

Planning Document was consulted
on between Wednesday 22 January
and Wednesday 04 March 2020.

This engagement-led approach has
directed the production of this report,
which sets out an analysis of the

Site and the local area, informed by
engagement and consultation with
the local community and other
relevant stakeholders. The
development framework addresses
the potential future redevelopment of
the Site, both in the shorter and
longer term. In the shorter- term, it
envisages the delivery of ¢.200 units
(as identified within Strategic
Location LPS 43), whilst retaining a
significant amount of employment
uses on the Site. In the longer-term,
this could see a greater proportion of
the Site redeveloped over the next
15-20 years or more (outside of the

period covered by the Local Plan).

The redevelopment of the Site would
be subject to land owners intentions
and an acceptable relationship
between housing and employment
uses being achieved on the Site.

Document Structure

The document is structured as follows:

Part 1: Introduces the work and sets

the relevant planning context.

Part 2: Sets out a baseline analysis

of Middlewich and the Site.

Part 3: Summarises the engagement

process.

Part 4: Presents an evaluation of
the site and details the development
parameters for future development.

Part 5: Details the masterplan

framework and illustrative proposals
to help inform future proposals.

Part 6: Provides a summary of the

report and a proposed phasing
strategy.



Page 105

Longer Term Opportunit

gll Brooks Lane

il Road Beta

Shorter Term Opportunit

Figure.1lllustrative Masterplan



Page 106

6 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

1.3 THE VISION

The Site provides an exciting opportunity to deliver an attractive mixed-
use development comprising new homes, leisure, community facilities, a
potential new train station and a Marina,

The transformation from industrial uses to a new mixed-use community

could regenerate the canal-side, enhance the vitality of the Town Centre
and provide significant benefits to the Middlewich community.




Page 107

Figure.2 lllustrative Birdseye Model



Page 108

8 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

1.4 LOCAL PLANING POLICY CONTEXT
1.4.1. Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (2017)

The adopted Local Plan Strategy (2017) identifies the Site as ‘Strategic Location LPS
43: Brooks Lane, Middlewich’, with the potential to include:

The delivery of around 200 homes;
The delivery of leisure and community facilities to the north of the Site;
The provision of appropriate retail facilities to meet local needs;

The incorporation of Green Infrastructure (Green Corridor and Open Space
including an equipped children’s play space):

The improvement of existing and provision of new pedestrian and cycle links to
connect development to existing employment, residential areas, shops, schools
health facilities, recreation and leisure opportunities and the town centre;

The potential provision of a Marina at the Trent and Mersey Canal; and

The provision of land for a new railway station including lineside infrastructure,

access and forecourt parking.



Page 109

Figure.3 Strategic Location LPS 43: Brooks Lane, Middlewich (the Site)




Page 110

10 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

2 ASSESSING THE CONTEXT

The Development Framework has been informed by an understanding of the unique nature of Middlewich

and the Site. Accordingly, this chapter explains the various contextual and site-specific elements that

should influence and shape the future development of the Site.

21 HISTORICAL CONTEXT

Middlewich dates back to the medieval
times. The Town’s heritage is heavily
influenced by salt production, the
Industrial Revolution, and the canal
network which underpinned its
growth.

The maps opposite show the
expanding built development across
the Town and on the Site through the
19th and 20th Century. The 1898 Map
is the oldest map to show development
on the Site, with the Mid-Cheshire
Works and the tramway being evident,
Since 1898. The Town has witnessed
several stages of predominately
residential growth, encompassing the
Site. The Present-day Map shows the
Site situated between the railway and
the canal, towards the edge of the
settlement but also sitting close to the
historic core.

2.1.1. Salt Manufacture

Production of salt has been a common
thread throughout Middlewich’s
history. The Roman Army set up a
settlement at Middlewich centered on
salt production,

which included a Medieval Market
that forms the historic core of today’s
Town Centre. By the early 20th
century, there were nine industrial
scale salt companies in Middlewich.

2.1.2. Canal Network

The need to export the salt deposits of
Middlewich efficiently and
economically was a driving force
behind the construction of the canals
during the 18th century. The
Industrial Revolution saw the
expansion of the canal network in
Middlewich and today three canals
converge in the Town; the Trent and
Mersey Canal; the Shropshire Union
Canal; and the Wardle Canal.

2.1.3. Railway

Railways were first introduced to the
Middlewich area in 1867. In 1868, the
line provided a passenger service and
became a vital mode of transport for
the Town. Train services ran from
Crewe via Sandbach to Middlewich
and Northwich. By 1922, nine services
a day operated between Crewe and
Northwich, and

a service to Manchester Oxford Road
and London Euston also operated on
weekdays.

There was a drastic reduction in the
number of train services serving
Middlewich Station during World
War II and the years that followed.
Eventually, the Station was closed as
part of the Beeching British Railways
closure programme, and passenger
trains ceased to use the station by early
1960. The Station buildings were
subsequently demolished, and the
railway line, whilst still active, is only
used by freight trains today.

A strategic outline business case to re-
open the line to passenger traffic has
been formally requested by
government. The Mid Cheshire and
Middlewich Rail Feasibility Study was
jointly commissioned by the Council
in-conjunction with Cheshire West
and Chester Council and the Local
Enterprise Partnership. The initial
tindings of the study are available to
view on the Cheshire and Warrington
Local Enterprise Partnership website



Page 111

Figure.4 1899 Figure.5 1954 Figure.6 1969

Figure.7 Present-day



12 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

2.2 MIDDLEWICH STRUCTURE

Throughout this section, an overview is provided of the structure and
character of present-day Middlewich before identifying the changing
context of the Town and providing an analysis of the Site.

2.2.1. Middlewich Today

The population of Middlewich was estimated at 14,100 people in mid-2018
Salt still plays an important role in the economy, with British Salt, the UK's
leading manufacturer of pure dried vacuum salt products, located within the
Town.

While the commercial use of the canals has reduced, they remain an
important cultural asset and the leisure industry is a continued source of

activity and investment, as is a renewed interest in the heritage value of the

canal system.







Page 114

14 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

Figure.8 Land Use Plan

-

—— Site Boundary
Residential

I Employment

I Community / Commercial

I Retail / Services

B rood /Beverage

B Finance

I Education

2.2.2.Land Use

The Town comprises a mix of residential,

commercial, industrial and community

uses.

The Town Centre is located to the
north of the Site and comprises the
length of Wheelock Street, the
Hightown and, to a lesser extent, Lewin
Street. There are some smaller branch
roads including Leadsmithy Street and
Lady Anne Court. The Town Centre has
several local shops, a public house,
cafes and restaurants. There are also
four supermarkets; Jacks, Lidl, a Tesco
Express, and Morrisons.

The Town's industrial and employment

uses have historically been focused
around the Trent and Mersey Canal and
the railway line. The Site, which is
contained to the west and east by the
canal and railway respectively,

is predominately industrial in nature but
does also include residential and
community uses.

To the east of the Site, beyond the
railway line, lies a significant business
park known as Midpoint 18 (MAGNITUDE)

which is planned for expansion within the

Local Plan period.

The proposed redevelopment of the
Brooks Lane Site has the potential to
deliver new homes and bring significant
regeneration benefits to the wider
settlement and Town Centre.



Figure.9 Connectivity Plan

Site Boundary

Railway Line

Primary Road

Secondary Road
Residential/ Tertiary Road

Bus Stop
National Cycle Route
PRoW

HEHRSTHRNRI IRHA

2.2.3. Connectivity

The plan above shows the street
hierarchy of Middlewich. The A533, A530,
and the A54 meet at the Town Centre
and the latter provides connectivity to
Junction 18 of the M6, which is within
3.5km of the Site. Secondary roads
provide through routes that link with the
primary roads, beyond which is a network
of tertiary roads and cul-de-sacs.

Permeability across the settlement is
dictated by the canal network and the
railway line. Reasonable connections are
provided across the Shropshire Union
Canal, with four vehicle bridges. However,
connections across the Trent and Mersey

Page 115

Eastern Bypass Extension (Approx Route)

Canal are limited to only two vehicle
crossing points, including the Brooks
Lane Bridge which connects the Site with
the A533. Vehicle movement across the
railway is even more limited with only
one vehicle crossing point. The combined
effect is traffic congestion within the
Town Centre and particularly at the
junction of the A54 and A533.

The construction of the Middlewich
Bypass, linking the A54 with the A533 to
the south of the Town, will help alleviate
congestion. The redevelopment of the
Site will help reduce the number of heavy
vehicles crossing the railway into the
Town Centre.

Middlewich is well served by national
cycle routes and PRoWs. This includes
the Middlewich Waterside Trail which is a
c.5km route connecting Town Wharf with
the Shropshire Union Canal.



Page 116

16 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

Figure.10 Landscape Plan

E Site Boundary
Playing Field / Play Space
Sports Ground
Site of Biological Importance
Religious Ground
Cemetery

Woodland

= River
Canal

2.2.4. Landscape

Middlewich is a generally flat and open
landscape at the confluence of three
rivers, the Dane, the Croco and the
Wheelock.

Industry and salt production have
impaired the Towns wider landscape
quality, which offers less aesthetic value
and less mature vegetation cover then
elsewhere across Cheshire.

Whilst Middlewich’s rural hinterland is a
predominately agricultural landscape,
there is marked influence of industry

on the settlements urban fringe. The
Site lies within a corridor of industrial
infrastructure that runs between the
A533, the Trent and Mersey Canal and
the railway. Due to the relatively low
land-form and low vegetation cover, this
industrial corridor is prominent from
many views.

The proposed redevelopment of the
Site has the potential to provide new
landscape features, whilst also forging
green connections with nearby areas of
landscape quality. This includes the

Cledford Lane Lime Beds local wildlife site
(LWS)) which is located directly to the
south of the Site and contains lagoons
and a diverse flora. The Canal is also an
important landscape feature and wildlife
corridor.

Notable recreation and landscape assets
shown on the plan above include but

are not limited to: 1. Croxton Park; 2.
Middlewich Cemetery; 3. Fountain Fields
Park; 4. Bowling Green at Middlewich
Church; and 5. Cledford Lane Lime Beds.



Page 117

Figure.11 Heritage Plan

= Site Boundary
Listed Building

1l Conservation Area
I Scheduled Monument
E] Roman Road

2.2.5. Heritage

Middlewich has 40 Listed Buildings. There are also 3 Scheduled Monuments, including the Murgatroyd’s Brine Works which is
located within the Site. There are 2 Conservation Areas in Middlewich; Middlewich Conservation Area which is focused around the
historic core of the Town Centre, and The Trent and Mersey Canal and Wardle and Shropshire Union Canal Conservation Area which
lies along the Site’s eastern most boundary. There is also a network of historic Roman roads that potentially remain below the
ground and run through Middlewich and the Site.



Page 118

18 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

2.3 CHANGING CONTEXT

Cheshire East Council has an ambitious
investment strategy for Middlewich,
aimed at boosting economic growth
and enhancing the vibrancy and
attractiveness of the Town. The
overarching objectives include the
provision of new housing, support for
the Town Centre, new employment
opportunities, enhancement of the built
and natural environment, and improved
infrastructure, including road and rail.

To help Middlewich deliver these
objectives, the Council has affirmed

its commitment to securing several
development proposals through the Local
Plan. This includes new employment

development at Midpoint 18 (MAGNITUDE),

new housing at Glebe Farm and the
completion of the Middlewich Eastern
Bypass. In addition, the Brooks Lane Site
has been identified to deliver attractive
mixed-use development comprising new
homes, leisure and community facilities
and a potential new train station.

This offers an exciting opportunity

to regenerate the canal-side, whilst
also enhancing the vitality of the Town
Centre.

2.3.1. Middlewich Eastern Bypass

The Middlewich Eastern Bypass,

running to the east of Middlewich,
between Pochin Way and the Salt-Cellar
Roundabout and Booth Lane (A533) now
has planning permission and will reduce
traffic congestion in the Town Centre
once constructed, and support the
development potential of the Site, whilst
also helping the wider settlement realise
its full employment and housing growth
potential

2.3.2. Glebe Farm

Glebe Farm is a large green field to

the south of Middlewich covering
approximately 17ha. It is expected that
around 525 new homes will be delivered
on this site, along with the provision of
pedestrian and cycle connections and
enhanced green infrastructure. The site
will provide contributions to the delivery
of the Middlewich Eastern Bypass and
towards local facilities.

2.3.3. Midpoint 18

Midpoint 18 (MABNITUDE) is a large
strategic employment site with a total
area of some 221.7ha. It comprises

an area of existing employment
development of 100.7ha and an
undeveloped area of 121ha. It is expected
that up to 70ha of the undeveloped
area will come forward within the plan
period, with the remainder in reserve for
employment purposes, when required.
The site is strategically important due

to its ability to deliver significant
employment growth, whilst potentially
helping to unlock the future
redevelopment of the Brooks Lane Site.

2.3.4. Brooks Lane, (the Site)

The Brooks Lane Site comprises an
area of around 23ha of land that is
largely used for employment purposes
and includes under-used land. The
Site is c.0.5km to the south of the
Town Centre and provides an exciting
opportunity to regenerate the canal-
side whilst also enhancing the vitality
of the Town Centre.

The Site is well related to the

existing urban area of Middlewich,
with excellent access to services

and facilities in the Town Centre and
includes the Trent and Mersey Canal
and associated Conservation Area
within its boundary. The Site’s central
position makes it an ideal location

for a new train station and a modern
mixed-use community.

A detailed assessment of the Site is
provided throughout the following
section.




Page 119

Site Boundary

Housing Sites

Employment Area (Midpoint 18)
Committed Sites

Route of Middlewich Eastern By Pass
(Approx. Route)

Railway Line

Broad location for the future
provision of a Train Station.

Figure.12 Changing Context Plan




Page 120

20 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

2.4 SITE APPRAISAL

This section provides an assessment of the Site in relation to
the following criteria:

Land use;

Heritage;

Access and Connectivity; and
Green Infrastructure.

This assessment process has been fundamental in shaping the
ideas for the Site.




Page 121

A54 (Holmes Chapel Rd)

Brooks Lane |}

Road Beta i
A533 (Booth Lane) L]

Trent & Mersey Canal i



Page 122

22 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

Figure.13 Land Use Site Analysis Plan

2.41. Land Use

The plan above shows the boundaries of
over 60 businesses on the Site. These
range from haulage and chemical
manufacturing to smaller scale local
employers.

Several residential properties are
located within the Site. This includes
four semi-detached properties and eight

terrace properties, located adjacent to
the Canal in the south western area of
the Site, three houses located towards
the northern part of the Site and two

properties accessed via Seabank Road.

Existing commercial uses located within
the Site include the Kings Lock Pub, the
Boars Head Pub, the Kinderton House
Hotel, Kings Lock Chandlery and Unique
Fitness Gym. Community/commercial
uses include Middlewich Community
Church, which is located at the centre of
the Site, Middlewich Masonic Hall at the
northern most edge of the Site, and the
Rainbow Day Nursery.

E Site Boundary

] Land Ownership Boundary
Residential

[ Employment/ Industrial

I Community/ Commercial

I Commerical
[ Food/ Beverage



Page 123




Page 124

24 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

Figure.14 Access and Connectivity Plan

2.4.2. Access & Connectivity

Vehicle access into the Site is via the
Brooks Lane and Kinderton Street
junction and via the Brooks Lane Bridge.
The latter provides a one-way crossing
point over the Trent and Mersey Canal.

A third point of vehicle access enters
the Site adjacent to the Kings Lock Inn.
However, existing land uses prevent
traffic moving through the Site from this
location.

Brooks Lane is the primary road
traversing the Site and connects with
Road Beta, which runs south of Brooks
Lane and provides a connection to the
southern part of the Site.

The existing railway line runs along the
eastern edge of the Site.

The closest bus stops to the Site are
located along the A533 with services
that run to Northwich, Congleton and
Winsford.

The Site is within a 400m walking
distance of the Town Centre and an
existing PRoW connects the Site to
the Town Centre and runs east
beyond the railway line. A second
PRoW runs south from the Site
towards the Cledford Lane Lime Beds
LWS. The canal tow path also provides
for a sustainable transport route.

— Site Boundary

Primary Vehicle Access
Secondary Vehicle Access
Railway Line

Primary Road

Secondary Road

Tertiary Road

JRRRl IR R

Cul-de-Sac
=] Employment Access Road

== PRoW
F--9 Pedestrian / Cycle Path

[ O] Bus Stop



Figure.15 Landscape Analysis Plan

2.4.3. Green and Blue
Infrastructure

The Trent and Mersey Canal runs along
the western edge of the Site. The canal
splits and forms Carillon Dock, a mooring
point and dry dock.

The River Croco runs within the Site,
following the Trent and Mersey Canal,
before running in a culvert towards the
railway. This watercourse includes a
flood risk area within the Site; however,
restoring the waters natural flow may
alleviate this issue.

Green infrastructure across the Site is
limited due to its industrial nature.

Page 125

Features include a bowling green, semi-
natural green space, existing mature
trees running adjacent to the Canal in
the south-western edge of the Site,
areas of green space and scrub planting
along Brooks Lane, scrubland along

the edge of the railway and an area

of scrubland located adjacent to the
culverted sections of the River Croco.
The Site also includes the occasional
mature tree and hedgerow.

As documented, the Cledford Lane Lime
Beds Local Wildlife Site sits adjacent to
the southern boundary of the Site.

Il

JHEN

Site Boundary
Bowling Green
Informal Green Space
Shrubland
Hedgerows

Trees

River

Canal

Flood Zone 3

Flood Zone 2



Page 126

26 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

Figure.16 Heritage Analysis Plan

2.4.4. Heritage

Brunner Mond Middlewich War Memorial is
a Grade Il listed WWI memorial, erected in
1921 and is located along Brooks Lane.

There are several Grade Il listed
structures that form part of the Trent
and Mersey Canal including the King's
Lock, several listed mileposts and a
bridge over the Trent and Mersey Canal.
The Canal is also a Conservation Area.

Murgatroyd’s Brine Pump is a Scheduled
Monument and is the last remaining part
of Mugatroyd’s Salt Works, located
within the central area of the Site. It

is not currently accessible to visitors and can

only be accessed by private arrangement.

A historical Roman road is believed to run
through the Site adjacent to Road Beta.

Notable heritage features on Site, include
but are not limited to:

1. Brunner Mond Middlewich War
Memorial; and

2. Murgatroyd’s Brine Pump.

E Site Boundary

[IT111] Conservation Area

[ K | Listed Building

[ Scheduled Monument
- Roman Road Location



Page 127

Murgatroyd’s Brine Pump Brunner Mond Middlewich War Memorial
Trent & Mersey Canal



Page 128

28 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

3 ENGAGEMENT-LED APPROACH

This chapter provides a summary of the engagement process, including a

summary of engagement with the people who own property, live and work on

the Site, the Local Planning Authority, relevant stakeholders and the local

3.1 INVOLVEMENT

Engagement on this project has included:

Project and technical team meetings
- held with representatives of the
Council and Barton Willmore to
provide clarity on policy and
technical matters.

Landowner and business
workshop(s) - held on the 11 April
2018 & Thursday 23 August 2018
to seek views on initial option(s)
regarding the future development
of the site.

Meetings with Middlewich Town
Council - held on 11 April 2018 &
Thursday 23 August 2018 to seek
views on initial option(s)
development regarding the future
development of the site.

Canal & River Trust Meeting -
one on one meeting regarding the
marina proposals included in the
development framework followed
by a further investigation of site
options.

Formal consultation on the Brooks
Lane Development Framework
draft SPD which took place
between 14 January 2019 until the
25 February 2019

Formal consultation on the

Brooks Lane Development
Framework final draft SPD took
place between Wednesday 22
January and Wednesday 04 March
2020

community.

3.11Canal & River Trust Meeting

Given the importance placed on the
delivery of a canal boat marina by the
Council and Town Council, a one-
on-one meeting was held with the
Canal & River Trust. Representatives
from the Canal & River Trust, in
2018, provided advice on the most
likely suitable location for the marina.

Following this meeting an
investigation into canal boat marinas
was undertaken, including an analysis
of the size required to accommodate
up to 50 boats. Precedent images of
UK based marinas are shown
opposite.

An analysis of UK based
canal boat marinas was
undertaken to understand
the preferred design

and size requirements.
Precedent images and
dimensions are shown
opposite.




c.14 Berth Residential Marina in Edinburgh c.50 Berth Leisure Marina in Carnforth, Lancaster



Page 130

30 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

4 EVALUATION

This chapter takes account of the assessment and engagement stages set
out previously to provide a concise summary of the Site’s constraints and
opportunities.

4.1 OPPORTUNITIES AND
CONSIDERATIONS

41.1. Considerations 4.1.2. Opportunities

Multiple landownerships on the Site.

The Books Lane and Kinderton Street
(A54) junction provides the primary
means of vehicle access to the Site
and will require improvements to
support redevelopment.

The Brooks Lane Canal Bridge provides
a one-way vehicle route from the Site
to Booth Lane (A533). Improvements
and the potential signalization of the
Bridge junction need to be explored to
support the redevelopment.

Existing residential properties on the
Site.

Enabling of businesses which wish to
remain operating on the Site.

The railway line running along the
Site’s eastern boundary and its
associated no- development

easement.
Existing public rights of way (PRoW).

Existing landscape features.

Existing culverted watercourse and
associated Flood Zone 2.

Potential land contamination.

Site levels adjacent to the Canal and
protection of the structural integrity
of the canal both during and post
construction’

The restoration of the Grade Il listed scheduled
monument (Murgatroyd’s Brine Pump) and the
provision of a visitor information centre.

Provision of new homes across the short-term phase,
subject to securing an acceptable relationship between
employment and residential uses.

Potential to deliver longer-term, more extensive,
redevelopment proposals, capable of delivering more
new homes and considerable canal-side enhancements
- subject to securing an acceptable relationship
between employment and residential uses.

Potential provision of a canal boat marina in
consultation with the Canal & River Trust and subject
to separate consent procedure

Potential new railway station and associated line-side
infrastructure.

Potential to provide new pedestrian/ cycle routes
through the Site, including new canal-side footpaths.

Opportunity to restore the culverted watercourse
running through the Site and potential to reduce any
flood risk from the Site.

Potential to intensify the community use of Middlewich
Community Church

Retention of the existing bowling green

Enhancements to the existing pedestrian subway
connecting the Site with Midpoint 18.

Enhancement of Green and Blue Infrastructure across
the Site.



E Site Boundary

[ & | Heritage Features
I Bowling Green
@ Existing Trees
PRoW

R\ Flood Zone

I:l Potential Land for Redevelopment (Shorter Term)
|:| Potential Land for Redevelopment (Longer Term)
|:| Retained Uses

E Potential Train Station Location

E Potential Marina Location

E Potential Canal Side Pedestrian/[gcle Route
g Potential Primary Vehicle Access

a Potential Secondary Vehicle Access

E Culvert Watercourse (to be restored)

El Potential Parkland Area

|:| Potential highway/ landscape enhancements to Brooks
Lane and Road Beta

- Potential retained landscape/ new public open space

Page 131

TR
A N

A\ A e L L o

Figure.17 Site Evaluation Plan




Page 132

32 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

S DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT

PARAMETERS

This Chapter details the Masterplan Framework and illustrative proposals to help

51 MASTERPLAN
FRAMEWORK

The Masterplan Framework, shown
opposite, represents an amalgamation
of the engagement process and the
considerations and opportunities set
out in the previous section.

The Masterplan Framework illustrates
the broad structure that future design
stages should follow. The following
pages provide a description of the
Masterplan Framework in terms of the
following layers:

Land Use;
Access and Movement; and

Green and blue Infrastructure.

The Masterplan Framework will be a
material consideration in determining
relevant planning applications across
the site. It is important that
development proposals have
appropriate regard to the masterplan
proposals when read alongside
relevant policies in the Local Plan,
particularly LPS 43 (Brooks Lane,
Middlewich) in the Local Plan
Strategy.

inform future design proposals.

5.1.1. Core elements of the Masterplan Framework
O Highway enhancements to the Brooks Lane Canal Bridge.
e Highway enhancement to the Brooks Lane and Kinderton Street Junction.

e Redevelopment of the Site in the shorter-term (Phase 1), subject to securing an
acceptable relationship between employment and residential uses.

e Potential redevelopment of the wider Site in the longer-term, subject to securing
an acceptable relationship between employment and residential uses.

e Opportunity to provide a train station.

G Potential delivery of a circa 20-berth canal boat marina (indicative location
shown) alongside enhanced routes, connectivity and engagement with the canal.

O Enhancements to the pedestrian subway.

e Potential provision of a Train Station Car Park to the east of the railway line and

outside the Site boundary. This land is subject to an approved planning application

for employment development. As such, further investigation would be required.
e Area of retained/ enhanced employment use.

@ Middlewich Community Church retained for commercial/ community use.

m Potential residential development with ground floor retail adjacent to the Town centre.

@ Enhancements to Murgatroyd’s Brine Works.

@ Reinstate culvert watercourse.



E Site Boundary

E Brooks Lane

E} Beta Road

E Existing Uses to be Retained

D Residential (Phase 1)

|:| Residential (longer term)

|:| Residential and/or Train Station Area (longer term)
] Retained/Enhanced Employment (longer term)
I:l Community Church/Community or commercial Use
- Residential with Retail/ Commercial Ground Floor
- Potential Train Station Car Park

- Enhanced Murgatroyd’s Brine Works & POS
E Potential Location for a New Train Station

D Retained Bowling Green

E Indicative Canal Boat Marina Area (c.20 Berths)
E Existing Watercourse (River Croco)

El Restored Watercourse (River Croco)

Brooks Lane Canal Bridge Enhancements

|:| Brooks Lane & Kinderton Street Junction

Phase 1Access

Retained / Enhanced PRoW

Enhancement to Pedestrian Access along Lock

Enhancement to Pedestrian Subway
[@@ | Proposed Buffer Planting/ Acoustic Mitigation

Page 133

Phase 1
(shorter
term)

Figure.18 Masterplan Framework




Page 134

34 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

5.1.2. Use Amount and Density
Parameter

Residential

Shorter Term: Approximately 6.2ha
of land has been identified to deliver
residential development in the
shorter- term, subject to securing an
acceptable relationship between
employment and residential uses.
This land can provide ¢.200 dwellings
which addresses the Local Plan
Strategy LPS 43 requirements. The
average net development density of
200 dwellings is approximately 40
dph. Densities higher than 40dph
may also be considered.

Longer Term: There may be the
potential to achieve additional
residential ~development in the
longer-term on other parts of the site
over the next 20 years or more
(beyond the Plan period), subject to
securing an acceptable relationship
between employment and residential
uses.

Canal Boat Marina

An approximate location has been
identified for the provision of a circa
20 berth canal boat marina, subject to
feasibility / viability and the separate
consent procedure with the Canal &
River Trust.

Housing Mix

To provide a balanced community, the
development should provide a wide
variety and mix of new homes,
comprising apartments, older person
housing and a range of family house
types and sizes in line with policy SC4
(residential mix) of the Local Plan
Strategy.

Affordable Housing

The development should provide
affordable homes including those
available for a mixture of tenures. In
line with policy SC5 (affordable
homes) in the Local Plan Strategy.

Train Station

Land has been identified as having the
potential to accommodate a new train
station. Whilst the exact position of
the train station will be subject to a
further technical and feasibility
assessment, the following design
requirements should be considered;

Platform length and its
relationship with the culvert
watercourse and pedestrian subway
crossing the railway line;

Connectivity with the Town
Centre and Midpoint 18;

Relationship with Murgatroyd’s
Brine Works and the potential to
combine train station infrastructure
with a visitor information center; and

The provision of line-side
infrastructure, including a bus stop,
taxi rank, drop-off point, car parking
and cycle parking facilities

Train Station Car Park

An approximate area of land,
extending to some 0.6ha, has been
indicated to accommodate a car park
for the train station. The land is
located outside the Site boundary and
is affected by an approved planning
application for employment
development. As such, further
investigation would be required.

Middlewich Community Church

It is envisaged that the Middlewich
Community Church site and bowling
green would be retained for
community use.

Commercial Uses

An area of land, adjacent to the Town
Centre and extending to 0.2ha, has
been provided for residential
development and commercial uses
i.e. community or town centre uses.

Additional small-scale leisure or
commercial uses could be provided
adjacent to the marina e.g. a local
café. However, this would be subject
to a further assessment to ensure
provision does not detract from the
vitality and viability of the Town
Centre in line with policy EG 5
(promoting a town centre first
approach to retail and commerce) in
the Local Plan Strategy.

Employment

An area of land extending to c7.7ha
has been provided for retained/
enhanced for employment provision.

Murgatroyd’s Brine Works.

Murgatroyd’s Brine Works should be
sympathetically restored with
enhanced public access (including the
potential provision of a visitor
information centre). Public space,
green infrastructure and new
landscaping should be provided
adjacent to the Brine Works. This will
improve the setting of the Monument
whilst helping to separate retained
employment uses and new
development.



Page 135

Phase 1
(shorter
term)
E Site Boundary
|:| Canal
= Existing Uses to be Retained
D Shorter-Term Residential Use (Phase 1)
L =T Residential U
|:| onger-ferm Residential Use Boundary with Road Beta to include a
[ ] Longer-Term Residential Use or Train Station Area suitable landscape buffer and acoustic
mitigation (detail subject to further

I Longer-Term Residential with Retail/ Commercial Ground Floor technical assessment(s)).

[ ] Retained/ Enhanced Employment Area

|:| Enhanced Murgatroyd’s Brine Works and Public Space
E Potential Train Station

- Potential Train Station Car Park Area

|:| Middlewich Community Church/Community/Commercial Use
D Bowling Green to be Retained

Figure.19 Land Use Plan
E Indicative Canal Boat Marina Area




Page 136

36 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

5.1.3. Access Parameter
Vehicle Access

The future redevelopment of the Site
should include highways
enhancements to the Brooks Lane /
Kinderton Street junction.

The future redevelopment of the Site
should be supported by highways
enhancements and the potential
signalisation of the Brooks Lane
Canal Bridge.

In line with policy CO4 (Travel
Plans and Transport Assessments) of
the Local Plan Strategy - all ‘major’
development proposals on the site
should be accompanied by a
transport assessment including
parking and access arrangements
into and out of the Site.

Brooks Lane

Brooks Lane should accommodate
both employment and residential
vehicle traffic.

Road Beta

In the longer-term, the aspiration is
that Road Beta should
accommodate employment traffic
only. Emergency residential vehicle
traffic could also be permitted.

Phase 1 Vehicle Access

Residential vehicle access to the
shorter- term development
opportunity (Phase 1) should
ultimately be provided from Brooks
Lane as opposed to Road Beta.
Notwithstanding, a residential access
from Road Beta may also be
necessary in the shorter-term to
serve Phase 1. The aim will be to
eventually change this to solely an
emergency access into residential
development.

A construction vehicle access to
Phase 1 should be provided from
Road Beta.

Train Station Access

The train station should be dual
aspect with connections to the Site
and Midpoint 18.

The provision of line-side
infrastructure, including a bus stop,
taxi rank, drop-off point and car
parking should be provided on the
Site and, potentially, Midpoint 18.

Street Hierarchy

The proposed development should
include a hierarchy of street types
designed in accordance with the
Cheshire East Design Guide.

Pedestrian and Cycle Access

Pedestrian access to the Site should be
provided from:

Brooks Lane Canal Bridge;

Brooks Lane/ Kinderton Road
junction;

The two locks crossing the Canal,
subject to enhancements to support
user safety;

The canal bridge located adjacent
to the Kings Lock Pub; and

The subway crossing the railway
line

Each of these pedestrian connection
points should be enhanced to improve
user safety.

Permeability

The proposed development should
include a permeable network of routes
to provide easy access throughout the
Site.

Residential Car Parking

Car parking provision should be
provided in accordance with the Local
Plan Strategy Parking Standards and
the Cheshire East Design Guide. The
general approach should be to provide
streets which are attractive and
functional places for pedestrians,
cyclists and cars.

Public Rights of Way

Existing public rights of way should be
retained and where possible
accommodated in new areas of public
open space. . Proposed developments
should present an opportunity to
deliver and improve sustainable
transport initiatives. There are, under
the Council’s statutory Rights of Way
Improvement Plan, aspirations for the
improvement of Public Footpaths
Nos. 19 and 21 for use by both
pedestrians and cyclists.

Railway Crossings

Development proposals that could
result in a material increase in the
volume, or a material change in the
character of traffic using a level
crossing over the railway, should be
supported by an assessment of the
impact on railway level crossings in
consultation with Network Rail.

Active Design

The future development of the site
should be supported by active design
principles (advocated by Sport
England), to support physical activity
and healthy and sustainable
communities



Page 137

Phase 1
(shorter
term)

[—] Site Boundary

[ ] Caenal

|:| Phase 1 Residential Development
E Brooks Lane

[ = -] BetaRoad

Enhanced Brooks Lane Canal Bridge

|:| Enhanced Brooks Lane & Kinderton Street Junction
[ = | Vehicle Access to Phase 1

Retained / Enhanced PRoW

El New Pedestrian / Cycle Route

Enhancements to Pedestrian Subway

Pedestrian Access along Canal Lock

Potential Dual Frontage Train Station Location

Potential Train Station Parking Area Figure,ZO Access Plan




Page 138

38 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

5.1.4. Green and Blue
Infrastructure Parameter

Landscape Enhancements to Brooks
Lane and Road Beta

In line with policy SE 4 (the landscape)
in the Local Plan Strategy The
redevelopment of the Site should
include new landscape planting and
environmental enhancements along
Brooks Lane and Road Beta. This will
improve the appearance of the street-
scene and help soften the relationship
between new residential development
and retained employment uses.

Road Beta Buffer Planting

Buffer planting and land-forming
should be provided between Phase 1and
Road Beta. This will help to separate
residential development provided

within Phase 1 from the retained/
enhanced employment area. The aim

of which will be to secure the amenity
of future residents whilst supporting
the continuation of existing business
operations.

Culvert Watercourse

The culvert watercourse running
through the Site should be restored and
improvements should be made to the
flow of the watercourse to remove any
flood risk from the Site in line with policy
SE 13 (flood risk and water management)
in the Local Plan Strategy.

Parkland

An area of parkland should be provided
to accommodate the restored
watercourse, an existing PRoW and
Murgatroyd’s Brine Works (the extent of
the parkland area on the plan opposite is
shown indicatively).

Existing Landscape Features

Existing landscape features of value,
including hedgerows and trees should be
retained and incorporated into a green
infrastructure network.

Drainage

The future redevelopment of the Site
will be expected to provide a Sustainable
urban Drainage Strategy (SuDS) in line
with policy SE 13 (flood risk and water
management] in the Local Plan Strategy.

Detailed design processes need

to consider water drainage. The
development of the Site will be expected
to follow National Planning Guidance
and provide evidence of thorough
investigation of the surface water
hierarchy and incorporate Sustainable
Drainage methods, where possible.

The Canal may be able to receive surface
water, in certain circumstances and
subject to a commercial agreement with
the Canal & River Trust.

Ecology

The proposed development should
conserve and enhance any ecological
assets identified on the Site in line
with policy SE 3 (biodiversity and
geodiversity) in the Local Plan Strategy.
New development should be designed
to provide ecological enhancements.
Consideration should be given to the
impact on the Cledford Lane Lime Beds
Local Wildlife Site to the south of the
Site.

Retained Bowling Green.

The bowling green should be retained
and provided for community use.

Trent and Mersey Canal

Future development of the Site should
include environmental enhancements and
improved public access to the Trent and
Mersey Canal.

Landscape Framework

The proposed development should provide
a connected network of landscaped
streets and open spaces of varying sizes,
to cater for a range of uses.

Canal-side Park

The proposed development should include
a canal-side park; separating new
development from retained canal-based
employment uses including the existing
dry dock (the extent of the park is shown
indicatively on the plan opposite).

Pedestrian & Cycle Connections

The proposed development should provide
pedestrian and cycle connections across
the Site to link up proposed green
infrastructure and connect with the
surrounding pedestrian and cycle
network.

River Croco and Sanderson Brook

A permit is required from the
Environment Agency for any proposed
works or structures in 8 meters of the
River Croco and Sanderson’s Brook. Itis
standard and recommended practice to
seek the inclusion of green infrastructure
along the watercourse.



CRHEIE RoY RuiHREREGE] i

Page 139

Phase 1
(shorter
term)

Site Boundary

Canal

Pedestrian Access along Canal Lock
Buffer Landscape Planting

Retention and Enhancement to Existing Landscape
Restored Watercourse

Potential Parkland

Retained Bowling Green

Incidental POS (indicative location)
Canal-Side Park

New Tree Planting

New/Enhanced Pedestrian & Cycle Route

c.20 berth marina

Figure.21 Green Infrastructure Plan




Page 140

40 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

5.2. DEVELOPMENT
PARAMETERS AND
DELIVERY
CONSIDERATIONS

A key purpose of the SPD is to
establish the overarching planning
and design framework for the delivery
of the Site. The framework should be
taken into account by those parties
wishing to bring forward
development proposals on the site.
This framework should be read
alongside relevant policies in the
Local Plan Strategy, particularly LPS
43 (Brooks Lane, Middlewich). Those
parties wishing to promote
development schemes are advised to
contact the Council at an early stage
to, amongst other things, agree the
supporting information that should
be submitted with their planning
applications.

Planning applications should be
accompanied by appropriate studies
and reports including, for example,
design and access statements,
transport assessments, environmental
statements, flood risk assessments
and drainage strategies The
development framework also
identifies a number of key additional
planning considerations that require
further assessment and potential
mitigation, including:

1. Inline with policy SE 12
(pollution, land contamination
and land instability) in the Local
Plan Strategy, the Council will
expect the following
considerations to be addressed in
any future planning application
on the Site:

Noise - The introduction of
potential noise sensitive residential
properties is required to be adequately
assessed through a noise impact
assessment in order to ensure
adequate protection for future noise

sensitive occupiers from

existing industrial and transport
noise sources and allow Brooks Lane
Industrial Estate business operators
to continue work activities without
risk of significant complaint from
future residential neighbours.

Air Quality assessment - to
consider the impacts on air quality of
any future proposal and establish
adequate mitigation measures, such
as electronic car charging points,
where necessary. Contact should be
made with the Council’s
environmental health team regarding
the scope of this assessment

Construction Management Plan

- to consider matters such as opening
hours, noise, dust, piling and delivery
requirements

Contaminated land and geotechnical

assessments — to consider historical
uses on the Site. This should include

consideration of impacts of additional

surface water, for example through
the marina

and reinstatement of culverted
watercourse, on the Site. This may
include ongoing monitoring /
maintenance obligations that should
be built into viability assessments on
the site.

2. Inline with SE 7 (the historic
environment) in the Local Plan
Strategy, development should
respond positively to the
heritage assets on the Site
including:

The Scheduled Monument
(Murgatroyd's Bring Works)
Listed Buildings.

The Trent and Mersey Canal and its

Conservation Area.

Applications should also be
supported by an archaeological desk-
based assessment, as a minimum, to
consider the presence of archaeological
deposits on the Site.

Reference should also be made to the
heritage impact assessment prepared by
the Council to support the sites allocation
in the Local Plan Strategy.

3. Inline with SE1 (design) in the Local
Plan Strategy and the Cheshire East
Design Guide - Site specific coding
and masterplanning should be
utilised to manage the delivery of
design quality across the Site.

4. In respect of policies IN1
(infrastructure) and IN2
(development contributions) in the
Local Plan Strategy - the Cheshire
East Community Infrastructure Levy
was implemented in March 2019.
The whole of the Brooks Lane,
Middlewich Site is within Zone 1
(£0 per sqm) for residential uses.
Section 106 agreements will be used,
where appropriate, to secure
infrastructure across the Site. It will
also be used to secure long term use,
maintenance and management of
infrastructure across the

site. Policy LPS 43 (Brooks Lane,
Middlewich) in the Local Plan
Strategy notes the likely need for
contributions towards highways,
education and health infrastructure
which will be considered on a case by
case basis.

5. Inline with policy SE 13 'Flood Risk

and Water Management' all
development should manage surface
water effectively, follow the
hierarchy of drainage options for
surface water, where possible, and
not unnecessarily prejudice access to
sustainable drainage infrastructure
across the site.



Page 141




Page 142

42 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

Longer Term Opportunit

Shorter Term Opportunit

5.3. LAYOUT AND
APPEARANCE

This section provides guidance on how
the layout and the appearance of the
proposed development could be
progressed at the more detailed design
stages.

5.3.1. lllustrative Masterplan

The purpose of the Illustrative
Masterplan is to demonstrate how

the Masterplan Framework can be
combined with best practice urban
design standards and the Cheshire East
Design Guide to provide a varied and
attractive development comprising of
both residential and employment uses,
alongside community infrastructure
and a rich green infrastructure
framework. Alternative approaches to
the Illustrative Masterplan may be
considered provided they offer suitable
design justification and pay due regard
to the underlining Masterplan
Framework.

Key components of the Illustrative Masterplan:

o Middlewich Community Church retained and intensified for community.
9 Retained and enhanced employment area.

e Provision of ¢.200 new homes (c.40dph) across the shorter-term phase to meet the
Local Plan requirement, subject to securing an acceptable relationship between
employment and residential uses.

e Provision of a circa 20-berth Marina alongside enhanced routes, connectivity and
engagement with the canal.

Provision of a new railwafr station drop off point within the site and potential car
parking to the east of the railway line.

o Restoration of Murgatroyd’s Brine Works and potential provision of visitor
information centre.

o New pedestrian/ cycle routes through the Site, including new canal-side footpaths .

o Retention of existing landscape features and provision of new landscape and public
spaces.

@ Bufer planting along Brooks Lane and Road Beta.

@ Retail and community facilities close to the Town Centre.

@ Restored watercourse.



Page 143

Longer Term Opportunit

Shorter Term Opportunit

Figure.22 lllustrative Masterplan



Page 144

44 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

5.3.2. Urban Form Principles

The Ilustrative Masterplan has a
distinctive urban form and structure,
strongly influenced by the Site’s
context, proposed infrastructure such
as the train station, and the marina,
and best practice urban design
principles. The urban form principles
are described through this section.

Brooks Lane Frontage

In general, new residential
development should be orientated to
avoid directly facing Brooks Lane.
This approach, alongside the
provision of new landscape features,
will help soften the impact of
employment traffic on future
residential properties. Gables that
front onto Brooks Lane should be
animated with windows and
architectural details.

Where new residential development is
orientated to overlook Brooks Lane,
additional landscape features and
public open space should be provided

Train Station Arrival

An area of parkland accommodating
larger blocks of 3 storey residential
development has been illustrated
adjacent to the proposed train
station. The use of scale, massing and
landscape should help accentuate this
area as an important gateway to

Middlewich.

Canal Boat Marina

Residential development overlooking
the marina comprises a continuous
building line with buildings varying in
height, from 2 storey to 3 storey. A
range of parking typologies are
provided, alongside street trees and a
shared public realm.

The Marina and its immediate
context should cater to the needs of
boat users, future residents and
visitors. Early engagement with the
Canal & River Trust should take
place. The provision of a Marina will
be subject to a separate consent
procedure with the Canal & River
Trust. Conflict between these users
should be minimised through careful
design, including:

Positioning the marina to maximise
its physical and visual
connections with the Canal.

Provision of an adequate separation
between the marina and
residential development

Integration of tree planting to filter
views and help maintain amenity.

Canal Frontage

New housing positioned adjacent to
the Canal comprises a range of house
types with building heights ranging
from 2-3 storey providing an active
frontage, connectivity and
engagement with the canal corridor,
where possible.

Dry-dock Interface

Residential development has been set-
back from the dry-dock and the
proposed buildings have been
orientated to avoid directly
overlooking the business operations.

Key Buildings

Key buildings have been used to
emphasise spaces and routes
throughout the Site and assist with
legibility.

Key Spaces

A sequence of spaces should be
provided throughout the development
to provide variation in character,
promote traffic calming, and assist
with legible movement for pedestrians
and cyclists.

Corner Elevations

Generally, corner elevations should

have windows, avoiding long sections
of blank walls.

Signposting

Clear signposting and directions will
be required at key locations across the
Site.

Heritage led approach

Where possible, regeneration should
focus on the historic waterside and
look to maximise that opportunity,
whilst fully integrating and
supporting the working character of
the site. Green and blue
infrastructure can be used to help
reinforce the areas distinctive sense
of place. Green Infrastructure and
public realm can create a high quality
green infrastructure framework to
help characterise different parts of
the site.

Further masterplanning and design
coding, in line with this development
framework, could help ensure there

is a strong interface with the Canal
and associated mixed use. Future
detailed masterplanning should also
make reference to the heritage impact
assessment prepared for the site
(dated 19 September 2014).



Page 145

Longer Term Opportunit

Shorter Term Opportunit

E Train Station Arrival Area / Parkland
E Canal Boat Marina Area

E Canal Boat Marina Frontage

E| Canal Frontage

El Brooks Lane Frontage

Key Building

T3 ey Space Figure.23 Urban Form Principles



Page 146

46 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

The principles for the design of streets set out
over the following pages have been prepared to be
in accordance with ‘Manual for Streets” and the
Cheshire East Design Guide. The streets create a
legible and permeable network and the identity of
the street types will assist in developing a sense of
place as well as enhancing legibility.

In preparing the Illustrative Masterplan, the
following design principles have been applied and
these should be reflected in any proposed
schemes on the Site:
The creation of a grid of connected streets to
facilitate a ‘walkable neighbourhood” where
cycling is also encouraged.

A network of quiet shared streets will be
provided.

The design of streets will be integrated with
the character area they are within and the
built form enclosing them. It may be
appropriate for the character of streets to
change along their length.

Measures such as shared surfaces, changes in
surface materials, horizontal alignment,
lighting and the design of the street should
be used as appropriate to encourage slow
speeds.

Street Types

The development has five types of street
hierarchy as follows:

Brooks Lane and Road Beta;
Primary Residential Street;
Secondary/ Shared Residential Street; and

Private Drive.

The location of each street type is shown on the
plan opposite (figure 24) and an indicative cross
section on each street type is shown on the
following page (see figures 25-28).

Primary Street

Shared Street



Page 147

Longer Term Opportunity

Shorter Term Opportunity

Brook Lane/ Road Beta

Primary Residential Street

Secondary/ Shared Residential Street

Private Drive Figure.24 Street Hierarchy




Page 148

48 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

Figure.25 Brooks Lane/ Road Beta

Figure.26 Primary Street



Page 149

Figure.27 Shared Street

Figure.28 Private Drive



Page 150

50 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

5.3.4. Character Areas

The purpose of this section is to
provide an illustration and description
of the different character areas that
could be provided across the proposed
development.

Shorter Term Opportunit

Shorter Term Opportunit



Page 151

Longer Term Opportunit

Longer Term Opportunit

Town Centre Gateway
Train Station Gateway
Canal Side Village
Marina Village

Figure.29 Character Areas



Page 152

52 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

5.3.5. Town Centre Gateway Village

An acceptable relationship between
between employment and new residential
uses will need to be achieved and
demonstrated.

The Town Centre Gateway has the
opportunity to provide a gateway to
the Site from Middlewich Town Centre.
The Brooks Lane junction with Kinderton
Street will potentially be defined by a
3-story residential apartment block
with ground floor commercial space. A
range of house types should be provided
throughout the character area, and
could include a high proportion of family
homes. Development overlooking the
Canal could comprise larger family
homes, with a subtle variation in building
heights. The parkland that sits to the
south of the character areais illustrated
as being defined by 3 story apartment
blocks.

The following characteristics define the
character area:

Layout and Built Form

Existing residential development is
retained.

Provision of a 3 storey apartment
block with ground floor commercial
uses at the Brooks Lane and
Kinderton Street junction.

A range of family homes.
Heights ranging from 2-3 storeys.

Larger family homes adjacent to the
Canal.

Higher densities and 3 story
apartment blocks to define an area
of urban parkland.

Development softened by areas of
parkland and planting.

Residential development has
been orientated so gables of new
dwellings facing Brooks Lane.

Landscape

Informal planting along Brooks Lane
including buffer planting.

Scattered tree planting to property
frontages and public open space.
Native hedgerow planting to front
of properties. Tree and hedgerow
species palettes to be native /
informal in character.

Provision of a landscape

space adjacent to the Canal

accommodating  the  existing

watercourse.

Incidental open spaces provided
throughout.






Page 154

54 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

5.3.6. Train Station Village

Should an acceptable relationship be
achieved between employment and
residential uses

The Train Station Gateway has the
potential to provide an important
gateway to the Site and Middlewich
Town Centre. The train station will be a
defining feature and the provision of 3
story residential development will help
signify a sense of arrival. An area of

urban parkland surrounding the 3 storey

development and accommodating the

restored watercourse and Murgatroyd’s

Brine Pump, could help to create an
attractive and welcoming gateway to
Middlewich.

The following characteristics define the
character area:

Layout and Built Form

Train station as the defining feature.

Provision of higher density
residential development.

3 storey apartment blocks to
provide a sense of arrival adjacent
to the railway.

2.5 storey town houses overlooking
Murgatroyd’s Brine Pump

Landscape

Parkland area to accommodate new
planting, restored watercourse,
Murgatroyd’s Brine Pump, short
stay car park, bus stop and taxi
rank, pedestrian and cycle links and
children’s play.

Landscape enhancements adjacent
to the Canal.

Enhancements and improvements
to pedestrian and cycle connections
across two locks to improve user
safety.






Page 156

56 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

5.3.7 Canal-side Village

The Canal-side Village will provide an
area of mixed residential development
comprising a range of house types. The
character area will also feature existing
residential development and Middlewich
Community Church. The interface
between new residential development,
retained canal-side businesses and
retained employment uses to the east
are key structural elements underpinning
the design of the lllustrative Masterplan.

The following characteristics define the
character area:

Layout and Built Form

Medium density family homes.

Streets to provide improved
connections to the Canal.

Middlewich Community Church
intensified for community use.

Continuous frontages.

Development set-back from the
working dry-dock.

Variation in building heights,

ranging from 2 storey to 3 storey.

Formal parking provided adjacent
to Brooks Lane.

Retention of Brunner Mond
Middlewich War Memorial.

Landscape
Planting along Brooks Lane.

Buffer planting and land-forming,
along the eastern edge of the
Character Area, to provide
separation between new residential
development and the retained/
enhanced employment.

Scattered tree planting to property
frontages and public open space.
Native hedgerow planting to front
of properties. Tree and hedgerow
species palettes to be native /
informal in character.

Provision of parkland to separate
the dry-dock from new residential
development.

Incidental open spaces provided

throughout.






Page 158

58 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

5.3.8. Marina Village

The character of the Marina Village will
be heavily influenced by the provision of
a new circa 20-berth canal boat marina.
New development positioned immediately
adjacent to the marina will comprise a
range of house types including 2.5 storey
town houses and 3 storey apartment
blocks. The marina will become an
important focal point for the redeveloped
Site and a destination for Middlewich. Its
importance will be emphasised through
the provision of a high-quality public
realm and landscaping, alongside the
potential for the occasional commercial
use i.e. a small café with outdoor seating.
The marina is positioned with its longest
edge adjacent to the Canal as this will
ensure maximum physical and visual
connectivity with the waterway, which
will be favoured by canal boat users. The
amenity standards for both canal boat
users and the residents of new housing
will be protected through the provision of
adequate separation distances and well
considered landscape design.

The following characteristics define the
the character area:

Layout and Built Form
circa 20-berth marina.

Ensure adequate boat access
arrangements are provided for the
marina (to be agreed with the
Canal & River Trust).

Residential dwellings to be provided
with parking in accordance with the
Local Plan.

Marina to provide the focus with
higher densities and variation in
scale.

Residential development orientated
to avoid directly overlooking the dry
dock

Provision of a car parking for canal
users.

Residential streets designed in
accordance with the Cheshire East
Design guide and to provide a range
of housetypes

Development density at c.40dph.

Variation in scale from 2-3 story.

Landscape

High-quality public realm adjacent
to the marina.

Buffer planting and land-forming,
along the eastern edge of the
Character Area, to provide
separation between new residential
development and the retained/
enhanced employment.

Retention of existing landscape
features, including mature trees
between the marina and the canal.

Scattered tree planting to property
frontages and public open space.
Native hedgerow planting to front
of properties. Tree and hedgerow
species palettes to be native /
informal in character.



Page 159




Page 160

60 MIDDLEWICH CANAL SIDE : DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

6 CONCLUSION

6.1. SUMMARY AND
PHASING

This document sets out a planning and
design framework to guide, in
additional detail, the redevelopment of
the Brooks Lane Site in line with policy
LPS 43. It shows the rigorous design
process based on Assessment,
Consultation, Evaluation and Design
has been carried out. The design
process has been strongly informed by
the businesses wishing to remain
operating on the Site.

Summary of Proposal

Provision of ¢.200+ homes in the
shorter term (Phase 1) to meet
the Local Plan requirements.

Redevelopment of the wider site in
the longer term, with the

potential to deliver a further
€.250+ new homes, comprising a
range of house types, including
family homes, starter homes and
older persons accommodation.

Potential provision of a train station,

including line-side infrastructure.

Potential Provision of a ¢.20 boat
marina.

Provision of commercial uses close
to the Town centre.
Highways enhancements.

Environmental enhancements and
the provision of public open space.

The redevelopment of the Site needs
to be considered alongside the wish
for existing businesses to remain
operating in the area. This reality may
see part of the Site redeveloped in the
shorter-term to deliver new homes in
accordance with the Local Plan
Strategy requirements

(circa 200 dwellings), whilst the rest of
the Site remains in employment use.
However, a more signiﬁcant
regeneration proposal could see more
of the Site coming forward for
redevelopment in the longer-term
extending beyond 2030, the end of the
current Local Plan period.

The plan opposite shows a potential
phasing strategy for the Site. Phase 1
shows an area of the Site that could
deliver homes in the shorter-term,
meeting the Local Plan requirements.
We could perhaps then see
development moving clock-wise
around the Site, over the course of the
next 15-20 or more years, with
businesses remaining in operation
during this period.



Page 161

Longer Term Opportunit

Shorter Term Opportunit

l:l Phase 1 Development Area (shorter-term)

I Phase 2-4 Development Area (longer-term| Figure.30 Shorter-Term and Longer-Term Plan



www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/localplan



Page 163 Agenda Item 8

ATy
aﬂl’,
=3

Cheshire East))
Council%

Working for a brighter future together

=

Key Decision: Y

Date First Published:
30/3/20

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 8 September 2020

Report Title: Digital Cheshire

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Nick Mannion, Portfolio Holder for the Environment and
Regeneration

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan - Executive Director - Place

1. Report Summary

1.1. Digital connectivity is now an essential utility for every home and business. Its
importance has been further underlined by the COVID-19 pandemic with home
and remote working becoming the norm which has created a significant demand
for digital services.

1.2. The national target is to achieve “Gigabit” (1000 megabits per second) speed
connectivity to all UK premises (residential and commercial). In Cheshire East
and the sub-region there are however many premises that do not even meet the
older “Superfast” (30 megabits per second) connectivity standard. These very
low speeds can result in ‘Digital Exclusion’ for those residents unable to access
services and can also create severe contraints on business growth and even
threaten future commecial viability.

1.3. Thisreport seeks approval for Executive Director — Place to enter into a funding
agreement on behalf of Cheshire East Council with the Ministry for Housing,
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) that will access European
Regional Development Funds (ERDF) grant funding. This funding will enable a
3 year programme of activity to enhance access to digital technology for Small
and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs) and residents in Cheshire and
Warrington that occupy premises that do not meet the Superfast connectivity
standard.

OFFICIAL



1.4

2.1.

2.1.1.

2.1.2.

2.1.3.

2.1.4.

2.1.5.

2.1.6.

Page 164

In relation to the grant acceptance and 3 year programme, approval is also
sought for the Executive Director — Place to provide signatory approval on behalf
of Cheshire East Council to enter into a contract with an external supplier for the
delivery of the infrastucture element of the programme.

Recommendations

That Cabinet:

Approves the establishment of the Digital Cheshire programme with Cheshire
East Council acting as the Accountable Body and signatory to all contracts and
funding agreements.

Notes that the partners of Connecting Cheshire i.e. Cheshire West & Chester
Council, Warrington Borough Counci and Halton Borough Council similarly
need to secure their own approvals for the acceptance of funding and to ener in
to the programme. The following recommendations and delegations will be
subject to all partners securing their necessary approvals.

Delegates to the Executive Director — Place, in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder for the Environment and Regeneration, and Director of Governance and
Compliance authority to accept an offer of European Regional Development
Fund funding and to finalise the terms and conditions of the legal agreement
between the Council and Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government in respect of the grant and the associated governance processes
required.

Delegates to the Executive Director — Place in consultation with the Director -
Governance and Compliance authority to finalise and enter into a infrastructure
delivery contract (following due internal diligence and external State Aid
approval processes), with an external supplier in order to deliver the physical
broadband connectivity.

Authorises the Executive Director - Place in consultation with the Director -
Governance and Compliance to enter into any necessary legal documentation
to give effect to the above recommendations including entering into an updated
Collaboration Agreement between Cheshire East, Cheshire West & Chester,
Warrington and Halton Borough Council for the Digital Cheshire programme.

Authorise Officers to take all necessary actions to implement the above
recommendations with particular reference to decision making in relation to the
Connecting Cheshire Partnership, the final programme scope and design of the
Digital Cheshire programme, all grant and grant-related procurements and

OFFICIAL



3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

3.6.

Page 165

award of contracts, and the day to day management necessary to implement
the programme.

Reasons for Recommendations

Addressing Market Failure - Despite the great success of the Connecting
Cheshire Partnership's activity, and earlier broadband projects, a recent Open
Market Review has identified that there remains a Market Supply Failure and
high demand for connectivity, particularly but not exclusive to more remote and
rural locations.

Unlocking Grant Funding and Providing Value for Money - A new
programme, Digital Cheshire, has been developed that addresses operational
programme objectives set out in the Cheshire & Warrington LEP Prospectus
against Priority Axis 2 (Priority Axis 2: Enhancing Access To, and Use and
Quality of, Information and Communications Technology), enabling access to
ERDF funds manged by MHCLG. This will be unlocked by match against funds
held by Cheshire East Council on behalf of the Connecting Cheshire
Partnership Local Authorities that is already ring-fenced for digital infrastructure.

Combating Digital Exclusion — In our society where the default and
increasingly only methods to access information and services is online, poor
and inadequate connectivity can create a ‘Digital Divide’ with households,
especially those on low incomes or already disadvantaged, are further
marginalised and isolated.

Improved Local Resilience — The COVID crisis has led an unprecendented
use of and demand for digital services. Online call and video-communication
has become the norm, children are being home schooled using digital tools,
supermarket home delivery services have vastly expanded and yet still struggle
to meet demand. While the COVID impact has been severe, the use and
application of Digital has enabled many services to continue in one form or
another and remain accessible by many.

Digital has also been the major conduit of communication with residents and
local businesses. Lack of connectivity reduces resilience for those affected,
increases risks to those without access to information and requires additional
resources from the authority to reach and make provision for those affected.
Addressing digital connectivity issues therefore is a key pillar of bolstering
resilience and addressing risks of future COVID related issues.

Long Term Economic Viability — It has been suggested that a consequence
of the lockdown and the forced requirement to make use of online services may
lead to a longer lasting shift in how services or products are sourced and
consumed. Businesses may need to re-shape their offerings to respond to a

OFFICIAL



3.7.

3.8.

3.9.

3.10.

4.1.

41.1.

4.1.2.

4.1.3.

Page 166

possible change in consumer needs and expectations with a hard shift to Digital
rather than a gradual shift.

This would lead to premises with connectivity issues considered ‘undesirable’ -
or even unviable, as places to live or work. Commercial sites with poor
connectivity may see accelerated decline, rural and semi rural areas with
already pre existing issues of lack of employment opportunities and other
exclusion issues could experience further adversity.

In addition SMEs are likely to have been hit harder by COVID than larger
established firms and are also those most likely based in affected premises.
The project would help to address these issues and avoid any cycles of decline.

Strong Partnership Delivery - Cheshire West and Cheshire, Warrington and
Halton Borough Councils are also seeking approval to reinvest in Digital
Cheshire, recognising high speed broadband connectivity as a corporate
priority, and confirming their satisfaction with previous projects delivered by the
Partnership, and the governance and project management provided through the
operational board.

Representatives of the partner authorities in the Connecting Cheshire group
have been involved in the planning of and have approved the programme
outline. A renewed formal Collaboration Agreement will be signed ahead of
acceptance of the grant funds and commencement of the new programme.

Other Options considered

Do Nothing (do not proceed with Digital Cheshire)

The opportunity to secure and leverage circa £3 million of ERDF funding will be
lost if it is not drawn down for the current proposal. This will significantly reduce
the Authority’s ability to invest in future digital infrastructure.

There is also a risk by doing nothing that commercial deployment will be many
years away despite government’s current commitments and future pledges. If
there was an eventual deployment it is likely that significant damage may have
already been done. Affected commercial sites may already be unoccupied as
not fit for use, in residential sites social exclusion and other problems may have
become firmly embedded.

Whilst externally funded project staff are assigned to their specific project
outcomes by the terms of the contract, the project itself generates a lot of
consequential and indirect benefits that will support the wider Connecting
Cheshire objectives. If the ERDF project is not progressed there will be no
project funded staff working on digital. This will be the first time since inception

OFFICIAL



4.1.4.

5.1.

5.2.

Page 167

of the Connecting Cheshire Partnership and CEC may face difficulties in lack of
capacity and capability in addressing issues relating to the wider Digital Agenda.

Doing nothing could potentially risk funds already held by the Authority that are
ring fenced for Digital coverage, The Authority will be required to make
repayments to stakeholders such as BDUK if the funding is not utilised as
intended.

Background

The Authority has successfully completed deployment of two major digital
infrastructure and digital business support projects, via the Connecting
Cheshire Partnership, a collaboration between Cheshire East, Cheshire West
& Chester, Warrington and Halton Borough Councils, established in 2011 to
address government aspirations to roll out superfast brandband.

The digital infrastructure projects have exceeded the original government target
of achieving 95% superfast broadband coverage but there is still much to do
particularly within the predominantly rural areas of Cheshire East and Cheshire
West & Chester. The table below shows the improvement to superfast
broadband coverage achieved through the contracts to date:

% coverage, Dec % coverage, Aug

Lol AVHIeIE] 2013 (contract start) | 2020

Cheshire East 79.2% premises 95.47% premises

Cheshire West & Chester 68.5% premises 96.30% premises

Warrington 84.4% premises 98.68% premises

Halton 87.0% premises 99.09% premises

5.3.

5.4.

Source: Thinkbroadband.com (03/08/2020)

The government target has now moved on to encompass Gigabit connectivity,
and the achievement of speeds that would go some way to future proofing and
provide the capacity required to meet the demand of home workers, streamers
and business. Whilst the existing projects have been responsible for kick
starting the roll out of Gigabit capable connectivity it is still low, with Cheshire
East’s current gigabit coverage at 16.82% (compared to the England average
of 22.35%), partly due in the main to the rural geography of Cheshire East.

The previous infrastructure projects were designed so that outputs to specific
Local Authorities were broadly proportionate to their capital investment in to the
projects. Due to the signifcantly more rural geographies of Cheshire East and
Cheshire West & Chester, these two Authorities were the largest funders and
beneficiaries (in terms of claimable outputs). However, there are still significant
pockets where residents and business have not seen any upgrade or

OFFICIAL




5.5.

6.1.

6.2.

6.3.

6.4.

Page 168

improvement to their basic broadband service. Usually this has been down to
cost. It is intended that this procurement would focus on those areas that had
been overlooked to date.

The superfast infrastructure deployment contracts were “gap funded” meaning
that if a supplier made excess profits a mechanism called ‘gainshare’ would be
triggered. This is based upon the take-up numbers of premises utilising the new
infrastructure put in place via the contracts, and recognises that commercial
companies could not make excessive financial gain from public funding.
Cheshire has seen a very high take up and consequently the supplier is
accruing for “gainshare” in a ringfenced investment fund within its financial
accounts. This fund is ring fenced for digital infrastructure projects. Payment is
due at fixed points up to 2024 with the funding being attributable to each partner
Local Authority, based on the proportions of the original funding contributions
they made. It is the intention to forward fund against this in order to provide the
local body element of funding for Digital Cheshire.

The Digital Cheshire Programme

In September 2019, the Connecting Cheshire Partnership undertook an Open
Market Review of coverage in Cheshire and Warrington to understand where
commercial deployment is planned in the coming years. This confirmed that
commercial operators are now largely focused on upgrading its already
Superfast capable network in areas of strong market demand to Gigabit
capabilities, overlooking those poorly connected spots. The Partnership
determined that without further intervention it would be many years before these
areas got even basic broadband coverage, putting the businesses in such areas
at a substantial disadvantage, and indicating that a new programme was
justified.

If approved, Digital Cheshire would run initially from November 2020 until June
2023. (There would be scope to extend delivery within the contract to beyond
2023 subject to appropriate funding being identified).

The programme will target c1400 postcodes, and 4000 SMEs for faster
broadband infrastructure across Cheshire and Warrington, at an initial total
project cost of c£6.24m million. This postcode coverage equates to a potential
24,000 premises in the region, of these approximately 12,000 fall within the CEC
authority area.

Cheshire East Council will be the Lead Authority, on behalf of the Connecting
Cheshire Partnership (including Cheshire West & Chester, Warrington and
Halton Borough Councils). The partnership will provide oversight to the
Authority’s day to day management of the programme as has been the
arrangement on the previous programmes such as Connecting Cheshire.

OFFICIAL



6.5.

6.6.

6.7.

6.8.

6.9.

Page 169

The programme will meet the grant ‘output’ requirements set by MHCLG and
the LEP, by having both an infrastructure and business support component,
building on the successes and lessons learned from previous programmes. The
focus of these outputs is delivery to SMEs, as defined according to ERDF
criteria. In addition the project will target SME premises located in what have
been termed “the last 5%” areas and which see no prospect of any market
supplied solution.

The infrastructure element of the project will be delivered by an OJEU procured
supplier and has an initial value of c£4.55m. The procurement process and
contract template has been approved by BDUK as State Aid compliant and went
live on 29" June 2020.

If a supplier is selected then following the Council’s internal due diligence, the
draft contract will require final State Aid approval by BDUK. A major project risk
lies in that this approval must be given before the end of December 2020 as
following this BDUK will no longer be ‘authorised’ to provide State Aid
Compliance in this area (unless there is some agreement on a post transition
Brexit relationship). It is planned and scheduled to pass the contract through
the BDUK compliance process and receive approval to sign the contract in
November 2020. This timetable does not give scope for any significant slippage,
so the process is being actively managed to ensure dates do not slip and
increase risks.

On the recomendation of BDUK the c£4.55m infrastructure procurement
contains an ‘option to extend’ to a ceiling value of £10m. This was included to
provide the option, if considered desirable and subject to funding, to initiate
project change controls, and extend the deployment. Due to procurement
regulations and BDUK cessation of the State Aid compliance function, this
would not be an option if not included in the procurement at the outset.

Although outside the scope of the Digital Cheshire funding requirements, a
direct consequence of the improved connectivity to SMEs is that local
residences/premises in adjacent communities will also benefit from improved
connectivity via ‘piggy-backing’ onto the new broadband infrastructure. The
Connecting Cheshire Partnership will aim to monitor and report on these
connections as further project benefits.

6.10. The outputs being delivered by the new programme are:

6.10.1.To enable internet connection speeds (via open network solutions) of greater

than 30Mbs to a minimum 440 businesses, with 180 of these also actively taking
up broadband access during the project (solutions are anticipated to be Gigabit
capable).

OFFICIAL



Page 170

6.10.2. To facilitate 165 businesses to obtain advice, knowledge and support in

utilising digital technologies and processes that rely on high speed internet
connectivity that can drive business process improvements, productivity,
sustainable growth and enable access to new markets. 20 of these businesses
will receive an enhanced minimum of 20 hours of intensive and highly bespoke
assistance. This augments the investments being made in infrastructure and
physical connectivity, as an effective way of maximising the benefits derived by
businesses.

6.10.3. The physical delivery of outputs will be by external suppliers, but outputs

will be overseen and verified by the project team. The new programme has
been planned so that current staff still delivering the previous contracts will
move on to the new programme to allow continuity and the retention of
expertise, and will be joined by a broader project team to deliver the
infrastructure component and demand stimulation activity, employed by
Cheshire East on behalf of the programme.

6.10.4. Whilst the project will take a technology agnostic approach to the

7.1

7.1.1.

7.1.2.

deployment, it foresees this may be achieved by a range of technologies
enabling gigabit speeds such as full-fibre, cable or fixed wireless access. This
is in line with government ambitions outlined in the Future Telecoms
Infrastructure Review, the technologies deployed in this new programme will be
gigabit capable technologies, which are also complementary to 5G ambitions.

Implications of the Recommendations

Legal Implications

The Connecting Cheshire Partnership approved in-principle at its July 2019
meeting that an Outline Application for ERDF funding be submitted to MHCLG.
This was approved by MHCLG in December 2019 for development into a Full
Application. This full application was submitted in March 2020 and is currently
in the final evaluation stage and is expected to be fully accepted. If accepted
then MHCLG will issue a formal Grant Funding Agreement (GFA) for the Digital
Cheshire programme which will need to be formally approved by legal means.

A new Collaboration Agreement, similar to that which was used in the previous
Connecting Cheshire Partnership projects, has been produced for the Digital
Cheshire programme. The Collaboration Agreement establishes the
consortium and its objectives, it also provides indemnities from the members of
the Connecting Cheshire Partnership to Cheshire East Council, as Lead
Authority, in respect of all liabilities arising out of the programme, ensuring that
any liabilities are shared between the Connecting Cheshire Partnership

OFFICIAL



7.1.3.

7.1.4.

7.2.

7.2.1.

7.2.2.

7.2.3.

Page 171

members. It also formalises the financial contributions of each partner in terms
of their proportion of the ring-fenced funds utilised.

A number of procurements will be required to facilitate the delivery of the
programme. In particular the broadband infrastructure procurement has a value
of c£E4.55m and will be an open OJEU and State Aid compliant process. To meet
the delivery timetable for the programme, this main procurement went live on
29" June 2020. Smaller compliant procurements will be undertaken for the
specialist services providers for the digital support programme. Both
procurements will be carried out with the support of Cheshire East Council’s
legal services and procurement teams.

To mitigate against risk to the Council, the Collaboration Agreement will be
entered into before acceptance of the external grant funding. Tenders for the
major infrastructure components will also have been received and negotiated,
but not awarded, also before the external grant funding is accepted to ensure
outputs align and the contracts can quickly be mobilised providing further
assurances about the deliverability of the programme.

Financial Implications

The current Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-2024 includes £7.25m
relating to Digital delivery, with £6.3m allocated for the period 2021-2023. This
has been reprofiled to enable the Authority to wait for MHCLG to open the
relevant ERDF funding call.

The ongoing ERDF funded Digital 2020 project which is focused on Business
Support has been extended by MHCLG for two quarters to provide a bridge to
the start of the new ERDF funded project. It is expected that this will have
utilised approximately £1.2m of the £7.25m budget meaning that a small
supplementary capital estimate may be required. However, this may not be
necessary and could also be achieved via a virement from the other legacy
Connecting Cheshire projects.

Historically the projects were established and received external funding on the
basis that all funding committed was spent and utilised on digital connectivity
and digital business support. Failure to do this could result in external funding
needing to be returned. Thus it is proposed to increase the budget on Digital
2020/Digital Cheshire by tidying the legacy projects and transferring the
remaining balances to a single project. It should be noted that the intention is to
eventually fund a £10m infrastructure contract though initially this will be circa
£4.5m with further sums being committed as they become available. It may
therefore be prudent to establish a line in the addendum which could be brought

OFFICIAL



7.2.4.

7.2.5.

7.2.6.

7.2.7.

7.3.

7.3.1.

7.3.2.

Page 172

forward into the main capital programme subject to the completion of the
necessary business case.

It is anticipated that the project will fund the match required for ERDF purposes
through the utilisation of funds that the digital projects have generated to date
via gainshare mechanisms. There may be a requirement to forward fund the
project in the early stages and the project may seek to effectively borrow against
amounts accrued in the separately held investment fund.

The receipt of ERDF funding will place an administrative burden on the Authority
as it will need to account for spending on a quarterly basis and comply with all
relevant rules and directives. The existing project team is experienced in
managing ERDF projects and this should not be seen as a major obstacle.

There will also be a need to manage allocations of funding relating to partner
Authorities and ensure there is an equitable distribution of outputs relative to the
funding provided. The Authority will also need to ensure that all costs incurred
on the project are properly recharged. The Collaboration Agreement and
finance protocol included therein should provide some level of assurance for the
Authority.

It has been established that Brexit will not impact the Authority’s ability to bid for
ERDF funding in the current 2014-20 programme. Nor will there be an adverse
impact on our ability to draw down funding during the deployment phase of the
project post Brexit.

Policy Implications

The programme supports Cheshire East Council Economic Strategy’s Priority
Theme 2 ‘The Place to Connect and Strategic Objective 5 — Improve
connectivity options, efficiency and sustainability which outlines the need for
improved digital connectivity.

It also supports the Council’s Corporate Plan, through three outcomes. 1): To
ensure strong, resilient and connected communities by allowing residential
properties surrounding targeted SMEs in ‘hard to reach areas’ gain access to
faster connectivty speeds; 2) To promote lifelong learning and skills by
enhancing digital access, and skills for qualifying SME employees, and
therefore enabling investment in transformational ICT projects to improve
productivity and access to markets; and 3) To promote sustainable and inclusive
economic growth by supporting the LEP strategy and making a significant
contribution to their targets.

OFFICIAL



7.3.3.

7.4.

7.4.1.

7.5.

7.5.1.

7.6.

7.6.1.

7.6.2.

7.6.3.

Page 173

Digital is also a key theme of the Cheshire & Warrington LEP’s Prospectus for
Inclusive Growth where it commits to delivering future digital projects through
the funding mechanisms outlined.

Equality Implications

The exact beneficiaries of the programme will be determined by 1) criteria set
the LEP including eligibility of SMEs, and 2) by the successful delivery partner.
However the tender specification documents have focused this intervention to
areas of sub-standard digital connectivity speeds and areas neglected by
commercial operators based on a full Open Market Review exercise.

Human Resources Implications

Programme management arrangements to support the delivery of Digital 2020
are in place until October 2020. The bid aligned the new programme to the end
of D2020 so project staff could move to provide continuity (due to COVID related
delays MHCLG agreed to an extension of D2020 by a quarter to ensure there
was no ‘gap’).

Risk Management Implications

A key risk lies in the December 2020 deadline for final State Aid approval by
BDUK. An agreed (with BDUK) procurement schedule is being following that
will enable the process to complete within this deadline. It remains imperative
that there are no significant delays to the process as this could jeopardise the
infrastructure procurement. Key staff within CEC teams are being briefed and
consulted ahead of their required input and/or approval to ensure that avoidable
delays are not a delaying issue.

The significant experience within the Connecting Cheshire Partnership and
project teams has been utilised in developing the new Digital Cheshire
programme, and contibutes to there being a low risk that the programme will not
meet its contracted programme outputs.

In planning the programme infrastructure outputs, extensive mapping work has
been undertaken to identify eligible SMEs in confirmed sub 30Mbs speed areas
to demonstrate sufficiency. Costs from difficult installations from past projects
have been investigated and used to determine output numbers. There is also
awareness of areas where there is a long running need and high demand for an
infrastructure improvement, and this has fed into take-up estimates. These
factors have increased confidence in the delivery of infrastructure outputs.

OFFICIAL



7.6.4.

7.6.5.

7.6.6.

7.6.7.

7.7.

7.7.1.

7.7.2.

Page 174

The profiling of outputs on infrastructure delivery have similarly been informed
by previous experience. The project has built in a time lag from the
infrastructure being put in to validation of both connection speeds and new
connection take up and the pattern has been refined even further following the
process of potential supplier consultation and communication that ocurred
following the OMR which provided valuable information on specific deployment
milestones.

The business support outcomes and pattern of delivery have been greatly
informed by beneficiary feedback, lessons learned and past successful
processes. The team are confident that the contracted forecast can be met and
delivered in very close alignment with the pattern of delivery.

In terms of any risk to ERDF funding and brexit, the UK government has
previously guaranteed EU funding to provide stability for UK organisations. The
guarantee will now no longer be required as there is now a withdrawal
agreement in place.

Under the Withdrawal Agreement, the UK will continue to participate in
programmes funded under the current 2014-2020 Multiannual Financial
Framework (MFF) until their closure. In addition, UK organisations can continue
to bid for new grant funding under the current MFF.

Rural Community Implications

The Cheshire region contains a high proportion of rural or remotely located
areas that have in many cases suffered from poor levels of digital connectivity.
This poor connectivity is not just a problem in terms of residents unable to
access digital services, but has also impacted the economic development of
these communities, as businesses that increasingly rely on digital
communications or routes to market do not wish to be located in areas where
they would be disadvantaged by poor connectivity and so many establish
themselves elsewhere. Already established businesses suffer a disadvantage
and are unable to reap any of the productivity or other benefits of digital
connectivity and are constrained in their economic growth.

Rural and semi-rural areas with already pre-existing issues of lack of
employment opportunities and other exclusion issues could experience further
adversity if digital support is not provided. Digital Cheshire with both its
infrastructure connectivity and business support elements directly addresses
this issue and will enable business growth, to help generate the wider economic
benefits such as local employment opportunities.

OFFICIAL



8.1.

9.1.

9.2.

Page 175

7.8. Implications for Children & Young People / Looked After Children

7.8.1. The programme does not target children and young people of Cheshire East,
however the however provision of infrastructure enabling remote learning (in
particular during ‘Lockdown’ conditions and disruption to schools) and also
access to support services may be an indirect beneficial impact.

7.9. Public Health Implications

7.9.1. There is no direct impact on the public health of residents in Cheshire East,
however provision of infrastructure enabling access to online health services
and support may be an indirect beneficial impact.

7.10. Climate Change Implications

7.10.1. There is no direct impact on climate change or carbon emissions,
however provision of infrastructure enabling remote working (and other online
services) could reduce business and employment related transport journeys
and emissions.

Ward Members Affected

The exact wards impacted by the programme will be determined by 1) criteria set the
LEP including eligibility of SMEs, and 2) by the successful delivery partner however
the tender specification documents have focused this intervention to areas of sub-
standard digital connectivity speeds and areas neglected by commercial operators
based on an Open Market Review exercise.

Consultation & Engagement

The Portfolio Holder was briefed of the plans to bid for ERDF funding and the design
of the programme, in November 2019 by the Director of Growth & Enterprise who
manages the service that is responsible for the digital agenda, and is fully supportive.

A state aid public consultation was carried out from 6 March 2020 to 6 April 2020 to
show the targeted intervention areas. There were no challenges to the proposed
intervention area.

OFFICIAL



10.

10.1.

11.

11.1.

Page 176

Access to Information

For access to any further information, contact the report author as listed below.

Contact Information

Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following officer:

Name: Frank Jordan
Job Title: Executive Director - Place

Email; frank.jordan@cheshireeast.gov.uk

OFFICIAL


mailto:frank.jordan@cheshireeast.gov.uk

1.1

2.1.

3.1.

Page 177

5
)

Cheshire E@

Council%

Working for a brighter futuret together

Digital Cheshire - Appendix

Appendix A

Map generated for State Aid compliancy that colour codes postcode block areas to
indicate if one or more suppliers can provide above 30Mbs for all premises in that area.
White colour coded blocks indicate that some premises in those areas are not able to
receive 30Mbs speeds from any supplier.

Appendix B

Map with a high level view of Cheshire East. The red points indicate postcode locations
where premises receive sub 30Mbs connection speeds

Appendix C

Map of an example area within Cheshire East with red points indicating problem postcode
locations and showing the distribution at a more local level.

OFFICIAL
1



Next Generation Access (NGA) Cheshire Region
April 2020

- NGA BLACK : Superfast one or more supplier
I \GA BLUE : Under Reivew

[ NGA GREY : Superfast one supplier

[ ] NGA WHITE : Below Superfast

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100049046
J:GW\2019_connecting_cheshire\2020_April\NextGenerationAcessNGACheshireRegionApril2020.gjz 24.04.2020

CONNECTING
o ~CHESHIRE

[i& Cheshire West
<& Cheshire East)
and Chester e casty

HALTON Borough Council %%

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Appendix A

g/ T abed




s L‘J:‘ - W L ] .pl.—l'- o ?I
"n . A arringtor . = 0
J = ¢ .'.H‘alt-ﬁ.. ." -.':.g- 2 - m -'{‘}:i' .l.ll Nt . = "8
B g Bl Y N
um n Y 5 Y sg " n e ’ LR o
- ] _ ng " ‘..‘.'.l‘ .ﬂuaﬁﬂu ’l.i. mg s " =
'.-'.'- = g ll'-. 7 Y uf= m" ol | - ..l ."-.' x oF
'-.1l'.-'.'- “.a" - s '-'-"" ' mm = = "2'..'- e * =.f-
" 2 - L L a® s ! u = = L L] L T "' s "w" = =
£ Q™ & et ‘.5 at .-. ) - l* # ..' 1 ‘l‘l " =
14; i TR el OGRS S i L b
(] | a .*." N h“ ‘l:?'.i = ---L -1 m ' . .‘ .- - L L =3 ..i .I.‘ .l :'
—.= o = = 'Il... : im, " '.‘. .l..l ....‘. :I.... -c:l. ..". -, "{. -
‘." l . . ...q. \ = oL I -...:l ‘f .'.:.l;.'. ay '{'P '.? .‘f = g,
- -.-'- : e e . -‘-.- .I..- al = ..-. o L
.  "Gheshire Westand Ghesters, = B N i W T
- oy A m - 1"y \ E ™ - ] chira” =2 -nl'
i e\ T Bt
Lk TR - "."_|".""..-" ey s
.I* .. @l . :.f m .I. & .“.III = ‘. .l
. " L s . - ... - e I :.l'n.?._.’r o '.ll. -
. - ] . - . [ ] - - [ ] l.;l l.. [m)m} I..-...l -
I.l : R P L) = o .'-ﬂ. ‘-...| .:.--
: S B 'l' = . = = . " S -:' --.I .ll;- . --. .
m = g . - -1 ™ l.l..,. ﬁﬂ".‘. .if-|-
e on=, snf f oL At W% afan L ot gy
2" . .. - .l = ..:. . - -; .' -.‘.:'* I: m ﬁ
al ....!. =N : s " .-._lh - 1_‘ :_-__- . High Level Map showing
" ....'1 h;é 'l. n L o= ., .'. B - - BDiStribution of Problem
o L -'__ - Tyl wgind " e roadband Locati
'..‘.g.l an i l'.I"l' e - L Postczzlzlons |
: . :.‘I :; l.=. .. . .El 1 m fI. : "
] N

Appendix B

6.T abed



B ONll JLL

B WA169JZ  ® WA16 9JR / B CW4 8DE W SK11 9DFg s11.9AA
T e A B WA16 9ND B SK11 9DG ov Srom 1 (9DB
B WA16 9LA B WALGWWALG'SLY SLU = Bl M SK11 9JR
WA eSte ory B WAool ona BCW4 sPw I CVCWABDA L W, SKLLIFT. W SK1109DE11 9DA M SK119IP
A B CW4 8FZ
B CW4 8HT B WA16 oLY
M CW10 9NP VATGOLE o - Cvvt 8NN W Cw4 gpH W CW4 8BY  mySK11 903 o
Y14 CW4:8HR W CW4.8PZ; W CW4 8BU m SK119DU M SK11 9EESK11 9ED %
CW10 ONA ICW4 8HS W SK119LP =
B CWCEWA48LT B CW4'8PEPQ B CW4 8BT ) ©
B CW4 8QZ B SK11 9IIE'» SK11 9L'|2 c
SR 0
B CW4 8HPCW4'8H]J -
B CW4 8PL m sk11o[& 11 9LU &
BSKI1ONA
B CW4 8DR g Cuva 8BS W SK11 9EF W SK11 9LY
" C\\AN
m cw10'oLT 9BF BECW4:8GH:X
WCWCEW4'8ET M CVCW4:BEY @ cw4 8DS
B CW10 9LP o CWA.80X,
G QI SEL B CW4 8GE: 8DP W CW4 8BG W CW4 8DX B SK11 9HW B SK11 9H
B SK11 9HT
B CW4 8AN W CWi2 2LP B SK11 9HS
g S W CW12 2LW,
W CW4 7H) W CWAGARAL LWew12 2LR
_IB_CMEANATHA W CWi122IH P %11 9HG
] ev@\gEvg P7FEH B CW4 8AJ B CW12 2LE W CW12 2LS W SK1179HU SK
ST B CW4,7AS
B CW4S7LPI4 LN B O TLY o T I Bt 8AA W CW12 23Vs CW12 2LT &
M CW4 7LR D
B CW4 8BE B}
B CW4,7LU B CW4 8AP B CW12 21X W CW12 23S [0 0]
; WA 71X o
CW4 70T B CW4 8AX B CW4 8AS B CW!
B CW4 8AT
W CW4 8AU
3 B CW4 8BD
B CW10 0JX
B CW10,0JY B CwW11 1RL B CW11 1RY B CW12 4YW B CW12 4SL
B CW11 1RX Z > i
B Wil 1RU Map showing section of Cheshire
East with Postcode Labelled
B CW11 1RS ~.
Problem Connectivity Areas
B CW10 OHE
W OWI1SD B CW11 IRT WCW12 1Ty
B CW10 OLA B CW12 4X]
W CWi1 1RD
B CW10 0LB QW11-25S
B CW1i1 1SB ’vau ETY
B CW10 OHH & Gt g MOWIZ4TA
'CW131‘1'3EE-;.V & Giii SN/ B CWil ZUH Ko
B B CW11 1PA |.CW11 23]
PR o113 2ET
CWi1l3pa
mCwil ?%W!f.\‘ggvj}mﬁ@ W CW12 4TB
B CW11 3PQ W CW11 1SE S B CW12 4HW
R Wb m cw1?3cryg11 2y W OW11'3BY . CW11'4(':..¥'VCI\/\1/141SETF m cwin s UL UG B CW11 2XP
B CW CW1T53c MCC\CW11E1IQ B CW11 4SS W12 Ty~
= A D i B CW11 1YR
B CW11 3QN m CWiA/iER LEE, B CW11 2GA
[ ST



Page 181 Agenda Item 9

£
Cheshire :ﬁ%

Council?

Working for a brighter futuret together

Key Decision: Y

Date First
Published: 2/4/20

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 8th September 2020
Report Title: Regional Adoption Agency - Adoption Counts
Portfolio Holder: Clir Kathryn Flavell — Portfolio Holder for Children and Families

Senior Officer: Mark Palethorpe, Executive Director of People

1. Report Summary

1.1. This report seeks approval from Cabinet to enter into an arrangement with our
Regional Adoption Agency, Adoption Counts.

1.2. In July 2017 Adoption Counts launched as the Regional Adoption Agency for
five North West local authorities, Trafford, Stockport, Salford, Manchester
and Cheshire East. Adoption Counts became responsible for the delivery and
management of adoption services. This was a result of a government
approach that all adoption services should be delivered on a regional basis.
This government approach was subsequently strengthened in law.

1.3. The effectiveness of the regional arrangements for children was positively
recognised in the Cheshire East Osted inspection in 2019. The relationship
between the Local Authority and the Regional Adoption Agency has been
fundamental in the success so far. Partnership working is embedded at all
levels which has resulted in significant improvements in the number of
approved adopters by Adoption Counts and able to provide permanent
homes for children across the partnership.

2. Recommendations
That Cabinet:

2.1 Agree to enter into arrangements with the Regional Adoption Agency,
Adoption Counts to manage and deliver the Adoption Service for Cheshire
East Council alongside Trafford, Stockport, Salford and Manchester Local

OFFICIAL



2.2

2.3

Page 182

Authorities, subject to completion of a TUPE consultation exercise and final
agreement of the Integrated Services Agreement (ISA).

Authorise the Executive Director People, in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder for Children and Families, to take all steps to finalise the
arrangements, following completion of the TUPE consultation exercise and
final agreement of the ISA between the parties, and to take any action
necessary under the terms of the ISA.

Note that in order to transition to this arrangement a Portfolio Holder decision
will be made to further extend the current ISA to the 315t December 2020.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Cheshire East Council has experienced success as a result of our
collaboration within the regional arrangements and now seeks Cabinet
approval to make these arrangements. An activity based financial contribution
has been agreed by all parties and was approved by Stockport Metropolitan
Borough Council as the host Local Authority on the 17t March 2020.

Since 2015 Cheshire East Council, under the instruction of the government,
have been planning to transition into regional arrangements. We, along with
four other local authorities became Adoption Counts in July 2017 following a
lengthy and detailed implementation process. The government made it clear
that all local authorities were required to be the part of regional arrangements
by 2020 or risk being forced to enter one.

Government are clear that regionalisation of adoption is the most effective
way to deliver services. They continue to invest in research to evaluate the
success of regionalisation. To strengthen this approach, government has for
several years aligned significant funding sources that can be accessed by
adopted children and adopters to support families post adoption (Post
Adoption Support Fund). It appears that the trajectory for Regional Adoption
Agencies will continue and our own relationships within regional arrangements
should be strengthened to build upon the success that has been achieved to
date.

Entering an arrangement will provide sustainability within the regional
arrangement and ensure a high quality and consistent service for our children
with plans of adoption.

OFFICIAL



Page 183

4 Other Options Considered

4.1

It is not an option for Cheshire East Council to withdraw from its arrangements
within the Regional Adoption Agency Adoption Counts. The government
approach was strengthened in law in 2016 by the Education and Adoption Act
and therefore it is highly unlikely that there will be a move away from this.

5 Background

5.1

5.2

5.3

In May 2015, the government announced changes to the national landscape
of Adoption by proposing that all adoption services would need to be delivered
on a regional basis by 2020. The premise for this was to:

e Increase the number of children adopted
e Reduce the length of time children wait to be adopted
e Improve the post adoption support services to families who have adopted.

e Reduce the number of adoption agencies, thereby improving efficiency
and effectiveness.

These proposals have since been included in the Education and Adoption Act
2016.

For several years Stockport, Cheshire East, Tameside and Trafford had
worked together as part of “Four 4 Adoption”. This award-winning partnership
of four local authorities had worked together to make the adoption process as
seamless and effective as possible for children waiting for adoption. Tameside
took the early decision to join the West Pennine partnership. The remaining
three local authorities subsequently developed a strong bid with the addition
of Manchester and Salford, thus ensuring the requisite number of prospective
children and adopters to meet requirements. Adoption Counts also includes
Voluntary Adoption Agencies, Adoption Matters and Caritas Care as integral
partners.

Adoption Counts in its early planning was identified by the Department for
Education as being innovative and expert in their thinking around
regionalisation and received a request from the Department for Education to
be one of five ‘demonstrator’ projects, leading the way in regionalisation. This
request attracted significant investment from the government to the regional
adoption agency and was invaluable in the planning and implementation
stages. This included additional funding for a “Centre of Excellence” this
brings together relevant partners (including social care, health and/or
education partners) to provide a co-ordinated assessment, treatment and
therapeutic support offer to adopted children.

OFFICIAL



54

5.5

5.6

Page 184

In July 2017 Adoption Counts launched as the Regional Adoption Agency for
5 North West local authorities, Trafford, Stockport, Salford, Manchester and
Cheshire East. It became responsible for the delivery and management of
adoption services. with offices in Salford, Wythenshawe and Middlewich. This
was facilitated through an integrated services agreement (“ISA”) and
associated support agreement between the five North West regional
authorities with Stockport MBC appointed as lead authority and the creation of
a Management Board with agreed terms of reference. The regional
arrangement sought to:

e Provide children with the right adopters at the right time, approving
those equipped to meet the needs of children waiting for adoption.

e Minimise the number of children having plans changes away from
adoption and back into long term care situations.

e Reduce delay in achieving adoption and the timeliness from
placement order to final adoption order.

e To improve early permanency planning for children, avoiding
unnecessary delay.

e To encourage concurrent planning and foster to adopt.

e To be innovative in achieving adoption for ‘hard to place’ children.
e To prepare children for their plans of adoption.

e To reduce the likelihood of placement breakdown.

e To form strong partnerships with adoption and voluntary sector
providers.

The actual benefits for children and young people with plans of adoption and
Cheshire East Council as a result of our regional arrangements can be
measured by some of the successes to date. These include a significant
increase in the numbers of adopters approved by Adoption Counts within the
3 years since go live from 48 adopters per year to 110. Of equal significance
is the ability to prioritise early planning for children when they become cared
for which avoids unnecessary delay in securing permanence. Fundamentally
the regional arrangements have seen greater success in identifying adoptive
families for children and placing them in their care with an average increase
across the partnership from 70% to 86%.

The Integrated Service Agreement provides for services to be supplied by
Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council and a third party Provider “Adoption

OFFICIAL



5.7

5.8

Page 185

Counts” through the secondment of staff from the participating North West
authorities. Adoption Counts and Cheshire East’'s participation in these
arrangements reached its third anniversary in July 2020.

It is necessary for key decisions to be made by each individual local authority
in order to create sustainability within the regional arrangements and for
Stockport to mitigate potential risks as a result of the ongoing secondment
arrangements by the other four local authorities. This decision was made by
Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council in March 2020 and it is important for
Cheshire East Council to make these arrangements alongside the other Local
Authorities that are part of Adoption Counts.

Children with plans of adoption have been impacted by the consequences of
Covid-19 due to the direct implications for family finding and transitioning
children from their foster homes to their adopted homes. However, the delays
that were initially experienced have now been resolved and safe transitions
are taking place.

Implications of the Recommendations

6 Legal Implications

6.1

6.2

6.3

The powers to undertake the regionalisation of Adoption Services are
contained in S16 of the Education and Adoption Act 2016 which allows local
authorities to cease provision of their adoption service and gives the
Secretary of State powers to direct that local authority adoption services be
provided by another local authority or adoption agency.

S1 of the Local Authorities (goods and Services Act) 1970 enables a local
authority to enter into an agreement to provide another other authority with
goods and services, including administrative, professional or technical
services.

Legal advice will be given on the legal implications of the proposed TUPE
transfers, the content of the Integrated Service Agreement and the associated
documents to ensure that all of the Council’s liabilities are captured and
mitigated.

7 Finance Implications

7.1

The Cheshire East Council contribution to the Regional Adoption Agency
Adoption Counts for 2020/21 is budgeted at £0.9m. This includes the core
service and an additional amount (£76,000) for a Centre of Excellence.

OFFICIAL



7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

Page 186

The council’s actual share of the overall contribution is currently based on
activity in the three different area’s of service, so is therefore variable each
year. For Financial Year 2020-21, this is within the agreed budget levels

The activity basis varies for each area of service and is split by Adoption,
Adoption Support and Administration and Management. The cost drivers for
adoption are based on the number of SHOBPAs (Should be placed for
adoption) and AOG (Adoption orders granted) and for adoption support are
the number of letterbox cases. For Adminstration and management this is
based on an average of adoption and adoption support drivers. This cost
share will continue to be reviewed by the service and commissioners to
ensure that the splits are proportionate and equitable.

The extension to the contract is budgeted for within the current Medium Term
Financial Strategy.

The staff will move to be employees of Stockport Council and their pensions
will move to the Greater Manchester Pension Fund. Research is underway to
establish if this will involve any actuarial costs.

8 Policy Implications

8.1

This proposal supports delivery of Cheshire East’s Children and Young
Peoples Plan. This also supports a key pledge in the Cheshire East
Corporate Parenting Strategy which states, we will work to achieve
permanence and keep children safe.

9 Equality Implications

9.1

An Equality Impact has been completed on the 24.07.2020. The assessment
identified how the regional arrangements positively impact on diversity
through their approach to inclusion.

10 Human Resources Implications

10.1

10.2

10.3

Since July 2017, Cheshire East Council has seconded employees to
Stockport Council as part of the Adoption Counts service, Currently 7
employees are seconded.

The result of this arrangement with the regional adoption agency would be
that these staff would transfer to the employment of Stockport Council in
accordance with the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment)
Regulations (TUPE),

Under TUPE, the employees would be entitled to transfer to the new employer
on their current terms and conditions of employment.

OFFICIAL



Page 187

10.4 Following the approval of this arrangement, Cheshire East and Stockport

would need to promptly consult directly with these employees and the
recognised trade unions on the changes, separately and jointly so that they
understand the implications and how they will affect them prior to the point of
transfer.

11 Risk Management Implications

11.1

The regionalisation of adoption services within Adoption Counts brings
together the adoption activity for the recruitment and approval of adopters and
family finding for children from 5 local authorities. A strategic approach is
taken to maximise efficiency in order to effectively manage the number of
children who require an adoptive home and the number of adopters available.

12 Rural Communities Implications

121

The recruitment strategy is proactive in identifying prospective adopters from
all communities, including rural communities within the borough.

13 Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children

13.1

The effectiveness of the regional arrangements for Cheshire East children
have been referenced within this report. Cheshire East council will continue to
have legal and Corporate Parenting responsibility to achieve permanence for
children with plans of adoption and therefore there are positive implications for
cared for children in the continuum of our regional arrangements with
Adoption Counts.

14 Public Health Implications

141

There are no direct policy implications relating to public health as a result of
the recommendations within this report. However, increasing the life chances
of our children and young people through adoption will improve the impact on
the indices of health deprivation.

15 Climate Change Implications

15.1

The Regional Adoption agency arrangements ensure that more children with
plans of adoption can be placed with adoptive families living in or near to
Cheshire East which will have positive implications for climate change as a
result of less travel to support these families by frontline services.

16 Ward Members Affected

16.1

Cared for children reside within all Wards and all ward members have
corporate parenting responsibility. Therefore, it is the collective responsibility
of officers and members to ensure that adoption services are delivered in line

OFFICIAL



Page 188

with government objectives and achieve the very best outcomes for children
and young people.

17 Consultation & Engagement

17.1  Consultation timetable to be agreed with all the Local Authorities so
consultation can be undertaken at the same time.

18 Access to Information

18.1 Corporate Parenting Committee has been regularly updated about the
statistical and operation benefits of our regional arrangements.

19 Contact Information
19.1 Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following officer:

Name: Jacquie Sims
Job Title: Director of Childrens Social Care

Email: Jacquie.Sims@cheshireeast.gov.uk

OFFICIAL



Page 189 Agenda Item 10

£
Cheshire :ﬁ%

Council?

Working for a brighter futuret together

Key Decision: Y

Date First
Published: 29/11/19

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 8 September 2020

Report Title: Proposed Expansion of Wilmslow High School — Authority to
Enter into a Construction Contract

Portfolio Holder: Clir Kathryn Flavell — Portfolio Holder for Children and Families

Senior Officer: Mark Palethorpe — Executive Director (People)

1. Report Summary

1.1.  In April 2020 Clir Flavell, Portfolio Holder for Children and Families, gave
consideration to the proposed expansion of Wilmslow High School from
300 to 360 places per year group for years 7-11.

1.2.  Having considered all the feedback received during the statutory 4 week
representation period, the Portfolio Holder approved the expansion
proposal for implementation in September 2023.

1.3  This report seeks approval to enter into a construction contract for works at
Wilmslow High School, where the contract value will exceed one million
pounds.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That Cabinet approve the procurement of a contract of works and authorise
the Executive Director People to award a construction contract to facilitate
the provision of additional places at Wilmslow High School, together with
any other agreements associated with or ancillary to the contract.

OFFICIAL



Page 190

3. Reasons for Recommendation

3.1.

3.2

The proposed increase in places at Wilmslow High School will assist
Cheshire East Council in meeting its statutory obligations to ensure
sufficiency of school places.

Following Cabinet approval for the project, entering into a construction
contract will enable the building project to commence following completion
of full design, should the requisite planning permission be granted.
Commencement on site would be proposed for early 2021.

4. Other Options Considered

41

Other options considered were detailed in the Portfolio Holder report
entitled “Proposed Expansion of Wilmslow High School” which was
approved by the Portfolio Holder, Children and Families on 6 April 2020.

5. Background Information

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

Current forecasts for years 7 to 11 and covering the period 2019 to 2025
indicate an immediate shortage of 111 secondary school places in 2019
increasing year on year to 257 by 2025. These figures do not include the
desired 2% level of operational surplus, which is intended to facilitate
admissions mid year, some degree of parental choice and reasonable
journey times to school.

Wilmslow High School is a popular and successful school rated “Good” by
Ofsted at the last inspection in May 2019. For a number of years the Local
Authority has received applications in excess of the 300 year 7 places
available. In addition, the number of pupils resident in the school’s
catchment area remains consistently high, although it is acknowledged that
not all of these pupils require a place at a local authority maintained school,
as some will choose to attend local independent schools.

In response to this immediate shortfall, and to satisfy as many parental
preferences for local children as possible the Local Authority, in agreement
with the school, have for the last 3 years admitted above the school’s
published admission number (PAN) of 300 for entry into year 7. Interim
arrangements for the admissions over PAN have been undertaken and
various remodelling of the internal spaces have allowed the school to
accommodate the additional pupils.

A feasibility study/option appraisal on an extensive scheme to re-model and
enlarge the school has recently been completed; this is inclusive of a full
curriculum analysis. The building project includes a single-storey extension
to the main building, a further extension linking the existing Olympic Hall

OFFICIAL



Page 191

and Sports Hall blocks plus significant internal re-modelling and other
works as a result of the scheme development. The proposal will take a
holistic view of the whole campus with the intention to better integrate
departments/faculties and improve circulation and pupil flows through the
creation of new routes that are of sufficient capacity to reduce "pinch
points."

5.5 A full planning application for the expansion scheme was submitted in
June 2020. The application was supported by a detailed Transport
Assessment, which included proposed mitigation measures. A transport
consultant has been working closely with the school to develop the
Transport Assessment and School Travel Plan. For link to planning
application and supporting documentation, please see item 9.4.

5.6 If recommendations in this report are approved the proposed timeline is as
follows:-

e Contractor is proposed to be appointed for pre-construction
following tender process, October 2020;

e Installation of temporary decant accommodation as part of pre-
construction (to enable the school to decant early) November-
January 2021. A planning application for this temporary
accommodation was submitted in June 2020;

e Price stage 4 designs and agree Target Cost with contractor,
February 2021;

e Contracts and appointment of Contractor to undertake
implementation, March 2021,

e Contractor Mobilisation, April 2021.

6. Implications of the Recommendations
6.1 Legal Implications

6.1.1 Inline with Government and construction best practice, it is proposed
to procure and award the required construction works using existing
regional frameworks. The Council currently has access to the North
West Construction Hub (NWCH), which is a regional Framework
Agreement administered by Manchester City Council and can be used
by local authorities and other public bodies in the North West of
England. The NWCH offers a range of value bands, including a low
value framework for project of £500k and above, a medium value for
projects between £2m and £10m through to high value framework for
projects over £10m, which can be utilised to offer the flexibility required
for phasing and programme options. Based on pre-tender budget

OFFICIAL



Page 192

estimates for the proposed works at Wilmslow High School, this
indicates the High Value framework would need to be used.

A Framework enables the Council to meets its need for a service,
supply of goods or works for a set period of time in order to obviate the
need to undertake a wide competitive procurement process for each
individual scheme. It complies with the Public Contracts Regulations
2015 (“the Regulations”) and the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules

6.2 Finance Implications

6.2.1

6.2.2

6.2.3

A feasibility study has been undertaken to identify a provisional budget
for the proposal, currently a target cost of £12m inclusive of all
professional and statutory fees has been identified.

Currently, included in the Education and 14-19 Skills Capital
Programme is a named scheme ‘Wilmslow High School BN’, with a
total approved budget of £12m. The proposed expansion is currently
funded via Section 106 contributions, Basic Need Grant and Capital
Maintenance Grant. Section 106 education funding contributions are
those agreed with new housing developers specifically to fund the
additional pupil places needed due to new housing development.

Currently the project is funded as follows:-

e £0.660m of Section 106 contributions received,;

e £10.791m Basic Need (potential to be changed to Section 106
funding once further contributions have been received);

e School Condition Allocation grant £0.549;

= Current funding available £12m. (Following approval to move
funds from the addendum list to the main capital programme).

e Further Section106 expected to be received is £2,839,302. As this
is expected contributions from developers, this will initially be
funded by Basic Need, as detailed above, in advance of receiving
these monies.

e Section 106 Developer Contributions attached to this scheme are
included in Appendix 1.

6.2.4 An increase in pupils during the year will mean the school qualifies for a

Growth Fund payment to assist with additional running costs. This will
be determined later in 2020.

OFFICIAL



Page 193

6.2.5 Pupils on roll in October 2020 will determine revenue-funding levels
from April 2021.

6.2.6 Increasing the size of the school will bring additional running costs for
the school to manage.

6.3 Policy Implications

6.3.1 The Local Authority will determine an increase in the PAN from 300 to
360 pupils for year groups 7 to 11, in line with the statutory timescales
set out in the School Admissions Code (2014).

6.4 Equality Implications

6.4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed in respect of the
proposed expansion of Wilmslow High School. The assessment
concluded that the proposal would have an overall positive impact on
several of the areas - specifically parents and carers, young people and
a neutral impact on the remaining factors.

6.5 Human Resources Implications

6.5.1 There are no additional human resource implications for the Council as
a result of this report, although the school are aware that increased
numbers on roll could require additional staffing costs which would be
funded through their formula funded budget.

6.6 Risk Management Implications

6.6.1 The proposed expansion is identified to address a Basic Need for
secondary school places within Wilmslow. This is in order to ensure
that the Council meets its statutory duty to provide sufficient school
places within 3 miles and with safe routes to schools.

6.6.2 If additional places are not provided in Wilmslow, parents of Cheshire
East children, who are resident in the Wilmslow area, may be unable to
secure places at their local school and may be required to travel over 3
miles to alternative Cheshire East schools requiring transport
assistance, at a significant revenue cost to the local authority.

6.6.3 The proposed building works will be subject to the necessary planning
and statutory permissions. If the required building work would be on
land that falls within the DfE’s definition of playing fields land, this
would be a change of use requiring consent from the Secretary of State
for Education under s77 of the School Standards and Framework Act.

OFFICIAL



Page 194

The statutory provisions for the protection of school playing fields land
would need to be adhered to. Sport England is a statutory consultee.
Pupil numbers at the school and areas of the available playing fields
land will be a relevant consideration in the consideration of such a
proposal.

6.6.4 There are inherent risks with any construction project. Project team
meetings ensure that these risks as identified and a risk register has
been developed and is regularly reviewed by the project team. All risks
have assigned owners who are responsible for mitigating and
managing them.

6.6.5 The potential need for working restrictions, sequencing of works and
availability of plant and materials due to Covid-19 may ultimately
extend the contract period and associated increase in costs. This will
be monitored closely as part of the Project Management process

6.7 Rural Communities Implications
6.7.1 There are no direct implications for rural communities.
6.8 Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children

6.8.1 Wilmslow is an area that has consistently experienced a number of “ in
year” applications from families moving into Cheshire East. Based upon
current numbers on roll, all year groups across the school are already
full or over subscribed. The school has accommodated additional
numbers where possible and admitted over their Published Admission
Number but some families have been offered places at the next nearest
schools with places available which can be more than 3 miles away
thus resulting in the authority incurring transport costs.

6.8.2 Providing additional places at this school will help ensure that local
children, including cared for children, can be offered a place at a local
school.

6.9 Public Health Implications
6.9.1 There are no direct implications for public health.
6.10 Climate Change Implications

6.10.1 Providing additional places at this local school will enable Cheshire
East children, resident in the Wilmslow area, to secure at place at their
local school thus reducing the need to travel outside of the area which

OFFICIAL



Page 195

will reduce energy consumption and enabling pupils to walk to school
promoting a healthy lifestyle.

6.10.2 Cheshire East Council and Wilmslow High School are very aware of
their environmental education and stewardship role and are very
interested in promoting sustainability in general.

6.10.3 It is noted that the funding is for a capital project and not for the
ongoing running costs. Therefore, as part of the detailed design
process, the design team are exploring how the building could be
designed to minimise future running costs.

6.10.4 The 2018 window replacement targeted a 15% improvement over and
above the minimum standards in the Building Regulations for insulation
and airtightness; this principle will be extended to the improvement of
carbon emissions both for the new development and for any part of the
external building fabric or services being renewed.

6.10.5 Systems that save on energy consumption will be considered,
particularly for electricity, with absence detection being the preferred
lighting strategy.

6.10.6 The building should be zoned for heating so when individual buildings
or sections of buildings are opened for community use for example, the
school can heat just that area.

6.10.7 Savings on water consumption will also be considered with WRAS
(Water Regulations Advisory Scheme) certified.

7 Ward Members Affected

7.1

Local ward members were informed of the proposal prior to and during the
statutory representation period.

8 Consultation & Engagement

8.1

In accordance with the guidance issued by the Department for Education,
the statutory publication notice was published in the Wilmslow and
Knutsford Guardian and the Wilmslow edition of the Manchester Weekly
News on 16 January 2020 and the subsequent statutory four-week
representation period ran from 16 January 2020 to 14 February 2020.
Information was made available on the County website and the
representation period was notified to key stakeholders including Ward
Members, MP, and Diocese, Local Parish and Town Councils and the
neighbouring authorities of Manchester City Council, Stockport Metropolitan

OFFICIAL



8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

Page 196

Borough Council and Trafford Council. Information was also emailed to all
local schools together with a letter for distribution to their staff, governors
and parents.

In addition, a public drop in session was held at Wilmslow Library on 21
January and representatives from the school and local authority attended to
discuss the proposal and seek views.

Cabinet members are advised that this statutory process provides the
opportunity for any person with an interest to submit representations, which
can be objections as well as expressions of support for the proposals.

During the statutory representation period the council received 70
responses 14 supported the proposal and 51 do not support the expansion
proposal, plus 5 no view including 2 responses commenting on the opening
times of the public event.

All feedback received during the representation period was collated and
presented to Portfolio Holder, Children and Families for consideration.
Approval for the proposed expansion was confirmed on 6 April 2020. For
link to the decision details, please see item 9.3.

9 Access to Information

9.1

9.2
9.3
9.4

Further background information relating to this report can be obtained by
contacting the School Organisation Team, Children and Families
Directorate.

DfE Guidance — Disposal or change of use of playing field and school land

Decision details — Proposed Expansion of Wilmslow High School

Planning Application — Wilmslow High School

10 Contact Information

10.1 Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following

officer:

Name: Val Simons
Job Title: Pupil Place Planning Officer

Email: val.simons@cheshireeast.gov.uk

OFFICIAL


file://ce-userdata/cehomedrive$/DfE%20Guidance/Playing%20Fields%20Guidance/Disposal_or_change_of_use_of_playing_field_and_school_land.pdf
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=2362
http://planning.cheshireeast.gov.uk/applicationdetails.aspx?pr=20/2640M&query=8a19f8af2e224fd5b265be5a90f5ecc1&start=&from=m
http://planning.cheshireeast.gov.uk/applicationdetails.aspx?pr=20/2640M&query=8a19f8af2e224fd5b265be5a90f5ecc1&start=&from=m

Page 197

Appendix 1 — Section 106 Developers Contributions attached to Wilmslow High
School Expansion

Planning Development Total Total Total funding
Reference contribution | received outstanding
to date

13/0735M | Land South of £ 375,882 £0 £ 375,882
Coppice Way

16/1560M | Ned Yates Nursery £ 32685| £ 32,685 £0

15/4501M | Alderley Park £ 670,050 | £ 296,610 £ 373,440

15/5668M | 20 Chapel Lane £ 32685| £ 32,685 £0

16/1269M | British Legion, Station £ 32,685 £0 £ 32,685
Rd

15/1955M | Yesterdays Hotel £ 35918 | £ 18,485 £ 17,433

14/0009M | Land at Adlington £ 424910 £0 £ 424910
Road

17/4521M | Land at Stanneylands £ 408,567 | £ 214,518 £ 194,049

17/2117M | 77-79 Alderley Road £ 32685| £ 32,685 £0

17/3894M | Clay Lane and Sagars £ 604,680 £0 £ 604,680
Road

17/5637M | Heathfield Farm £ 375,882 £0 £ 375,882

17/5837M | West of Alderley Road £ 147,084 £0 £ 147,084

17/5838M | East of Alderley Road £ 227,886 £0 £ 227,886

17/6962M | Land at Yew Tree £ 32,685| £ 32,685 £0
Farm

18/4867M | The County Hotel £ 65,371 £0 £ 65,371
TOTAL £ 3,499,655 | £ 660,353 £ 2,839,302




This page is intentionally left blank



Page 199 Agenda Item 11

<
o)
Y

1”4;
Cheshire East )
Council?

Working for a brighter futuret together

=

Key Decision: Y

Date First
Published: 23/7/20

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 8" September 2020
Report Title: Microsoft Licence Agreements

Portfolio Holder: ClIr Amanda Stott - Portfolio Holder for Finance, ICT and
Communication

Senior Officer: Jane Burns — Executive Director of Corporate Services

1. Report Summary

1.1. Both Cheshire East and Cheshire West and Chester depend on Microsoft
Technology for their Infrastructure and Desktop provision, this includes
Windows and Office—based software for key ICT and service functions,
including authenticating network users to providing employees with critical
communication and collaboration tools. Microsoft delivers in Windows,
Office (including Office 365) a highly capable set of components that offer an
industry leading desktop environment, secure, robust email, calendar,
scheduling, task management, desktop productivity, telephony, real-time
communications, and collaboration experience. The Office suite of products
can be tailored to specific requirements, as well as those of groups of users
within both Councils and service areas, alternative service delivery vehicles
and to enable more effective partnership working.

1.2. This report recommends that the Council’'s agreements for Microsoft
Licences are aligned where appropriate and that a single contract is awarded
to a Microsoft Licence Reseller. The advantage of this approach will be to
obtain greater discounts on the licence costs due to the higher volume of
licences procured and value of the contract.

1.3. This approach has been reviewed and approved by finance, procurement
and legal services. The consolidation of contracts will not incur any additional

OFFICIAL



Page 200

budgetary obligation, but will result in an overall reduction in spend on these
purchases.

2. Recommendation

2.1.

That Cabinet authorise the Executive Director of Corporate Services in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance, ICT and
Communication to award and enter into a contract to deliver Microsoft
licences for Cheshire East Council and Cheshire West and Chester Council,
infrastructure and desktop estate via a single Licence Service Provider; with
an estimated total cost of up to £35m (excluding VAT) as determined by the
Council over two 3 year periods (6 years in total).

3. Reasons for Recommendation

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

The ICT Strategy is to continue with the Microsoft product suite for a 6-year
period to avoid the costs of change as a result of a change in technology.
This approach is supported by the new memorandum of understanding
between Microsoft and the UK government — The Digital Transformation
Arrangement (DTA) which started on 1st May 2018 and the Azure Pricing
Agreement (APA) amendment from 30 April 2020 to 30 April 2021. These
agreements enables UK public sector customers to receive greater discounts
for our Cloud hosted solutions.

The Digital Transformation Arrangement provides discounted pricing and
terms for UK public sector customers who wish to procure Microsoft cloud
products and services. It recognises the strategic relationship between the
government and Microsoft, enabling public sector organisations of all sizes
to benefit from improved commercial terms.

The next few years will see significant changes across the entire public
sector. The shape and size of our Councils will change however the need to
provide high levels of service to our residents will remain against a backdrop
of financial challenge.

With these challenges come new opportunities; information and
communications technology (ICT) will be able to help both Councils to
achieve efficiencies, providing the mechanism to support shared services
and most importantly, keep pace with residents’ changing needs and
expectations.

Cheshire East Council (CEC) ICT Services will be able to support base
operations with improved efficiency and focus more effort to delivering the
changes needed for both Councils. Equally by delivering the right levels of
infrastructure and desktop services with elements both in-house and within
the cloud, ICT will be better placed to support the Councils in reacting to

OFFICIAL



Page 201

changing circumstances and supporting the working partnerships with other
Public and Private Sector organisations particularly health.

3.6. Both Councils are reliant on the use of Microsoft products to carry out day-
to-day tasks. Aligning the Microsoft Licence Agreements will ensure that
both Councils can continue with their day-to-day activities, with no impact to
service, supported by the latest Microsoft products and services. Desktop
and Infrastructure licence costs are increasing (21% in 2019) in line with
industry trends. Previous agreements have ensured that the Councils have
not been subject to these increases. The strategy of having all of our
Microsoft agreements with a single licence service provider will allow the
Councils to negotiate bigger discounts and better concessions, such as price
locks and business investment funds.

4. Other Options Considered
Option 2 — Do not renew our Microsoft Agreements

This would have a major cost and technology implications for the Councils
who rely subtantially on Microsoft technology. The cost of changing to
alternative software and supplier would be significant the impact on users
and services would be detrimental to the Councils day to day running and
ability to provide services.

Option 3 — Do not align our Microsoft Agreements

By having multiple agreements the Councils are reducing the discounts they
could achieve, incurring increased costs of management of the contracts and
increased cost of procurement by having to undertake multiple
procurements.

Option 4 — Align our Microsoft Agreements and seek funding for one 3-
year period

The maximum duration for a Microsoft agreement is three years. Both
Councils ICT strategy is to continue to use the Microsoft product suite beyond
this 3-year period. This option would therefore incur additional procurement
costs, as it would be necessary re-procure the Microsoft licences after 3
years.

Option 5 — Align our Microsoft Agreements and seek funding for three
3- year periods

Although the ICT strategy is to continue with the Microsoft product suite for
the long term, it would be very difficult to predict the Microsoft Licence costs

OFFICIAL



Page 202

for the next 9 years in addition technology changes may provide different
options.

5. Background

5.1.

5.2.

There are currently six Microsoft Agreements that could be aligned under a
contract with a service provider (as detailed in Appendix 1). Along with these,
there is a requirement to procure a new Azure Cloud Agreement which will
provide eligible public sector organisations with discounted pricing and
beneficial terms for using the Azure cloud. In addition, there is a contract
which is taken out directly with Microsoft for support of all Microsoft products
across the Council. Historically, where appropriate the council has used a
perpetual based licence model, however, with recent announcements from
Microsoft of price increases of over 10% for Perpetual Office and other on-
premise software have prompted the Councils to move to a subscription-
based licence model.

This expenditure is revenue funded, growth has been included in the budget
for the current year, but any future growth would need to be quantified if in
addition to that which has been included in the current financial year and
considered as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1.

Legal Implications

6.1.1. The value of this procurement will be over £1,000,000 and is

consequently a Key Decision requiring Cabinet approval. The procurement
will need to comply with both the Councils’ Constitutions and the the Public
Contracts Regulations 2015. Three procurement routes are currently being
reviewed to determine which will enable the Councils to procure the
required licences for the prefered maximum period of 6 years.

6.1.2. The 3 procurement routes being considered are as follows:

6.1.2.1. HealthTrust Europe’s ICT Solutions 2019 Framework — this
framework is designed for the procurement of enterprise level ICT
including software. The framework permits the award of contracts
either through direct award or through further competition;

6.1.2.2. Other frameworks which would enable the required procurement
are in the process of being investigated; and

6.1.2.3. Open procedure under regulation 27 or Restricted procedure
under regulation 28 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

OFFICIAL



6.2.

6.3.

Page 203

6.1.3. The advantage of using frameworks is that specifications will already

have been drawn up as part of the process of procuring the framework,
timescales for procurement via further competition may be shorter than
under the Open or Restricted procedures and where permitted contracts
may be directly awarded to a supplier.

Financial Implications

Aligning the agreements with a single provider allows the necessary financial
flexibility to support the strategic desktop and infrastructure delivery roadmap
for both councils. With reference to Appendix 1, the total value estimated
spend over a six year period is £34,846,008 with a 1 to 2% reduction in cost.
Benefits include more greater discounts on pricing for a larger value contract
with a single provider who will also get access to more investment funding
which they can then invest back into the Council. These programmes allow
Microsoft partners, to provide customers with expertise to help ensure a
smooth deployment experience. Funded programmes help organisations
deploy and adopt modern workplace applications, examples include
discovery sessions, proof of concept days and customer immersion
experiences.

Policy Implications

6.3.1. The evolving nature of business and government is driving a need for

transparent, accountable processes; efficient systems delivering better
client services; improved management of records that comply with
legislation; improved inter-agency collaboration and integrated service
delivery. Information is a valuable asset that must be safeguarded. In the
case of information held by the Council, especially personal information,
people want to be certain that it is held securely, maintained accurately,
available when necessary and used appropriately. ICT systems, services
and data are vital business assets and effective management of these
assets in support of prioritised business needs presents significant
challenges in terms of co-ordination, funding, resources and timescales.

6.3.2. It is important ICT Strategy work with Members, multi-agency Partners,

alternative new vehicles (ASDVs) and Officers across all the Council’s
Services, alongside colleagues in ICT Shared Services and others in order
to develop and implement appropriate strategies, policies and supporting
technologies and innovation.

6.3.3. ltis the responsibility of ICT Strategy to take the lead role for ICT Account

Management, ICT Business Analysis, ICT Security, Information and

OFFICIAL



Page 204

Records Management and ICT Business Management (including ICT
supplier or vendor management) across Cheshire East Council.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. Current versions of software such as Office 365 have improved
accessibility enabling better access for all staff.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. No implications identified, as this paper relates to the alignment and
provision of licences in order to enable the compliant delivery of
infrastructure and desktop software and services to our users. Resources
to procure and implement the solutions will be sourced from ICT Services.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. The Microsoft Licences are core to the Councils ICT infrastructure.
Failure to enter into new licence agreement(s) before expiry of the current
licences would leave the Councils without the ICT infrastructure to carry
out its day to day business. If the Councils continued to operate after
expiry of the licences they would breach Microsoft’s intellectual property
rights and consequently be open to compensate Microsoft for such breach
as well as the Councils suffering reputational damage.

6.6.2. A decision is required before the end of September 2020 to enable an
agreement for the provision of the Microsoft licences to be procured before
expiry of the existing licences and to enable to Councils to benefit from the
discounted pricing that can be achieved through consolidation.

6.6.3. Failure to ensure that IT systems and solutions are not kept up to date
exposes the Council to a number of risks through unauthorised or unlawful
access (cyber) or against accidental loss, destruction or damage. This is
a requirement for our interactions with central government and in particular
DWP and the NHS. If it's not possible to demonstrate that the Council is
adequately protecting its systems through up to date software then the
Council’s involvement with those providers may be at risk. In addition one
of key principles under GDPR is to ensure that the Council’s services have
Integrity and are Secure failure to have in place current infrastructure puts
the Councils at greater risk of failure of its systems.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. The proposal will support the creation of greater digital choice for those
in rural communities.

OFFICIAL



6.8.

Page 205

Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children

6.8.1. The ICT Investment Programme supports the Adults, Children’s and

6.9.

Public Health Programme and joint working arrangements with regional
health colleagues, and the Digital Programme which enables residents
online access to Council services.

Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

6.10.

Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. Investment in ICT supports the Green Agenda.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1.

All wards and members will be affected by this proposal.

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1.

8.2.

8.3.

8.4.

Consultation has taken place with our existing Providers in order to
understand the current Microsoft licencing options, benefits, cost options and
variables. The role of the Provider is to fully understand the increasingly vital
role software plays in the IT environment for both Councils, in order to
provide ICT Services with the correct level of understanding and guidance in
order to inform our decision making around the desktop licencing
requirements.

Consultation has taken place with Microsoft Directions (Consulting Services)
to validate assumptions, challenge perceived requirements and confirm
direction of travel with latest industry and local government trends.

Crown Commercial Services \ Memorandum of Understanding has been
agreed between Microsoft and the government, and will be considered when
published.

Consultation on the Councils licencing requirements has been undertaken
with Microsoft Services which is the Professional Services organisation
within Microsoft. Their role is to work with both Councils through ICT Services
to realise the full value of our investment in the Microsoft technology stack
as quickly as possible.

9. Access to Information

9.1.

Appendix 1 — further information

OFFICIAL



Page 206

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following
officer:

Name: Gareth Pawlett
Job Title: CIO and Head of ICT Services

Email: Gareth.pawlett@cheshireeast.gov.uk

OFFICIAL


mailto:Gareth.pawlett@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Appendix 1

Page 207

Financial Summary of Projected Microsoft Costs over two 3 year periods

growth 2023-2026)

Microsoft Agreement Expiry Existing Projected Costs Projected Costs 2023- Projected Costs

Type Date Supplier 2021-2023 2026 023-2026
(based on 20% based on 50% growth) |(based on 100%
growth) growth)

ggeEshlre East Dynamics | Feb 2021 Bytes £873.600 1,310,400 £1.747,200

Cheshire East Apr 2021 Insight

Enterprise Desktop £3,383,496 £5,075,244 £6,766,992

Agreement

Cheshire West Apr 2021 Insight

Enterprise Desktop £2,500,000 £3,750,000 £5,000,000

Agreement

Cheshire East and May 2022 | Phoenix

Cheshire West SCE £1,041,040 £1,561,560 £2,082,080

Cheshire East Open May 2023 | Software One

Value Subscription £50,000 £75,000 £100,000

Agreement

Cheshire East on behalf | Feb 2021 Insight

of Qwest Service Level £200,000 £300,000 £400,000

Provider Agreement

“New Azure Cloud Agreement £3,567,200 5,350,800 7,134,400
£11,615,336 £17,423,004 £23,230,672

Projected cost over 6 Years (based on cumulative 20%

growth 2021-2023 and on cumulative 50% growth 2023- £29,038,340

2026)

Projected cost over 6 Year (based on cumulative

20% growth 2021-2023 and on cumulative 100% £34,846,008

OFFICIAL




Page 208

The following Microsoft support contract is not suitable for aligning with a single
licence service provider as it needs to be renewed directly with Microsoft:

Microsoft Expiry Date | Expiry Date | Projected Costs Projected Costs Projected Costs

Agreement

Type 2021-2023 2023-2026 2023-2026
(based on 20% growth) (based on 50% (based on 100%

growth) growth)

Microsoft March 2021 | Microsoft £800,000 £1,200,000 £1,600,000

Unified

Support

Agreement

Projected cost over 6 Years (based on 50% £2,000,000

growth 2023-2026

Projected cost over 6 Year (based on 100% £2,400,000

growth 2023-2026)

NOTES:

1.1. ICT is no longer just back office automation; it has become a critical service. If it

is unavailable, the Councils cannot deliver services to our service users.

1.2. ICT Services has the capability of pro-actively contributing to service redesign,

which is needed to address the challenges facing the Council.

1.3. ICT has a pivotal role to play in improving efficiency, reducing costs across both
Councils and supporting both as they move away from direct service provision

into more sophisticated commissioning models and shared solutions.

1.4. Information security is a critical focal point, given the amount of information both
Councils hold and the potential damages to individual and businesses should
this be inappropriately released. Great emphasis has been placed on protecting
our systems against threats and maintaining constant vigilance to protect against
any new threat. Internal investment in training and education for our users, to
raise awareness of security risks and to promote good data security practice

wherever staff handle information runs in tandem with our

Desktop

Transformation programme across both Councils, enabled by the Desktop

Enterprise Agreement.

OFFICIAL



1.5.

1.6.

1.7.

1.8.

Page 209

In addition to supporting the Councils in their mission to deliver high quality
services to the residents and people of Cheshire, it is underpinned by the ICT
Services Business Plan.

Standardisation will allow both Councils to access cheaper “cloud” services for
our core infrastructure requirements and negate the need for future major
investment in physical technology assets instead moving to a pay as you go
consumption basis. Cloud based services will increasingly be the mechanism of
choice for technology services and ICT Services is keen to use these where
appropriate. Other Councils, such as Shropshire, Kent and Somerset have also
adopted similar strategies. ICT will move basic utility type services away from
in-house sourced systems to commodity cloud services. An example would be
our email system, this is currently provisioned as a service hosted and run in-
house. However, for the great bulk of our email, an external service such as
Microsoft Office 365 (O365) would provide a cheaper and more functional
service.

The term ‘cloud service’ has been used in technology environments for many
years. It is an alternative business model for the delivery of ICT services. It has
been proposed by both Councils that rather than buy or own equipment and
associated services these are rented on an as required basis from providers with
massive capacity.

Other benefits of adopting cloud services are cited as:

e Software that is provisioned as Software as a Service is maintained at the
latest version as part of the package: new features are automatically available,
and there is no lag whilst ICT prepares the upgrade then implements it. Office
365 is a good example of software as a service

e Speed (better to say Agility and Flexibility): new services can be brought online
quickly and scaled as needed. The speed of cloud provision is often identified
as the single most important reason to move to a cloud service model.
Included here is the capacity to scale up and down as necessary. Extra
capacity can be used at intense periods and then turned off when not in use.

e Fail Fast, Succeed Faster: try something, get fast feedback and then rapidly
inspect and adapt or kil it fast before more money is spent

e Collaboration: as data and service are not locked inside a data centre it is
easier to share these with partners.

e Integration: cloud services have integration designed in at the start and most
vendors expect customers to blend solutions from different places and have
setup solutions to integrate across vendor boundaries.

e Cost: Councils will only pay for what they use, and it runs on a revenue not
capital basis. The ability to turn things off when not needed and hence not pay
for them can give rise to some savings, but this needs to be balanced with a
more intense management of things like the starters, leavers and movers’
processes within both Councils and the business hours of service(s) required.
In the context of transformation, this also avoids tie in to long term contracts.

e Security: the major cloud vendors have spent heavily on security and have
achieved high levels of certification with UK and US governments, the scale
of the operations means that services can afford to implement excellent
security at a low unit cost.

OFFICIAL



Page 210

Resilience: Cloud helps you plan and manage enterprise wide resilience,
aiding speedy recovery and mitigating the impact of disasters

1.9. Windows 10 is Microsoft’s latest operating system and works effectively on
mobile and desktop devices. The key benefits of Windows 10 are

Improved security by providing a layered defence in line with ICT Services
Security roadmap, supported class leading security products

Evergreen which will mean that users will always be on the latest versions of
Windows, avoiding costly change programmes

Provides increased user functionality in line with latest touch technology

1.10. Office 365 is Microsoft cloud software as a service officer product suite. The key
benefits of Office 365 are:

Supports the goals of both councils to consume more cloud services

Access to the latest versions of desktop and office products

Enables better collaboration with external partners and suppliers including

Health

Provides a more cost effective email solution

Office 365 is delivered as SaaS (software as a service) delivers the benefit

of being evergreen, meaning that both councils will always be using the

latest versions of Office 365 product and provides other benefits including:

» Enables a reduction in costs, as Councils will only pay for what they use.
Provides the ability to turn things off when not needed and hence not pay
for them can give rise to some savings, but this needs to be balanced with
a more intense management of things like the starters, leavers and
movers’ processes within both Councils and the business hours of
service(s) required. In the context of our desktop transformation
programme, this also avoids tie in to long term contracts.

= Seamless co-ordination with the tools we already know
Office 365 works seamlessly with the programs we already know and use,
including Outlook, Word, Excel, OneNote, Publisher and PowerPoint.
These tools provide the same great features you rely on as well as
powerful capabilities in Office 365. We can if others are editing the
document we're creating, synchronise documents with our desktop,
broadcast PowerPoint presentations, and check documents in and out of
your online document library.

= Aligns to our vision of Right Device, Right Time Any Place Access
Microsoft® Office 365 provides web-enabled access to email, important
documents, contacts, and calendar on almost any device—including PCs,
Apple Mac,, iPhones and Android phones. Office 365 enables users to
view and edit documents from web browsers on PCs and Apple Mac
computers. Office 365 allows us to easily Communicate and Collaborate
Inside and Outside both Organisations with Office 365, we can send
instant messages to colleagues and customers and invite them to
participate in online meetings where we can review documents or take
control of a desktop.

= Office 365 offers great flexibility by only providing our users with the
services they need, cost-effectively adding value to your business.

OFFICIAL



Page 211 Agenda Item 12

<N
o)

.-;-.:;,\
Cheshire East )/
Council?

Working for a brighter future® together

Key Decision: N

Date First
Published: N/A

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 08 September 2020

Report Title: Capital, Investment and Treasury Management Strategies
Annual Review 2019/20

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Amanda Stott - Finance, IT and Communication

Report Author:  Alex Thompson — Director of Finance & Customer Services
(Section 151 Officer)

Senior Officer: Jane Burns — Executive Director of Corporate Services

1. Report Summary

1.1. The report includes a review of the Capital, Investment and Treasury
Management Strategies for the 2019/20 financial year.

1.2. The Treasury Management Policy requires an annual report on the
performance of the Council’s treasury management operation. This report
contains details of the activities in 2019/20 for Cheshire East Council.

1.3. The attached Appendices set out details of the Council’s activities in
2019/20:

Appendix 1 — Capital Strategy 2019/20 — Provides the final capital outturn
position for the period 15t April 2019 to 315t March 2020.

Appendix 2 — Treasury Management Annual report — includes details of
treasury activity during 2019/20.

Appendix 3 — Investment Strategy 2019/20 — includes details of
investment activity during 2019/20.



Page 212

2. Recommendations

2.1.
2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

That Cabinet:

Note the content of the appendices to this report.

Approve in accordance with Finance Procedure Rules fully funded
supplementary capital estimates over £500,000 and up to £1m (Appendix
1, Annex B);

Approve in accordance with Finance Procedure Rules capital virements
over £1,000,000 and up to £5,000,000 (Appendix 1, Annex B);

Recommend to Council to approve:

2.4.1. capital virements above £1,000,000 in accordance with Financial

Procedure Rules as detailed in (Appendix 1 Annex C).

2.4.2. supplementary capital estimates above £1,000,000 in accordance with

Financial Procedure Rules as detailed in (Appendix 1 Annex D).

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

41.

5.1.

The Council monitors in-year performance through a reporting cycle, which
includes outturn reporting at year-end. Reports during the year reflect
financial and operational performance and provide the opportunity for
members to note, approve or recommend changes in line with the Council’s
Financial Procedure Rules.

This report provides strong links between the Council’s statutory reporting
requirements and the in-year monitoring processes for financial
management of resources.

To meet the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury
Management in the Public Services and the Prudential Code for Capital
Finance in Local Authorities.

Other Options Considered

Not applicable.

Background

The Capital, Treasury and Investment Strategies for 2019/20 were
approved by Council on 218t February 2019 as part of the Medium Term
Financial Strategy. Progress reports have been provided to Cabinet
throughout the year as part of the Quarterly Financial and Performance
Update Reports.



Page 213

5.2.  The Council complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements and
remained within all of its Prudential Indicators during the year, further
details are provided in Appendix 1 - Annex G and Appendix 2- Section 6.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1.

6.1.2.

6.1.3.

The legal implications surrounding the process of setting the 2019 to
2022 medium term financial strategy were dealt with in the reports
relating to that process. The purpose of this paper is to provide a
progress report at the final outturn stage of 2019/20.

Legal implications that arise when activities funded from the budgets
that this report deals with are undertaken, but those implications will
be dealt within the individual reports to Members or Officer Decision
Records that relate.

As noted in paragraph 4.53 of the Finance Procedure Rules in the
Council’s Constitution, the Council has adopted CIPFA’s Code of
Practice for Treasury Management in Local Authorities as this is
recognised as the accepted standard for this area. Paragraphs 4.54 —
4.58 provide further information relating to treasury management
practice, and the Code itself will have been developed and based
upon relevant legislation and best practice. This report is presented to
Cabinet under rule 4.58.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. The Council’s financial resources are agreed by Council and aligned to

6.2.2.

the achievement of stated outcomes for local residents and
communities. Monitoring and managing performance helps to ensure
that resources are used effectively and that business planning and
financial decision making are made in the right context.

The Council's Audit & Governance Committee is responsible for
reviewing and analysing the Council’s financial position at year-end.
The final accounts will be approved by 30" November 2020 following
external auditing and associated recommendations to the Committee.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. This report is a backward look at Council activities during the final

quarter.



Page 214

6.3.2. Financial management supports delivery of all Council policies. The
final outturn position, ongoing considerations for future years, and the
impact on general reserves will be fed into the assumptions
underpinning the 2021/24 medium term financial strategy.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. Any equality implications that arise from activities funded by the
budgets that this report deals with will be dealt within the individual
reports to Members or Officer Decision Records to which they relate.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. This report is a backward look at Council activities at outturn and states
the year end position. Any HR implications that arise from activities
funded by the budgets that this report deals with will be dealt within the
individual reports to Members or Officer Decision Records to which
they relate.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. Performance and risk management are part of the management
processes of the Authority. Risks are captured both in terms of the risk
of underperforming and risks to the Council in not delivering its
objectives for its residents, businesses, partners and other
stakeholders. Risks identified in this report are used to inform the
overall financial control risk contained in the Corporate Risk Register.

6.6.2. Financial risks are assessed and reported on a regular basis, and
remedial action taken if and when required. Risks associated with the
achievement of the 2019/20 budget and the level of general reserves
were factored into the 2020/21 financial scenario, budget and reserves
strategy.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications
6.7.1. The report provides details of service provision across the borough.
6.8. Implications for Children & Young People / Cared for Children
6.8.1. The report provides details of service provision across the borough.
6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. This report is a backward look at Council activities at the fourth quarter
and provides the year end position. Any public health implications that
arise from activities funded by the budgets that this report deals with



Page 215

will be dealt within the individual reports to Members or Officer Decision
Records to which they relate.

7. Ward Members Affected
7.1. Al
8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1. As part of the budget setting process the Pre-Budget Report 2019/20
provided an opportunity for interested parties to review and comment on
the Council’s Budget proposals. The budget proposals described in the
consultation document were Council wide proposals and that consultation
was invited on the broad budget proposals. Where the implications of
individual proposals were much wider for individuals affected by each
proposal, further full and proper consultation was undertaken with people
who would potentially be affected by individual budget proposals.

9. Access to Information

9.1. The following are links to key background documents:

Medium Term Financial Strateqy 2019-22

Mid Year Review of Performance 2019/20
Third Quarter Review of Performance 2019/20
Statement of Accounts 2019/20

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following
officer:

Name: Alex Thompson
Job Title: Director of Finance & Customer Services (Section 151 Officer)

Email: alex.thompson@cheshireeast.gov.uk



https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/council_finance_and_governance/cheshire_east_budget/cheshire-east-budget-2019-20.aspx
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=241&MId=7460&Ver=4
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=241&MId=7464&Ver=4
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/council_finance_and_governance/statement_of_accounts/statement_of_accounts.aspx
mailto:alex.thompson@cheshireeast.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 217

Appendix 1
Capital Strategy

Contents

1. Update on Capital Financing Budget
2. Update on 2019/20 - 2021/22 Capital Programme

Annexes:

A. Revised Capital Programme

B - D Supplementary Capital Estimates & Virements
E. Capital Budget Reductions

F. Transfers to and from the Addendum

G. Prudential Indicators



Page 218

1. Update on Capital Financing Budget

Table 1: Capital Financing Budget (CFB) for 2019/20 to 2021/22

Parameter

Value (Em)
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Budget Budget

Repayment of Borrowing

Minimum Revenue Provision* 9.7 10.9 13.2
External Loan Interest 4.7 5.1 4.9
Investment Income (1.3) (0.9) (0.9)
Contributions from Services (0.8) 2.7) (2.8)
Revenue Budgets

Total Capital Financing Costs 12.3 13.4 15.4
Use of Financing EMR (0.3) (1.4) (1.4)
Actual CFB in MTFS 12.0 12.0 14.0
*Capital Receipts targets 10.5 3.0 3.0
Flexible use of Capital Receipts 2.8 1.0 0.0

* Anticipated MRP based on achieving capital receipts targets

Repayment of Borrowing

1.1 The use of prudential borrowing allows the Council to spread the cost of funding the asset over
its useful economic life. Using prudential borrowing as a funding source increases the Council’s
capital financing requirement (CFR), and will create revenue costs through interest costs and
minimum revenue provision.

1.2 Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations
2003, requires local authorities to charge to their revenue account for each financial year a
minimum amount to finance the cost of capital expenditure. Commonly referred to as MRP
(Minimum Revenue Provision). This ensures that the revenue costs of repaying debt are spread
over the life of the asset, similar to depreciation.

6 -
Capital Financing as a % of Net Budget
@
80 5 -
©
>
@
F )
[
4
[T,
S 4 -
X
3 T T T T T T T T 1
2013/14 2018/19 2021/22

1.3  The projection of the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) and external debt, based
on the proposed capital budget and treasury management strategy is shown in Annex D. This
highlights the level to which the Council is internally borrowed (being the difference between
the CFR and external debt), and the expected repayment profile of the external debt.



1.4

15

Page 219

The nature and scale of the Council’s capital programme means that it is a key factor in the
Council’s treasury management, including the need to borrow to fund capital works. The
treasury management strategy for the Council is included in Appendix 2 of this report.

The Council’s current strategy is to use available cash balances, known as ‘internal borrowing’
and to borrow short term loans. As short-term interest rates are currently much lower than long-
term rates this is likely to be more cost effective.

Contributions from Services

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

1.10

All business cases supporting capital expenditure will include full analysis of the financial
implications of the scheme alongside a clear indication of how the financial implications will be
managed within the Medium-Term Financial Strategy.

When including any scheme in the Council’s Capital Programme the Section 151 Officer will
determine the appropriate impact on the Revenue Budget. This impact will require service
budgets within the MTFS to fund either all, part or none of the net capital costs of the scheme.

In making a determination about funding capital schemes from revenue budgets the level of
potential revenue savings or additional revenue income will be considered. If a capital scheme
will increase revenue costs within the MTFS, either from the future costs of maintaining the
asset or from the costs of financing the capital expenditure, then the approach to funding such
costs must be approved as part of the business planning process before the scheme can
commence.

In 2019/20 the Council received £0.8m of revenue contributions to reduce the Minimum
Revenue Provision charged to the General Fund. The Council’s strategy is to use further
revenue contributions of £3.5m over the next two financial years to finance the Capital
Programme to reduce the pressure on the Capital Financing Budget.

The contributions for 2019/20 include £1.432m for the schools transformation programme;
£1.399m for the Weston Road site, Crewe from the purchase of an investment property;
£0.261m from Everybody Sport and Recreation (ESAR) for the improvements to the Council’s
leisure facilities: £0.279m LED lighting replacement scheme and £0.101m from the Digital
Azure upgrade programme.

Use of Financing Earmarked Reserve

1.11

1.12

1.13

To allow a longer-term approach to setting the Financial Parameters of the Capital Strategy the
Council will maintain an earmarked reserve to minimise the financial impact of annual variations
to the Capital Financing Budget.

The Council’s Reserves Strategy determines the appropriate use of reserves and how they are
set up and governed. In the first instance any under or overspending of the CFB within any
financial year will provide a top-up or draw-down from the Financing Earmarked Reserve. In
balancing the CFB over the period of the MTFS the Section 151 Officer may also recommend
appropriate use of the Financing Earmarked Reserve over the period.

In 2019/20 the Council applied £0.3m from Financing Reserve to help fund the Capital
Financing Budget. The Council’s current strategy is to draw-down up to £2.8m from the
Financing Earmarked Reserve for the period 2020/21 to 2021/22.



2.

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

Page 220

Update on 2019/20 -2021/22 Capital Programme

Since the Third Quarter Review the Capital Programme has increased by £2.4m for the next
three-year period.

The main changes are the increase in additional grant for the Council’'s Basic Need allocation
of £3.0m for the financial year 2021/22 and a small number of Supplementary Capital Estimates
within the Place Directorate totalling £0.7m. There are also several budget reductions for
projects where the budget is no longer required. The most notable reduction was for the Organic
Waste Transfer site at £2.6m. Table 2 shows the movements in the last quarter.

Table 2: Summary Capital Programme

Directorate TOR SCE’s/ Transfers Budget SCE’s Revised
Budget Virements to/from Reductions at Outturn

2019/22  in Quarter Addendum  at Outturn | Outturn Budget

2019/22 2019/22 2019/22 2019/22 2019/22

£m £m £m £m £m £m

People 47.6 0.0 0.9 (0.3) 3.0 51.2
Place 446.1 1.5 0.2 (4.1) 0.7 444.4
Corporate 60.5 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 60.8
554.2 15 14 (4.4) 3.7 556.4

The main transfers from the addendum were £0.9m for two Nursery school expansions at
Beechwood and Ash Grove Primary Schools. The grant funding has been approved from the
Department of Education and work will start on site in 2020/21. There was also a transfer of
£0.310m for the Digital Azure upgrade within our ICT Services. These changes are shown in
Annex F.

The revised programme is funded from both direct income (grants, external contributions) and
the Council’s own resources (prudential borrowing, revenue contributions, capital reserve).

The final Outturn position as the 31 March 2020 showed total capital expenditure of £124.0m
against a Third Quarter forecast position of £132.8m. The slippage of £8.8m has been re-
profiled into future years as shown in Annex A.

Annex B details requests of Supplementary Capital Estimates (SCE) up to and including
£500,000 and Capital Virements up to and including £1,000,000 approved by delegated
decision which are included for noting purposes only.

Annex C details requests of Supplementary Capital Estimates (SCE) up to and including
£1,000,000 and Capital Virements up to and including £5,000,000 to be approved by Cabinet.
This includes a virement for £2.0m for the Flooding and Weather Events project set up to deal
with flooding across the borough in February 2020. The budget will be vired from within the
Council’s existing approved capital budgets

Annex D details requests of Supplementary Capital Estimates (SCE) over £1,000,000 to be
approved by full Council. There is one Supplementary Capital Estimate of £3.0m which is the
additional Basic Need Funding for the financial year 2021/22 that is not already approved within
the main capital programme.

Annex E lists details of reductions in Approved Budgets where schemes are completed, and
surpluses can now be removed. These are for noting purposes only.



Page 221

Table 3: Revised Addendum Programme

Budget Budget Budget Total Budget

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2019/22
(0[0[0) (0[0]0) £000 £000

Addendum
People 0 234 0 234
Place 0 40,967 353,756 394,723
Corporate 1,715 3,008 3,683 8,406
Total Addendum 1,715 44,209 367,439 403,363

2.10 Annex F shows the movements from and to the Capital Addendum since the Medium-Term
Financial Strategy was approved in February 2019.



Page 222

Annex A:
Revised Capital Programme

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL CAPITAL PROGRAMME SUMMARY

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 - 2021/22

Total
Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019-22
£000 £000 £000 £000

Committed Schemes - In Progress
People 8,159 15,584 3,302 27,045
Place 91,530 73,069 126,566 291,165
Corporate 13,433 15,887 30,934 60,254
Total Committed Schemes - In Progress 113,122 104,540 160,802 378,464
Total
Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019-22
£000 £000 £000 £000

New Schemes

People 2,790 13,397 8,060 24,247
Place 8,088 44,482 100,654 153,224
Corporate 0 330 0 330
Total New Schemes 10,878 58,209 108,714 177,801
Total 124,000 162,749 269,516 556,265




Page 223

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL CAPITAL PROGRAMME SUMMARY

-___________________________________|
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 - 2021/22

Total

Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019-22
£000 £000 £000 £000

Funding Requirement

Indicative Funding Analysis: (See note 1)

Government Grants 52,647 71,911 127,116 251,674
External Contributions 7,265 19,274 52,385 78,924
Revenue Contributions 577 607 0 1,184
Capital Receipts 7,029 3,000 3,000 13,029
Prudential Borrowing (See note 2) 56,482 67,957 87,015 211,454
Total 124,000 162,749 269,516 556,265
Note 1:

The funding requirement identified in the above table represents a balanced and affordable position, in
the medium term. The Council will attempt to maximise external resources such as grants and
external contributions in the first instance to fund the capital programme. Where the Council resources
are required the preference will be to utilise capital receipts from asset disposals. The forecast for
capital receipts over the next two years from 2020/21-2022 assumes a prudent approach based on the
work of the Asset Management team and their most recently updated Disposals Programme.

Note 2:

Appropriate charges to the revenue budget will only commence in the year following the completion of
the associated capital asset. This allows the Council to constantly review the most cost effective way
of funding capital expenditure.



Page 224

Annex B:

Delegated Decision - Requests for Supplementary
Capital Estimates (SCEs) and Virements

Service & Capital Scheme Amount

Requested

Reason and Funding Source

£
Summary of Supplementary Capital Estimates and Capital Virements

Supplementary Capital Estimates up to £500,000

S278's Agreements

Kings School, Prestbury 30,000
Welshmans Lane, Nantwich 4,526
A34 Astbury Mere 1,500
Parking - Replacement Vehicle 293
Active Travel (Cycle/Walking route) Investment 10,000
Middlewich Southern Link and Clive Green Lane Upgrad 45,000
S106 Rope Lane Ped Crossing 5,748

London Rd, Sandbach Ped Cross 12

£60k fees paid by the Developer, budget increase to match the amount
received.

£11,500k fees paid by the Developer, budget increase to match the
amount received.

Increase in budget to match fees increase.

Revenue contribution to cover additional costs.

Revenue contribution towards the cost of a feasibility study for a new
cycle bridge across the River Dane — part of the Congleton Masterplan.

Increase in budget to include the Cheshire West and Chester Council
contribution to the scheme.

To increase the budget to include all of the eligible S106 funds available

S106 Holmes Chapll Rd Bus Stops 876 .
for these proiects

Newcastle Rd, Shavington Ped X 21,282

Middlewich Rd Elworth Ped Crossing 3,995

Sustainable Travel Access Programme 105,000

Growth and Enterprise

Wheelock Rail Trail s106 210 This project is funded by a S106 receipt, the increase is to align the
budget with the actual receipt.

Schools Capital Maintenance 125,900 To increase the budget to include School contributions to works carried
out by Facilities Management including the Schools Contributions for
2020/21

Environment & Neighbourhood Services

Environmental Health Vehicles 1,261 Revenue contribution to cover the additional cost

Household Bins Schemes 209,900 Current expenditure levels will create a shortfall against the available
budget at year-end. The excess expenditure is being funded by a revenue
contribution.

Congleton Park Play Area Improvements 5,434 Final outturn is higher than originally budgeted. This increase is being off-
set by additional external funding from FCC (WREN).

Playing Fields Fund 99,963 Approved capital grant offer has now been received from the Football
Foundation.

Total Supplementary Capital Estimates Requested 670,900




Page 225

Amount

Service & Capital Scheme Reason and Funding Source

Requested
£

Summary of Supplementary Capital Estimates and Capital Virements

Capital Budget Virements that have been made up to £1,000,000

Education and 14-19 Skills

Future Capital Maintenance 8,175 Virement from Schools Maintenance grant (Facilities Management) for
£8,175 spend on wall design works for Buglawton Primary School

Sandbach Boys School 45,095 Virement from the Sandbach Planning Area Programme - Secondary
Schools to increase the budget for the Boys School to match the
approved grant agreement.

Adelaide Academy 1,950
Cranberry Primary School 217
Alsager High School 4,378
Disley Primary School (Basic Needs) 416
Hungerford Primary School 1,029
Mablins Lane Primary School - Phase 2 758
Monks Coppenhall Primary School - Basic Needs 1,170
Malbank High School 7,567
Brine Leas High School 4,594
Pupil Referral Unit - New Site 7,503
Elworth CoE Primary School 8,983
Shavington Primary School 7,792
To Expand 'in borough' SEN placement Capacity - 6,555

Springfield Special School

=
Virements from the Capital Maintenance, Basic Need and the Special

The Quinta Basic Needs 2,582 Provision Block Allocations to cover the Salary Recharges from the
Organisation and Capital Team.

St Johns CoE Primary School 6,212

Expansion of Park Lane School (to expand ‘in borough’ 21,776

Wilmslow High School-Condition 216

Vernon Primary School 2,099

Hurdsfield Primary School 10,247

Wilmslow High School BN 31,867

Monks Coppenhall SEN Expansion 416

Puss Bank SEN Expansion 9,456

Sandbach High School - Basic Need 16,891

Sandbach Boys School - Basic Need 16,528

Middlewich High School - Front Entrance 9,857

Special Provision Fund Capital Grant 8,945

Schools Condition Capital Grant 17,851

Weaver Primary School - Mobile 905

Pupil Referral Unit - New Site 307,504 Virement from Basic Need Block to fund Pupil Referral Unit overspend

The Dingle Primary School 86 Virement from Capital Maintenance fund to The Dingle Primary School to
fund overspend

Healthy Pupils Capital Fund 5,582 Virement from borrowing for Elworth Hall Primary to fund overspend on

Healthly Pupils Project
Growth and Enterprise

Field to Fork 1,198 Virements within the Tatton Park Capital Programme to cover overspends
Tatton Events Infrastructure 2,175 at Outturn
Schools Capital Maintenance 502,200 Schools Capital Condition grant - 2020-21 Schools Condition Programme,

that will be delivered by the Facilities Management Team.




Page 226

Service & Capital Scheme Amount  peason and Funding Source

Requested
£

Summary of Supplementary Capital Estimates and Capital Virements

Capital Budget Virements that have been made up to £1,000,000

Highways and Infrastructure

Winter Service Facility 43,455 Department for Transport grant reallocated within the programme to cover
_ the staffing overhead cost against the Winter Service Depot project

Highways Investment Network 120,412

Highway Maintenance Minor Wks 41,270

Client Contract and Asset Mgmt 32,736

S106 Rope Lane Ped Crossing 4,039 — Virements within the Highways service to cover additional costs within the

programme.

Main Rd, Shavington TRO 1,467

Hassall Rd, Alsager Ped Xing 1,650

Accessibility: Public Transp't 215

Environment & Neighbourhood Services

Household Waste Recycling Centre 100,000 Virement from Organic Waste Composting Plant project to meet costs of

reprocurement due to contractor no longer trading.

Energy Improvements at Cledford Lane 80,000 Virement from Organic Waste Composting Plant project to cover
additional costs of snagging the silt bay works.

Total Capital Budget Virements Approved 930,817

Total Supplementary Capital Estimates and 1,601,717




Page 227

Annex C:

Delegated Decision - Requests for Supplementary
Capital Estimates (SCEs) and Virements

Amount
Requested

£

Service / Capital Scheme

Reason and Funding Source

Capital Budget Virements above £1,000,000

Highways and Infrastructure

Flooding and Weather events 2,013,569 Virements from within the current LTP funded
programme (Highways Investment Network(£522k), Local
Area Programme(101k), Highway Maintenance Minor
Wks(£925k) and Bridge Maintenance Minor Wks(£166k))
where the expenditure has been managed to enable
these essential works to take place. Also the residual
budget against the Poynton Revitilisation Scheme
(£300k) which is now complete.

Total Capital Budget Virements Requested 2,013,569




Page 228

Annex D:

Requests for Supplementary Capital Estimates (SCESs)
and Virements

Amount

Service/Capital Scheme Requested Reason and Funding Source

B
Capital Supplementary Estaimates Over £1,000,000

Education and 14-19 Skills

Future Years Basic Need Block Allocation 2,977,000 Additional Basic Need Grant for the financial Year 2021/22 - not yet
included in the capital proaramme.

Total Supplementary Capital Estimates

2,977,000
Requested




Annex E:

Capital Budget Reductions

Service/Capital Scheme

Approved
Budget

£

Revised

Approval
B

Cabinet are asked to note the reductions in Approved Budgets

Education and 14-19 Skills

Schools Condition Capital Grant

S278s

Flowers Lane, Crewe
Sandbach Road, Alsager
Barony Road, Nantwich

138 Sydney Road, Crewe

Old Mill Road, Sandbach
Reaseheath College, Nantwich
S278 Aldi Knutsford

Growth and Enterprise

Crewe Town Centre Regeneration

Modular Construction (Gawsworth)
Gawsworth Dark Lane - historically Engine of th
Starter Homes - Phase 1 (Browning Street)

Browning Street - historically Engine of the
North budget

Hurdsfield Family Centre

Twin Trails - Gritstone Trail

1,560,000

30,000
20,000

5,000
10,000
20,353

3,000
35,000

31,637,094

125,462
1,264

867,000

59,272

449,706
15,081

1,269,000

11,949
15,000
3,812
6,279
19,592
2,855
31,000

31,253,580

o

449,171
15,000

Reduction

£

(291,000)

(18,051)
(5,000)
(1,188)
(3,721)

(761)
(145)
(4,000)

(383,514)

(125,462)
(1,264)
(867,000)
(59,272)

(535)
(81)

Reason and Funding Source

Confirmation of the grant less than the original estimate by £291,000

Project is now complete and can be finally closed.

To decrease budget to the amount of fees received.

Project is now complete, to reduce budget to the amount spent.
Project is now complete, to reduce budget to the amount spent.
Project complete - reduce budget to match spend and close down
Project complete - reduce budget to match spend and close down
Project complete - reduce budget to match spend and close down

To reduce budget for funding transferred to Revenue for costs that could not be
classed as Capital expenditure.

Housing development schemes which have been aborted, due to planning
permission not being gained.

This project is now complete.
This project is now complete.

6¢¢ obed



Approved Revised

Budget  Approval

£ £ £
Cabinet are asked to note the reductions in Approved Budgets

Reduction

Service/Capital Scheme

Environment & Neighbourhood

Improvements to Haslington Play Area & 72,815 72,801 (19
Recreation Ground

James Atkinson Way Playground, Crewe 30,245 26,945 (3,300)
Wood Park Access Improvements 33,526 32,451 (1,075)
Organic Waste Treatment Plant 11,500,000 8,872,262 (2,627,738)
Parks Development Fund 636,370 625,693 (10,677)

Finance and Customer Services

Digital Customer Services 5,977,259 5,977,026 (233)

Total Capital Budget Reductions 53,088,447 48,684,416 (4,404,031)

Reason and Funding Source

Project is now complete and can be finally closed.

Project is now complete and can be finally closed.

Project is now complete and can be finally closed.

Reduction in budget to reflect revised project costing.

Reduction in budget to provide contribution towards the projects Perry Fields
and Conaleton Park Play Area to meet actual outturn.

Project overcharged in 2018-19, this has now been refunded in 2019-20

0gg abed



Page 231

Annex F:
Transfers From and to the Capital Addendum

Servcice/Capital Scheme Reason / Comment

Budgets Transferred from the Addendum to the Main Capital Programme

Education and 14-19 Skills

Grant approval now received from the Department of Education -

Ash Grove Nursery Expansion (226,267) transferred to the main programme in 2019/20

. Grant approval now received from the Department of Education -
Beechwood Nursery Expansion (700,723) transferred to the main programme in 2019/20
Highways and Infrastructure

Transferred to the current programme in 2019/20 for Replacement

Replacement Route Planning System (108,571) Route Planning System

Growth and Enterprise

Sustainable Towns (Regeneration &

(43,000) Additional funds of £43,000 to Macclesfield Town Centre project.
Development)

Corporate - ICT
To facilitate the migration of the Dynamics 2013 CRM on premise

Digial Strategy (310,000) solution to an Azure D365 PaaS solution
Total Budgets Transferred to Main Capital
Programme (1,388,561)

Net Change to the Addendum (1,388,561)



Page 232

Annex G:

Prudential Indicators revisions to 2019/20 — 2021/22.

Background

1.1  There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities to have
regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the “CIPFA
Prudential Code”) when setting and reviewing their Prudential Indicators.

Estimates of Capital Expenditure

1.2 In 2019/20, the Council spent £124.0m on capital expenditure as summarised below:

Capital Expenditure 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Actual Estimate Estimate
£m £m £m

Total 124.0 162.7 161.3 108.2

Source: Cheshire East Finance

Capital Financing

1.3  All capital expenditure must be financed either from external sources (government grants
and other contributions). The Council's own resources (revenue reserves and capital
receipts) or debt (borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The planned financing
of capital expenditure is as follows:

Capital Financing 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Estimate Estimate
£m £m £m
Capital receipts 7.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Government Grants 52.7 71.9 97.9 29.2
External Contributions 7.3 19.3 16.1 36.3
Revenue Contributions 0.6 0.6 0.0 0.0
Total Financing 67.6 94.8 117.0 68.5
Prudential Borrowing 56.4 67.9 44.3 39.7
Total Funding 56.4 67.9 44.3 39.7
Total Financing and
Funding 124.0 162.7 161.3 108.2

Source: Cheshire East Finance

Replacement of debt finance

1.4 Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be repaid, and this
is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from revenue which is known as
minimum revenue provision (MRP). Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital assets may
be used to replace debt finance. Planned MRP repayments are as follows:



15

Page 233

Replacement of debt  2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

finance Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m £m £m £m
Total 9.7 10.9 13.2 15.5

Source: Cheshire East Finance

The Council’s full MRP Statement is available in Annex E.

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement

1.6

The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the capital
financing requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and
reduces with MRP repayments and capital receipts used to replace debt. The CFR is
expected to increase by £60m during 2020/21. Based on the above figures for expenditure
and financing, the Council’s actual CFR for 2019/20 was £371.0m against an in year forecast
of £419m as shown in the table below:

Capital Financing 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Requirement Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m £m £m £m

Total 371 431 458 487

Source: Cheshire East Finance

Asset disposals

1.7

When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds, known as
capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or to repay debt. The Council is currently also
permitted to spend capital receipts on service transformation project until 2021/22.
Repayments of capital grants, loans and investments also generate capital receipts. The
Council received £10.4m of capital receipts in 2019/20 against a provisional forecast of
£7.2m. The Council estimates a further £9.0m in the coming financial years as follows.

Capital Receipts 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Asset Sales 10.4 3.0 3.0 3.0
Loans Repaid 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2
Total 10.5 3.2 3.2 3.2

Source: Cheshire East Finance

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement

1.8

1.9

The Council’'s main objectives when borrowing is to achieve a low but certain cost of finance
while retaining flexibility should plans change in the future. These objectives are often
conflicting, and the Council therefore seeks to strike a balance between cheap short-term
loans (currently available at around 0.3%) and long-term fixed rate loans where the future
cost is known but higher (currently 2 — 3%).

Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt (which comprises borrowing, PFI
liabilities, leases are show below, compared with the capital financing requirement.



Page 234

Gross Debt and the 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Capital Financing Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

Requirement

£m £m £m £m
Borrowing 201 130 78 77
Finance Leases 2 1 1 1
PFI Liabilities 22 21 20 20
Total Debt 225 152 99 98
Capital Financing Reg.

371 431 458 487

1.10 Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except
in the short term. As can be seen from the above table, the Council expects to comply with
this in the medium term.

Liability Benchmark

1.11 To compare the Council’'s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability
benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This assumes
that cash and investment balances are kept to a minimum level of £20m at each year end.
This benchmark is currently £183m and is forecast to rise to £327m over the next three years.

Borrowing and the 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Liability Benchmark Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m £m £m £m
Outstanding Debt 201 130 78 77

Liability Benchmark 181 259 087 326

Source: Cheshire East Finance

1.12 The table shows that the Council expects to remain borrowed below its liability benchmark.

Affordable borrowing limit

1.13 The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the authorised
limit for external debt) each year. In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational
boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt approach the limit.



Page 235

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

limit limit limit limit
£m £m £m £m

Authorised Limit for

Borrowing 359 420 448 477
Authorised Limit for

Other Long-Term

Liabilities 22 22 21 21
Authorised Limit for
External Debt 381 442 469 498
Operational Boundary
for Borrowing 349 410 438 467

Operational Boundary
for Other Long-Term

Liabilities 22 22 21 21
Operational

Boundary for

External Debt 371 432 459 488

Investment Strategy

1.14

1.15

1.16

1.17

1.18

Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is paid out again. Investments made
for service reasons or for pure financial gain are not generally considered to be part of
treasury management.

The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity over yield,
that is to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns. Cash that is likely to be
spent in the near term is invested securely, for example with money market funds, other local
authorities or selected high quality banks, to minimise the risk of loss. Money that will be
held for longer terms is invested more widely, including in shares and property, to balance
the risk of loss against the risk of returns below inflation.

Treasury 31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23
Management Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate
Investments £m £m £m £m
Short term 0 0 0 0
Long term 20 20 20 20
Total Investments 20 20 20 20

Source: Cheshire East Finance

Further details on treasury investments are in pages of the Treasury Management Strategy,
Appendix 2.

Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are made daily and are
therefore delegated to the Section 151 Officer and staff, who must act in line with the treasury
management strategy approved by Council. Quarterly reports on treasury activity are
reported to Cabinet as part of the Finance and Performance Update reports. The Audit and
Governance Committee is responsible for scrutinising treasury management decisions.

Further details on investments for service purposes and commercial activities are in the
Investment Strategy, Appendix 3.



Page 236

1.19 Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable
on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by an investment income receivable. The
net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream
i.e., the amount funded from Council Tax, business rates and general government grants.

Ratio of Financing 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Costs to Net Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate
Revenue Stream
Financing Costs (Em)

12.0 12.0 14.0 14.0
4.23 4.00 4.66 4.61

Proportion of net
revenue stream %
Source: Cheshire East Finance

1.20 Further details on the revenue implications of capital expenditure are on paragraphs 90-97
of the 2019-22 Medium Term Financial Strategy (Appendix C).

1.21 Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue budget
implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for up to 50 years into
the future. The Section 151 Officer is satisfied that the proposed capital programme is
prudent, affordable and sustainable. The longer-term revenue implications have been
considered and built into the revenue budget forecasts post the period of the current Medium-
Term Financial Strategy.



Page 237

Appendix 2

Treasury Management Annual Report
2019/20

=

Background

2. External Content
3. Local Context

4. Borrowing Strategy

5. Investment Strategy

o

Treasury Management Indicators

Annexes:
A. Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position

21|Page



Page 238

1. Background

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

2.1

2.2

2.3

24

25

Treasury management is the management of the Authority’s cash flows, borrowing and
investments, and the associated risks. The Authority has borrowed and invested substantial sums
of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the
revenue effect of changing interest rates. The successful identification, monitoring and control of
financial risk are therefore central to the Authority’s prudent financial management. The Treasury
Management Strategy for 2019/20 was approved at Council on 215t February 2019

Treasury risk management at the Authority is conducted within the framework of the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code
of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires the Authority to approve a treasury
management strategy before the start of each financial year and as a minimum a semi-annual and
annual treasury outturn report. This report fulfils the Authority’s legal obligation under the Local
Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code.

In carrying out treasury operations the Council has regard to the advice received from it's appointed
Treasury Management advisors, Arlingclose Ltd. The current contract for advice expires 31°%
December 2020.

Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered in the Investment
Strategy Report (see Appendix 3).

. External Context

Economic background: The UK’s exit from the European Union and future trading arrangements,
had remained one of major influences on the UK economy and sentiment during 2019/20. The 29"
March 2019 Brexit deadline was extended to 12" April, then to 31°% October and finally to 31st
January 2020. Politics played a major role in financial markets over the period as the UK’s tenuous
progress negotiating its exit from the European Union together with its future trading arrangements
drove volatility, particularly in foreign exchange markets. The outcome of December’'s General
Election removed a lot of the uncertainty and looked set to provide a ‘bounce’ to confidence and
activity.

The headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation UK Consumer Price Inflation fell to 1.7% year on
year in February, below the Bank of England’s target of 2%. Labour market data remained positive.
The ILO unemployment rate was 3.9% in the three months to January 2020 while the employment
rate hit a record high of 76.5%. The average annual growth rate for pay excluding bonuses was
3.1% in January 2020 and the same when bonuses were included, providing some evidence that
a shortage of labour had been supporting wages.

GDP growth in Q4 2019 was reported as flat by the Office for National Statistics and service sector
growth slowed and production and construction activity contracted on the back of what at the time
were concerns over the impact of global trade tensions on economic activity. The annual rate of
GDP growth remained below-trend at 1.1%.

Then coronavirus swiftly changed everything. COVID-19, which had first appeared in China in
December 2019, started spreading across the globe causing plummeting sentiment and falls in
financial markets not seen since the Global Financial Crisis as part of a flight to quality into
sovereign debt and other perceived ‘safe’ assets.

In response to the spread of the virus and sharp increase in those infected, the government
enforced lockdowns, central banks and governments around the world cut interest rates and
introduced massive stimulus packages in an attempt to reduce some of the negative economic
impact to domestic and global growth.

22|Page



2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

2.11

Page 239

The Bank of England, which had held policy rates steady at 0.75% through most of 2019/20, moved
in March to cut rates to 0.25% from 0.75% and then swiftly thereafter brought them down further to
the record low of 0.1%. In conjunction with these cuts, the UK government introduced a number of
measures to help businesses and households impacted by a series of ever-tightening social
restrictions, culminating in pretty much the entire lockdown of the UK.

The US economy grew at an annualised rate of 2.1% in Q4 2019. After escalating trade wars and
a protracted standoff, the signing of Phase 1 of the trade agreement between the US and China in
January was initially positive for both economies, but COVID-19 severely impacted sentiment and
production in both countries. Against a slowing economic outlook, the US Federal Reserve began
cutting rates in August. Following a series of five cuts, the largest of which were in March 2020, the
Fed Funds rate fell from of 2.5% to range of 0% - 0.25%. The US government also unleashed a
raft of COVID-19 related measures and support for its economy including a $2 trillion fiscal stimulus
package. With interest rates already on (or below) the floor, the European Central Bank held its
base rate at 0% and depositrate at  -0.5%.

Financial Markets: Financial markets sold off sharply as the impact from the coronavirus
worsened. After starting positively in 2020, the FTSE 100 fell over 30% at its worst point with stock
markets in other countries seeing similar huge falls. In March sterling touch its lowest level against
the dollar since 1985. The measures implemented by central banks and governments helped
restore some confidence and financial markets have rebounded in recent weeks but remain
extremely volatile. The flight to quality caused gilts yields to fall substantially. The 5-year benchmark
falling from 0.75% in April 2019 to 0.26% on 31st March. The 10-year benchmark yield fell from 1%
to 0.4%, the 20-year benchmark yield from 1.47% to 0.76% over the same period. 1-month, 3-
month and 12-month bid rates averaged 0.61%, 0.72% and 0.88% respectively over the period.

Credit Review: In Q4 2019 Fitch affirmed the UK’s AA sovereign rating, removed it from Rating
Watch Negative (RWN) and assigned a negative outlook. Fitch then affirmed UK banks’ long-term
ratings, removed the RWN and assigned a stable outlook. Standard & Poor’s also affirmed the UK
sovereign AA rating and revised the outlook to stable from negative. The Bank of England
announced its latest stress tests results for the main seven UK banking groups. All seven passed
on both a common equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio and a leverage ratio basis. Under the test scenario
the banks’ aggregate level of CET1 capital would remain twice their level before the 2008 financial
crisis.

While the UK and non-UK banks on the treasury advisors counterparty list remain in a strong and
well-capitalised position, the duration advice on all these banks was cut to 35 days in mid-March.

Fitch downgraded the UK sovereign rating to AA- in March which was followed by a number of
actions on UK and Non-UK banks. This included revising the outlook on all banks on the
counterparty list to negative, with the exception of Barclays Bank, Rabobank, Handelsbanken and
Nordea Bank which were placed on Rating Watch Negative, as well as cutting Close Brothers long-
term rating to A-.

23|Page



Page 240

3. Local Context

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

As at 315 March 2020 the Authority has borrowings of £225m and investments of £47m. This is set
out in further detail at Annex B. Forecast changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet
analysis in Table 1 below.

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast

31/03/19 31/03/20 | 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23

Actual Actual | Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

General Fund CFR 330 371 431 458 487
Less: Other long-term liabilities * (26) (24) (22) (22) (21)
Loans CFR 304 347 409 437 466
Less: External borrowing ** (158) (201) (130) (78) 77)
Internal (over) borrowing 146 146 279 359 389
Less: Usable reserves (112) (106) (102) (97) (89)
Less: Working capital (86) (80) (75) (73) (72)
Investments (or New borrowing) 52 40 (102) (189) (229)

* finance leases and PFl liabilities that form part of the Authority’s debt

** shows only loans to which the Authority is committed and excludes optional refinancing

The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing
Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are the underlying resources
available for investment. The Authority’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments
below their underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing.

The Authority has an increasing CFR due to the capital programme and will therefore be required
to borrow up to £119m over the forecast period 2020/21 to 2022/23.

CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends that the Authority’s
total debt should be lower than its highest forecast CFR over the next three years. Table 1 shows
that the Authority expects to comply with this recommendation during 2019/20.

Liability Benchmark: To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy,
a liability benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This assumes
the same forecasts as table 1 above, but that cash and investment balances are kept to a minimum
level of £20m (increased from £10m in 2019/20) at each year-end to maintain a core strategic
investment.

24|Page



Page 241

Table 2: Liability Benchmark

31/03/19 | 31/03/20 31/03/21  31/03/22 | 31/03/23

Actual Actual = Estimate Estimate | Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Loans CFR 304 347 409 437 466
Less: Usable reserves (112) (106) (102) 97) (89)
Less: Working capital (86) (80) (75) (73) (71)
Plus: Minimum investments 10 20 20 20 20
Liability Benchmark 116 181 252 287 326

Following on from the medium-term forecasts in table 2 above the long-term liability benchmark
assumes minimum revenue provision on new capital expenditure based on a 25 year asset life and
income, expenditure and reserves all increasing by inflation of 2.5% a year. This is shown in Chart
1.

25|Page



Page 242

Chart 1: Liability Benchmark Chart

Cheshire East Council

LOBO Loans
450
mmm Fixed-term Loans
400 -
Loans CFR
350 -
ems| iability Benchmark
300

250

200

150

100

50

I ol & & Gl oF

2019 2024 2029 2034 2039 2044 2049 2054 2059 2064 2069

4. Borrowing Strategy

4.1 The Authority currently holds loans of £201m, an increase of £43m since 31%' March
2020. PWLB debt has been reducing by £6m per year whilst cash flow shortfalls
caused by internal borrowing is being funded through cheaper short term borrowing.

4.2  Atthe moment this is being be met by temporary borrowing from other Local Authorities
which is considerably cheaper than other sources of borrowing. Generally this was on
a one to three month basis but with some extending into 2020/21 and 2021/22 as
liquidity within the markets is expected to become scarce. The cost (including fees) in
2019/20 was around 0.97%. A full list of temporary borrowings as at 315 March 2020
is shown below in Table 3.

26 |Page



4.3

Page 243

Table 3 — Current Temporary Borrowing

Lender Start Maturity  Rate £m
%
Tameside 05/03/19  05/05/20 1.15 5.0
Derbyshire 15/03/19  24/04/20 1.20 10.0
Lincolnshire 15/03/19  15/04/20 1.15 5.0
Wokingham 11/09/19 10/09/21  0.90 5.0
PCC Dyfed - Powys 20/01/20 22/04/20  0.49 2.0
Northern Ireland Housing Executive 13/01/20 15/04/20 0.77 10.0
Cheshire West & Chester 20/01/20  20/04/20 0.80 5.0
Essex 23/01/20 23/04/20  0.76 5.0
Kingston Upon Hull 14/02/20 01/04/20 0.70 10.0
Hart 03/02/20 15/05/20  0.76 4.0
Calderdale 05/02/20 22/04/20  0.70 1.0
PCC Staffordshire 06/03/20 06/05/20  0.80 3.0
Erewash 13/03/20 15/06/20 1.05 1.0
Lancashire 12/03/20 14/04/20 1.15 20.0
West Lindsey 16/03/20 23/04/20 0.62 1.0
Lancashire 19/03/20 19/05/20 0.85 10.0
Trafford 20/03/20  21/09/20 1.50 2.0
Warwickshire 19/03/20 21/09/20 1.60 10.0
Cherwell 20/03/20 09/04/20 1.50 3.0
North Yorkshire 27/03/20 28/09/20 1.45 5.0
TOTAL 117.0

LOBO’s: The Authority holds £17m of LOBO (Lender's Option Borrower’s Option)
loans where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate at set
dates, following which the Authority has the option to either accept the new rate or to
repay the loan at no additional cost. All of these LOBO’s had options during 2019/20
but no changes were proposed.

27|Page



Page 244

5. Investment Strategy

5.1

5.2

5.3

54

55

5.6

5.7

The Authority holds invested funds, representing income received in advance of
expenditure plus balances and reserves held. Due to the overriding need for short term
borrowing, other than £20m invested strategically in managed funds, the investments
are generally short term for liquidity purposes. On occasions higher balances than
expected have been held due to the timing of receipt of grants, particularly COVID-19
related grants in March 2020.

The CIPFA Code requires the Authority to invest its funds prudently, and to have regard
to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return,
or yield. The Authority’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate
balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults
and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income.

The maximum amount that can be invested with any one organisation is set in the
Treasury Management Strategy Report. The maximum amount and duration of
investments with any institution depends on the organisations credit rating, the type of
investment and for banks and building societies, the security of the investment.
Generally credit rated banks and building societies have been set at a maximum value
of £6m for unsecured investments and £12m for secured investments. Any limits apply
to the banking group that each bank belongs to. Limits for each Money Market fund
have been set at a maximum value of £12m per fund with a limit of 50% of total
investments per fund. There is also a maximum that can be invested in all Money
Market Funds at any one time of £50m. Due to their smaller size, unrated Building
Societies have a limit of £1m each.

As reported in the last monitoring report, in October the Council has exceeded its limit
for unsecured investments with Santander UK Bank with £8.5m invested in notice
accounts which is in excess of the limit by £2.5m. This position was rectified in
November and arose as there are separate accounts in use with different terms. This
situation should not arise again.

A further breach occurred in March as large overnight balances were held with the
Councils bank, Barclays. This arose due to the late receipt of high value grants and
maintaining liquidity whist COVID-19 lockdown processes were being implemented.

Treasury Management income for 2019/20 is £673,000 which is higher than the
budgeted £440,000. Offsetting this are increased borrowing costs (£126,000 higher
than budget).

- The average daily investment balance including managed funds during
2019/20 is £31.7m

- The average annualized interest rate received on in-house investments during
2019/20 is 0.74%

- The average annualized interest rate received on the externally managed funds
during 2019/20 is 4.23%

The Authority’s total average interest rate on all investments in 2019/20 is 2.12%. The
returns continue to exceed our benchmark, the London Inter-bank Bid Rate for 7 days
at 0.66% (average 2019/20), and our own performance target of 1.25% (Base Rate for
most of 2019/20 + 0.50%).

28|Page



5.8

5.9

5.10

Page 245

Table 4 — Interest Rate Comparison

Comparator Average Rate

2019/2020
Cheshire East 2.12%
LIBID 7 Day Rate 0.68%
LIBID 3 Month Rate 0.72%
Base Rate 0.75%
Target Rate 1.25%

As the Authority holds a large amount of reserves and working capital, the level of
strategic investments was increased from £10m to £20m in order to benefit from higher
income returns whilst spreading risk across different asset classes.

The additional £10m was invested between October 2019 and February 2020 across
4 different funds which are all designed to give an annual income return between 4%
and 5% but which have different underlying levels of volatility. By spreading
investments across different types of fund, the intention is to dampen any large
fluctuations in the underlying value of the investments. These are shown below in Table
5.

Table 5 =Strategic Investments
Fund Manager Asset Class £m ‘

CCLA Property 7.5
Kames Multi Asset 5.0
Fidelity Equity - Global 4.0
Schroders Equity - UK 2.5
M&G Bonds 1.0
TOTAL 20.0

The value of these investments does vary. The effects of COVID-19 on financial
markets and values of underlying assets has been considerable. Fund values at 31°%
March 2020 were significantly lower than the amounts invested. The Balance Sheet
shows the value of these investments at £18.1m. However, since then the values of
some of these funds have improved whilst they all continue to deliver high levels of
income return.

29|Page



Page 246

Chart 2 — Current Investments by Counterparty Type

Property Fund UK Banks -
16% Unsecured
24%

Other
Managed
Funds
27%

Money
Market Funds
33%

Table 6 — Types of Investments and Interest Rates at 315 March 2020

Instant Access Accounts Average Rate

%

Money Market Funds 0.43 15.5

Barclays Call Account 0.30 11.1

Externally Managed

Funds
Property Fund 7.5
Other Managed Funds 125

Summary of Current

Investments

TOTAL 46.6

30|Page



Page 247

Chart 3 — Maturity Profile of Investments

£m

30.0
25.0 -
20.0 ~
15.0 -
10.0
5.0
0.0 - T T T T T T

X N S
Q QO
,\{—3@ ) N
AN

B Exempt

H Bail-inable

<
RO OGRS,
N it} b’

Note: Bail-inable means that in the event of default the counterparty may be required
to use part of the investments as their own capital in which case the Council would not
get back as much as they invested. This would apply with most bank and Building
Society investments.

6. Treasury Management Indicators

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks
using the following indicators.

Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to
interest rate risk. The upper limit on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise in
interest rates is:

Interest Rate Risk Indicator

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1%

L £410,000
rise in interest rates

Actual impact in 2019/20 of increase in interest | g
rates

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that maturing
loans and investments will be replaced at current rates. The remained a net borrower
in 2019/20 so any fall in rates would lead to savings rather than incurring additional
cost. The limit and the actual impact were therefore £0.

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s
exposure to refinancing risk. Lower limits have been set at 0%. The upper limits on the
maturity structure of borrowing which were set in February 2020 and the actual maturity
profiles as at 315 March 2020 are:

31|Page



6.5

6.6

Page 248

Refinancing rate risk indicator Actual
Under 12 months 70% 66%
12 months and within 24 months 35% 3%
24 months and within 5 years 35% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 75% 1%
10 years and within 20 years 100% 12%
20 years and above 100% 18%

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of borrowing
is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. The upper limit for
loans maturing in under 12 months is relatively high as short term funding is currently
considerably cheaper than alternatives. The increased margin applied to PWLB rates
and the reduction in Base rates in March 2020 has increased the differences between
long term certainty of interest costs and short term borrowing costs. This allows the
Council to take full advantage the maximum that could be taken as short term
borrowing was increased to 70% when setting the Treasury Management Strategy in
February 2021.

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days: The purpose of this
indicator is to control the Authority’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking
early repayment of its investments. The limits on the total principal sum invested to
final maturities beyond the period end will be:

Price Risk Indicator 2019/20 2020/21  2021/22

Limit on principal invested

beyond year end £25m £15m | £10m

Actual amounts committed

beyond year end £0m £0m £0m

32|Page



Page 249

Annex A: Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position

31/03/20 31/03/20
Actual Average Rate for
Portfolio the year
£m %

External Borrowing :
PWLB*- Fixed Rate 65 4.26%
Local Authorities 117 0.90%
LOBO Loans * 17 4.63%
Other 2 -
Total External Borrowing 201 2.79%
Other Long Term Liabilities:
PFI 22 -
Finance Leases 2 -
Total Gross External Debt 225
Investments:
Managed in-house
Short-term investments:

Instant Access 27 0.37%
Managed externally
Property Fund 8 4.62%
Other Managed Funds 12 3.66%
Total Investments 47 2.12%
Net Debt 178 -

*

The Authority inherited the majority of the external loans from Cheshire County Council in April
2009. The opening balance sheet position as at 15 April 2009 included PWLB loans totaling

£120m and LOBO loans of £17m.

33|Page



Page 250

Appendix 3

Investment Strategy Annual Report
2019/20

34|Page



1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.2

Page 251

Purpose

The Investment Strategy is part of a suite of related documents, and focuses predominantly
on matters not covered by Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy.

The Authority invests its money for three broad purposes:

to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other organisations
(service investments), and

to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this is the main
purpose).

The investment strategy meets the requirements of the statutory guidance issued by MHCLG
in February 2018, and focuses on the second and third of the investment categories.

The 2017 Prudential Code includes a requirement for local authorities to provide a Capital
Strategy, a summary document approved by full Council covering capital expenditure and
financing, treasury management and non-treasury investments. The Authority’s Capital
Strategy, complying with CIPFA’s requirement, was approved by full Council on 215 February
20109.

Treasury Management Investments

The Authority typically receives its income in cash (e.g. from taxes and grants) before it pays
for its expenditure in cash (e.g. through payroll and invoices). It also holds reserves for future
expenditure and collects local taxes on behalf of central government. These activities, plus
the timing of borrowing decisions, lead to a cash surplus which is invested in accordance
with guidance from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. The balance
of treasury management investments fluctuated between £10m and £63m during the
2019/20 financial year.

Full details of the treasury activities for 2019/20 are covered in the Treasury Management
Report (Appendix 2).

Service Investment Loans

Loans have been provided to Everybody Sport & Recreation for the purpose of investing in
new equipment, with the aim of increasing the usage of leisure centres and improving the
health of residents.

In March 2013, Astra Zeneca announced it was relocating its R&D function from Alderley
Park to Cambridge. In order to retain the expertise in the region and to stimulate local
economic growth the Council has invested in Alderley Park Holdings Ltd by way of equity
investment and loans.

35|Page



3.3

3.4

3.5

4.1

4.2

Page 252

In addition, the Council has committed to investing £5m (and invested £3.6m as at 31 March
2020) in the Greater Manchester & Cheshire Life Science Fund, a venture capital fund
investing in a range of life science businesses. Partners in the Fund include the Greater
Manchester Combined Authority, Cheshire & Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership and
Alderley Park Ltd. The Fund has a regional focus and seeks to target companies looking to
re-locate a material part of their business within the Greater Manchester and Cheshire and
Warrington areas, which includes Alderley Park where the Fund is based.

The value of outstanding loans to each category of borrower compared to the upper limits
are as follows:

Table 1: Loans for service purposes in £°000

Category of 31/03/19 As at 31/03/20 2019/20
borrower Actual

Balance Loss Net Approved

owing | allowance | figurein Limit

accounts

Subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 1,800
Suppliers 24 24 1 23 100
Local businesses 4,679 5,087 61 5,026 10,000
Local charities 679 601 44 557 2,000
TOTAL 5,382 5,712 106 5,606 13,900

Accounting standards require the Authority to set aside loss allowance for loans, reflecting
the likelihood of non-payment. The figures for loans in the Authority’s statement of accounts
are shown net of this loss allowance. However, the Authority makes every reasonable effort
to collect the full sum lent and has appropriate credit control arrangements in place to recover
overdue repayments.

Service Investments: Shares

The Authority has invested in Alderley Park Holdings Limited in order to maintain and
stimulate the key strategic industry of life sciences within the Borough. Cheshire East is a
10% shareholder in Alderley Park, and has invested in the development of the site along with
Bruntwood (51% shareholder) and Manchester Science Partnerships (MSP; 39%
shareholder). As part of the arrangement, the Council also invested in MSP, taking a 3%
equity stake for £0.7m. These shares were sold to Bruntwood in September 2019 for £2.4m.

The Council also has shares in its subsidiary, wholly owned companies. However they are
of nominal value, and consequently whilst the turnover of the group of companies is
significant (E60m in aggregate) the share values are not considered material in the context
of this Investment Strategy.

36|Page



Page 253

4.3 The value of each category of shares compared to purchase costs and upper limits are as
follows:

Table 2: Shares held for service purposes in £°000

Category of  31/03/ As at 31/03/2020 2019/20
company 2019
actual

Amounts Gains or Valuein  Approved Limit

invested losses accounts (cost of
investment)
Local 5,952 1,070 2,040 3,110 5,000
Businesses
TOTAL 5,952 1,070 2,040 3,110 5,000
5. Commercial Investments: Property

5.1 Note that MHCLG defines property to be an investment if it is held primarily or partially to
generate a profit.

5.2 On 2™ April 2019 the Council purchased land and buildings on the North and East side of
Weston road in Crewe for £21m.

Table 3: Property held for investment purposes in £'000

Property Actual 31/03/20 actual 31/03/21 expected 2019/20
Purchase Gains Valuein Gainsor Valuein Apprqval
Limit
cost or accounts (losses) accounts
(losses) (includes
in-year gains/
(losses)
to date
Industrial 907 522 1,965 0 1,965
Units
Enterprise 770 (947) 350 0 350
Centres
Retail 23,350 (500) 24,870 0 24,870
Residential 600 (435) 240 0 240
Total 25,627 | (1,360) 27,425 0 27,425 32,100

37|Page



6.1

6.2

7.1

8.1

Page 254

Commercial Investments: Loans

In considering commercial investment opportunities, the Council will adopt a prudent
approach, with two underlying objectives:

e Security — protecting the capital sum invested from loss

e Liquidity — ensuring the funds invested are available when needed

Consideration is being given to a loan to Cheshire & Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership
linked to developments within the Business Rates Enterprise Zone. This is likely to go ahead
in 2020/21.

Category of borrower 2019/20 2019/20

Value in Approved Limit

Accounts

Partner Organisations 0 30,000

Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees

As Accountable Body for the Cheshire & Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership, the
Council acts as Entrusted Entity to a £20m European Regional Development Fund (ERDF)
supported Urban Development Fund which is due to commence in 2020/21. The Council, as
contracting party, provides guarantees in respect of the amounts provided through ERDF.

Proportionality

The Authority is only partially dependent on profit generating investment activity to achieve
a balanced revenue budget, in respect of Place services. Table 4 below shows the extent to
which the expenditure planned to meet the service delivery objectives and/or place making
role of the Authority is dependent on achieving the expected net profit from investments over
the lifecycle of the Medium Term Financial Plan. Should it fail to achieve the expected net
profit, the Authority’s contingency plans for continuing to provide these services include
effective budget management and tight cost control.

38|Page



9.1

10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

Page 255

Table 4: Proportionality of Investments in £°000

2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Budget Actual Budget Budget
Gross 76,924 73,120 73,137 78,216 80,516
service
expenditure
- Directorate
Level
Investment (1,787) | (2,236) | (1,785)| (2,486) | (2,486)
income
Proportion 2% 3% 2.5% 3% 3%

NB: The proportion is the investment income divided by the gross service expenditure

Borrowing in Advance of Need

Government guidance is that local authorities must not borrow more than or in advance of
their needs purely in order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. The
Authority follows this guidance.

Capacity, Skills and Culture

The Authority has established an Investment Strategy Board comprised of members,
supported by officers and where necessary, external advisors, and acts on recommendations
from officers that consider opportunities to enhance the Revenue & Capital Budgets of the
Council through strategic investments, whether that involves using capital/cash resources or
borrowing and lending powers. The Board meets when there is a need to consider potential
investments.

The Board is made up of the following individuals:

e The Leader of the Council (Chair)
e Portfolio Holder for Finance, ICT & Communication

e Portfolio Holder for Environment & Regeneration

Support is provided by:

e Executive Director Corporate Services
e S151 Officer

e Monitoring Officer

e Executive Director Place

o Director of Growth and Enterprise

39|Page



11

111

11.2

11.3

114

Page 256

Investment Indicators

The Authority has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members and the
public to assess the Authority’s total risk exposure as a result of its investment decisions.

Total risk exposure: The first indicator shows the Authority’s total exposure to potential
investment losses. This includes amounts the Authority is contractually committed to lend
but have yet to be drawn down and guarantees the Authority has issued over third party
loans

Table 5: Total investment exposure in £°000

Total investment exposure

31/03/20
Forecast

31/03/20
Actual

31/03/21
Forecast

Treasury management 20,000 47,000 20,000
investments

Service investments: Loans 5,689 5,712 5,611
Service investments: Shares 3,880 3,110 5,000
Commercial investments: 28,785 27,425 32,000
Property

Commercial Investments : 0 0 30,000
Loans

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 58,354 83,247 92,611
Commitments to lend 1,484 1,484 1,484
TOTAL EXPOSURE 59,838 84,731 91,127

How investments are funded: Currently the Authority’s investments are funded by usable
reserves and income received in advance of expenditure.

However in 2020/21 there is a possibility if the Authority decides to increase its investments
in commercial properties and loans that they may require funding from borrowing.

40|Page



115

116

Page 257

Table 6: Investments funded by borrowing in £°000

Investments funded by 31/03/19 @ 31/03/20 31/03/21
borrowing Actual Actual Forecast
Treasury management 0 0 0
investments

Service investments: Loans 0 0 0
Service investments: Shares 0 0 0
Commercial investments: 0 0 32,000
Property

Commercial Investments : 0 0 30,000
Loans

TOTAL FUNDED BY 0 0 62,000
BORROWING

Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment income received less the
associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where appropriate, as a proportion of the
sum initially invested. Note that due to the complex local government accounting framework,
not all recorded gains and losses affect the revenue account in the year they are incurred.
The effect of COVID-19 on financial markets in March 2020 was significant and the valuation
of investments was negatively impacted. These valuations can be volatile and the
expectation is that these will recover in 2020/21 and beyond.

Table 7: Investment rate of return (net of all costs)

Investments net rate of 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

return Actual Actual Forecast
Treasury management 1.75% 2.12% 2.80%
investments

Service investments: Loans 2.52% | -12.59% 0.48%

Service investments: Shares 107.67% | -26.25% 0.00%

Commercial investments: 6.66% 6.66% 6.66%
Property

The negative return for service loans reflects the revaluation of the GM & Cheshire Life
Sciences Fund and although shares in MSP were sold following gains in 2019/20 and earlier
years, the revaluation of the Alderley Park shares based on the Balance Sheet value has
resulted in a negative return for shares. However, the valuation is still higher than the original
purchase cost.

41 |[Page



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 259

Agenda Item 13

Schedule of Urgent Decisions

Urgent decisions made following Member consultation

Date Summary of decision Decision Members, | Status

on behalf MO/S151
of consulted/
content?

14 05 20 | Allocation of chairs and vice chairs to Council Yes Decision
Environment & Regeneration and Children made and
and Families Overview and Scrutiny Members
Committees, Staffing Committee, and notified
Licensing Committee, and a change to
political proportionalities.

26 05 20 | Covid-19 Discretionary Grant Fund: Council Yes Decision
approval of supplementary revenue made and
estimate of funds made available from Members
Government, to make payments to notified
businesses in the sum of £4,287,250.

Delegation of the design and
implementation of a policy and scheme for
the distribution of funds.

08 06 20 | Approval of supplementary revenue Council Yes Decision
estimate of £5.32m relating to the Covid-19 made and
Infection Prevention Fund for Local Members
Authorities’ allocation for Cheshire East notified
Council. Authorisation of the distribution of
the first 75% of the Grant to eligible care
home providers in the Cheshire East
Borough in accordance with the DoHSC
Grant conditions.

Delegated authority to utilise the 25%
balance of the Grant to support the wider
care market with Infection Control
measures.

02 07 20 | Authorisation to the Chief Executive, Council/ Yes Decision
subject to having first taken the advice | Cabinet made and
of the Council’s Monitoring Officer, and M(ir;jbders

notifie

its Chief Financial Officer, to:

(1) approve any supplementary revenue
or capital estimate, necessary in
order to accept, administer and
distribute any funding from
Government, or bodies acting on
behalf of government, relating to the
Covid-19 emergency;

(2) to take any related steps; and

(3) to invoke the Covid-19 Outbreak
Management Plan;

OFFICIAL




Page 260

provided that all Members notified.

10 07 20 | The appointment of David Brown as the | Council Yes Decision
Director of Governance and Compliance made and
(and Monitoring Officer), on an inclusive Members
salary of £95,518 per annum, be notified
approved.
22 07 20 | The appointment of Asif Ibrahim as Interim | Council Yes Decision
Director of Governance and Compliance made and
(and Monitoring Officer) Members
notified
22 07 20 | Creation of a Cheshire East COVID-19 | Cabinet Yes Decision
Health Protection Board and a Cheshire made and
East Local Outbreak Engagement Members
Board, with the terms of reference set notified
out in the appendix to the decision-
record.
24 07 20 | Delegated authority to the Executive Cabinet Yes Decision
Director — Place, in consultation with the made and
Leader and Deputy, to develop and Members
agree a policy and procedures for the notified.
issuing of pavement licences to
businesses.
30 07 20 | Approval, until 32st October 2020, of Council Yes Decision
the continuing absence of Members as made and
a consequence of the Covid-19 Members
pandemic, who would otherwise cease notified
to be Members.
03 08 20 | The change of the terms of reference of | Council Yes Decision
the Health and Wellbeing Board made and
Members
notified.

Urgent decisions made by the Chief Executive relating to Covid-19 funding etc under
general delegation dated 2" July 2020

£750,000 Town Fund
allocation for Crewe; agree a
Supplementary Capital
Estimate; expenditure
delegated to the Executive
Director-Place, subject to him
first consulting the Portfolio
Holder for Environment and
Regeneration.

Date Summary of decision MO/S151 | Status
consulted
07 07 20 | Acceptance of the offer of the | Yes Decision made and all

Members notified on 08 07 20

OFFICIAL




Page 261

08 07 20 | Test and Trace: Yes Decision made and alll
Acceptance of the Council’s Members notified on 08 07 20
allocated grant of £1.53m. Further clarification provided to

all Members on 10" July 2020
that the previous reference to
the Portfolio Holder for Health
and Adult Social care had been
corrected.

Authorisation of a
Supplementary Revenue
Estimate, for the 2020/21
Financial Year, of £1.53m.
Authorisation of the Executive
Director-People, in
consultation with the Portfolio
Holder for Public Health and
Corporate Services, to
distribute the grant in
accordance with the
conditions which have been
attached to it.

OFFICIAL




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Covid-19 - Update on Response and Recovery
	Covid Report - app 1
	Covid Report - app 2

	7 Brooks Lane (Middlewich) Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document
	Brooks Lane - app 1
	Brooks Lane - app 2
	Appendix 2 BLDF SPD final draft
	Brooks Lane Front Cover

	Back Cover Web


	8 Digital Cheshire
	Digital Cheshire - appendix
	ADPFAEA.tmp
	1. Appendix A
	2. Appendix B
	3. Appendix C



	9 Regional Adoption Agency - Adoption Counts
	10 Proposed Expansion of Wilmslow High School - Authority to Enter into a Construction Contract
	Wilmslow High School - appendix

	11 Microsoft Licence Agreements
	Microsoft Licence Agreement - appendix

	12 Capital, Investment and Treasury Management Strategies Annual Review 2019/20
	Capital Investment and Treasury Management Strategies Annual Review 2019-20 - apps 1-3

	13 Schedule of Urgent Decisions taken on behalf of Cabinet and Council



